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Hearing Before the United
States Commission on Civil
Rights

Enforcement of the Indian
Civil Rights Act

Washington, D.C., January 28, 1988

Proceedings

Morning Session

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. | have an opening statement to read, and I
would just indicate that my colleagues may have opening statements they
would like to make. We will allow time for that, and then we will move to
our first panel.

Good morning. This hearing is now convened. 1 am Clarence M.
Pendleton, Jr., Chairman of the United States Commission on Civil Rights.

With me today are Commissioners Robert Destro and William Allen,
Acting Staff Director Susan Prado, General Counsel William Howard,
Deputy General Counsel Brian Miller, and Attorney Susan Muskett.

The purpose of this hearing is to examine the enforcement of the Indian
Civil Rights Act [ICRA] of 1968 in the wake of the Supreme Court’s 1978
decision in Santa Clara Pueblo v. Martinez. The Court there held that, with
the exception of the writ of habeas corpus, provisions of the ICRA were
enforceable only in tribal forums and no longer enforceable, as had been
the case since the ICRA’s enactment, in Federal courts.

This subcommittee has held field hearings in South Dakota and Arizona.
The South Dakota hearing, which took place in the summer of 1986,
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focused on ICRA enforcement by the Cheyenne River, Rosebud, and Pine
Ridge Sioux Tribes. The Arizona hearing, which took place last August,
Tocused on ICRA enforcement by the Zuni Pueblo and Navajo.

The Commission’s emphasis in these hearings has been to find facts. Thi:
is our emphasis again today.

We have previously heard testimony from tribal judges, council
members, Indian law scholars, private attorneys, lay advocates, Lcgal
Services attorneys, and most importantly, from individual Indians whose
ICRA rights had been violated by tribal governments. The testimony from
these individuals was especially important to us because their rights, the
civil rights of the individual American Indians vis-a-vis their tribal
governments, are what the ICRA is all about.

Although the Commission has not examined every tribe in the Nation,
we are in the midst of gathering information from them and will then be in
a better position to speak generally of ICRA enforcement subsequent to
Martinez. In the South Dakota and Arizona hearings, however, it is fair to
say that we heard testimony about some ICRA enforcement problems.
Those problems may be divided into two groups. For want of better
language, 1 will refer to them as particular problems and systemic
problems.

By particular problems, I refer to testimony that a tribal prosecutor had
been fired or suspended eight times by the council over disagreements with
her actions at Cheyenne River; inadequate recordkeeping by tribal courts
at Cheyenne River, Rosebud, Pine Ridge, and Zuni Pueblo; inadequate
funding of tribal courts—a problem augmented by virtue of the fact that
BIA [Bureau of Indian Affairs] funding of tribal courts is not direct but
rather passes through tribal councils.

I am also referring to particular problems like verbal search warrants at
Cheyenne River, inability to afford counsel in criminal prosecutions, and
judges without law degrees. Of the 300 or so tribal judges in the country,
according to recent testimony by the Tribal Judges Association, about 20
have law degrees. In addition, by particular problems I refer to a lack of
public defenders and ex parte hearings, about which we heard a great deal
in South Dakota.

But we also found systemic problems. Systemic problems are more
serious than particular problems because particular problems can be
resolved by providing tribal courts with more money and more training on
ICRA enforcement. If the systemic problems are not resolved, however,
no amount of money or training is going to help.

What do 1 mean by systemic problems? Two things: first, a lack of a
separation of powers between tribal councils and courts such that tribal
judges cannot render their decisions without fear of retaliation by the
council. This has to be resolved. Tribal judges simply cannot properly
enforce the ICRA if tribal councils choose to stand in their way.
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The second systemic problem concerns sovereign immunity. In many
cases, 1 found that tribal councils were raising the defense of sovereign
immunity to ICRA actions even where those actions were for injunctive or
declaratory relief.

Let me be clear. I favor strong and independent tribal judiciaries.
Anyone who claims that I do not is flat wrong. Read our hearing
transcripts. You will see that a major focus >f our hearings has been
interference with tribal courts by tribal counciis and the havoc that it
creates in properly enforcing the ICRA.

The governmental structures that tribes are operating under today are
not cultural or traditional governments. Rather, most tribes are operating
with tribal constitutions adopted following enactment of the Indian
Reorganization Act of 1934. These constitutions are based upon a model
constitution that placed the governing power in the tribal councils. Unlike
our Federal and State systems, tribal governments typically have not three
branches of government, but one. And unlike our Federal courts, .ribal
courts do not have their origin in a constitution but in their tribal councils.
As such, they sometimes operate without the necessary independence to
enforce the Indian Civil Rights Act.

Turning to sovereign immunity, let me quote excerpts from our South
Dakota transcript, specifically from the testimony of Cheyenne River
Chairman Morgan Garreau:

COMMISSION ATTORNEY. Do you believe that sovereign immunity is a bar to
Indian Civi! Rights Act claims against the tribe?

MR. GARREAU. Yes, I do. It has come to the tribal council with regard to waiver
of sovereign immunity. As I stated, I sat on the tribal council. I served as
administrative officer. At no time during those years, [ believe from 1979 to the
present, has the tribal council ever waived sovereign immunity for anyone, for any
case or cause at all.

COMMISSION ATTORNEY. So what that means is you are saying that the Indian
Civil Rights Act is unenforceable as against the tribe?

MR. GARREAU. Unless the council waives sovereign immunity.
CoMMISSION ATTORNEY. Which it hasn't done.

MR. GARReAU. No, they have not, for anyone.

COMMISSION ATTORNEY. And you don't believe they should?

MR. GARREAU. As it has been stated in tribal council, sovereign immunity is
something that should zealously be protected by the tribal government, and that's
been the case, that the tribal council has protected that and has not waived
sovereign immunity.

COMMISSION ATTORNEY. It is possible, Mr. Garreau, if 1 could add, that you
could waive your sovereign immunity with respect to equitable relief.
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MR. GARREAU. | realize that.
CommissSiON ATTORNEY. Have you considered doing that?

MR. GARREAU. | realize that, and it's been stated to the tribal council, but the
council will not waive sovereign immunity.

CoMMISSION ATTORNEY. Even though their greater fear is money damages?

MR. GARREAU. Basically, what has been discussed is if the tribal council should
waive sovereign immunity for any instance, that other people, other members of
the tribe, could come 1o the council requesting that sovereign immunity be waived
at that time. And apparently council feels that by waiving it once. they would
probably feel obligated to waive it again.

The concern expressed during our hearings was that were tribal councils
to waive their sovereign immunity to ICRA claims by individual Indians,
they would risk depletion of tribal treasuries. I ~m sensitive to that
reasoning, but it simply does not apply to situations where plaintiffs seek
injunctive or declaratory relief.

President Reagan's Indian policy of January 1983 roundly endorses
Indian self-determination. So do 1. However, the question is one of
balancing the right of tribal governments to conduct their internal affairs
and the rights of their individual members, vis-a-vis their governments, set
forth in the Indian Civil Rights Act. If those rights are not being observed
by tribal courts, then I think it entirely appropriate that another forum be
available to tribal members to seek redress. I refer, of course, to Federal
court review following exhaustion of tribal remedies.

The Supreme Court’s assumption in Martinez was that, and I quote,
*“Tribal forums are available to vindicate rights created by the ICRA,”
which law, the Court further stated, “‘has the substantial and intended
effect of changing the law which these forums are obligated to apply.”

Very simply, the question before the Commission is whether, 10 years
after Martinez, the Court’s assumption is true. Are, in fact, tribal forums
available for enforcement of the ICRA? If not, as the Court in Martinez
also stated, and I quote: “‘Congress retains authority expressly to authorize
civil actions for injunctive or other relief to redress violations of [the
ICRA)] in the event that the tribes themselves prove deficient in applying
and enforcing its substantive provisions.” All governments must recognize
the civil rights of their people. Tribal governments are no exception.

One last point about Martinez concerns foutnote 22. That footnote states
basically that persons aggrieved by tribal laws may be able to seek relief
from the Department of the Interior, if the tribe’s constitution requires
Secretarial approval of tribal ordinances. In those cases, the Secretary
could withhold approval pending resolution of the ICRA claim.

The Court’s recognition that the Department of Interior has this
discretion is part of the reason we have invited you here today. We want to
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find out how you exercise that discretion. But we have also requested
testimony from the BIA because it serv s as the Federal liaison to Indian
tribes, providing to Indians, under the United States trust responsibility,
everything from education and housing to health care, judicial services,
and law enforcement. It is, therefore, appropriate that we elicit your
testimony about ICRA enforcement and the condition of tribal courts.

Finally, let me speak about some recent developments on Capitol Hill.

Last Friday the Senate Select Committee on Indian Affairs held a 1-day
hearing on tribal court enforcement of the ICRA. I can say that the
hearing took me by surprise. It took a lot of people by surprise. And I was
a bit chagrined that this Commission was not invited to testify.

A few months ago I told the Chairman of the Select Committee that in
20 years Congress had never held an oversight hearing on ICRA
enforcement—20 years—and yet the hearing that was held last Friday was
thrown together, we are led to believe, in less than 10 days.

Was it a good hearing? The accounts I have received indicate that only
one point of view was represented, namely, that tribal courts are doing
about as well as State and Federal courts but could use a lot more money
for training and facilities.

Was testimony received from Indians claiming their ICRA rights had
been abridged? No. And that, | say, is very unfortunate. Martinez, again,
states that if tribal forums are not enforcing the ICRA, Congress has the
power to fashion additional remedies. Surely, that determination requires
that Congress hear from Indians who claim that their rights are not being
protected.

That is not to say that we will not take the point of view expressed on
Capitol Hill last Friday and make it a part of our deliberations. We will do
so, and I look forward to the receipt of the committee’s hearing transcript.

Before receiving Mr. Swimmer's testimony, let me make one announce-
ment. At the conclusion of this session, there will be an open session. The
purpose of that session is to receive testimony from individual witnesses
wishing to make statements relevant to the subject matter of this hearing.
If anyone in this room wishes to speak during the open session, please give
your name to our clerk. The reccrd of this hearing will be held open for at
lea<t ) days, perhaps longer, to allow us to go through the matenial we
have received at a later date.

Let me also say that our procedure here is that, following your
testimony, the initial round of questions will come from Commission staff¥,
and then Commissioners will join in.

Do my colleagues have any statements?

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. I'll reserve my time for the close, Mr. Chair-
man.

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. | do, Mr. Chairman.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Mr. Destro.



CoMMISSIONER DESTRO. | want to take this opportunity to thank all the
witnesses who are going to come today and testify before us, and 1 want to
set out a shghily different position, as we start, from that of the Chairman.

To my mind. these hearings or the continuation of this hearing first
from South Dakota and then Arizona and now here to Washington, brings
this issue back to where it really started. It seems to me we are dealing
with a civil rights issue of the highest magnitude, and it is relevant that we
wind up this hearing here in Washington because Washington has been
integrally involved in the making and enforcement of policy regarding the
American Indian from the very beginning. United States policy has ranged
from overt racism to overt neglect to overt paternalism.

It's no accident that there are problems on reservations and that those
problems are well documented. It is also no surprise that American society
is in many respects still prejudiced against individual Indians. And the
responsibility for that, I think, rests in part with the Federal Government.
It began with Indian policy in the West from Kit Carson’s relocation
marches and extends in unbroken fashion to today's unclear policies with
respect to American Indians.

So it seems to me that there are several issues that we are dealing with in
this hearing. One is the rights of individual Indians, as individuals first and
as citizens of the United States second. The seconl issue is the duty of
tribes as sovereigns to individual Indians who live on the reservation and
off. And. thirdly, the duties of Congress to both the tribes and to individual
members of those tribes.

The focus today is on the Bureau of Indian Affairs as Congress' chief
instrumentality for carrying out Federal policy in Indiar country.

To my mind, the issue is not Martinez at all, for I am not prepared to
conclude that the Court’s ruling is the problem itself, but rather I see
Martinez as perhaps a symptom of the Federal Government's unclear
policy regarding law in Indian country.

It seems to me, once again, to repeat, that the problems are multifaceted:
the need of Indians to be treated as full citizens of this nation, both by their
tribes and by the Federal Government; second, the value of Indian culture
as an ancient and wonderful thing in and of its own right, which is
inherently related to the issue of Indian self-government; the duty of tribal
government to tribal members under both customary law and Federal law;
and the duty of Congress with respect to all these issues.

Martinez clearly recognized that the Congress has plenary powers to
make law in Indian country, and it seems to me that when this hearing is
over and the Commission is finally ready to debate its recommendations,
the focus ought not to be so much on the foibles of Indian tribal courts as it
is on Congress’ responsibility to take steps to exercise its plenary power
and be sensitive not only to the rights of inuividual Indians but also to
tribal autonomy.

6



That may or may not necessitate making recommendations with respedt
to Martinez. It seems to me that that is an issue that the Commission needs
to discuss. Nevertheless, it would be premature to say that Federal court
review is the answer. [t seems 10 me there are many possible answers, and
we would appreciate and do appreciate hearing from the witnesses today
with respect to what some of those answers might be.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Thank you, Commissioner Destro, for those
timely remarks to let the public know we want to discuss this matter
Though we are constrained in some respects, we have to conader all
aspects of how Indians are treated in this country.

[ will now turn to Mr. Swimmer, the Assistant Secretary for Indian
AfTairs, and his colleagues Mr. Thomas, Mr. Little, and Mr. Johnson |
would ask you all to stand and be sworn.

[Ross O. Swimmer, Roland Johnson, Joe Little, and James J  Thomas
were sworn.]

CHAIRMAN PENDILETON. Mr. Swimmer, it's your turn.

TESTIMONY OF ROSS O. SWIMMER, ASSISTANT SECRETARY
FOR INDIAN AFFAIRS; SCOTT KEEP, ASSISTANT SOLICITOR
FOR TRIBAL GOVERNMENT; DEPARTMENT OF THE
INTERIOR; ROLAND JOHNSON, CHIEF, DIVISION OF TRIBAL
GOVERNMENT OPERATIONS; JOE LITTLE, CHIEF, JUDICIAL
SERVICES BRANCH AND ACTING CHIEF, TRIBAL RELATIONS
BRANCH; AND JAMES J. THOMAS, ACTING CHIFEF, DIVISION
OF SELF-DETERMINATION; BUREAU OF INDIAN AFFAIRS,
DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR

MR. SWIMMER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. And let me add that Mr.
Keep from the Solicitor’s Office has been delayed a little bit this morning
but is due in a few minutes and he will join us at the table at that ume

I appreciate this opportunity of appearing before the Commission. 1 have
heard of the Commission’s activities from both Indians, from tribal
government, and assorted folks around Indian country, and I believe that it
is timely that the question be taken up and that we decide what is 10 he
done, needs to be done, and can be done regarding the issue of civil nghts
in Indian country, particularly regarding the Indian Civil Rights Act.

I agree with the Chairman’s concerns, those of the Commission, and n
my brief conversations with the staff I agree that we have some problems,
that there are problems on the reservations; there are problems with the
way in which the Indian Civil Rights Act is being interpreted. in some
cases enforced, and with the mechanisms available to both Indian people
and tribal people and to the Federal Government.

I would like to say, however, that this perhaps is a symptom of some
other problems throughout Indian country, and a symptom of problems
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that the Federal Government and, you've mentioned it so eloguently,
Congress has in dealing with Indian tribes and tribal governments.

We have a long and varied history. The Bureau of Indian Affairs began
its work in the War Department, and its job was to settle Indians on the
reservation, avoid integration with the general population, secure their
property and their person away from the general population of this
country, and to secure the non-Indian population away from the Indian
population. We have come a long way since those days in some respects.

We have had policies that at the turn of the century suggested that
simply turning over the resources of Indian tribes to individual Indian
people would eliminate the need for tribal government, would put all
Indian people on a par with non-Indian people, and that the allotment of
land would basically solve whatever was perceived to be the Indian
problem of the 19th century. Various commissions studied that 20 or 25
years after that was the policy and found that what had happened was
there was an enormous loss of property by the Indian people. The
reservations had shrunk. Non-Indians had moved onto the reservations
taking over the surplus land, and Indian people were generally living in
conditions that were not tolerable.

So what to do about it?

In 1934 an act of C:ngress was passed that suggested Indian people
needed some kind of protection, once again, from their non-Indian
neighbors and from the systems of the Federal Government and State
governments. The idea was brought forth that we should retribalize, and a
provision called the Indian Reorganization Act was adopted throughout
Indian country. And later in a couple of States, like Oklahoma in 1936, the
Oklahoma Indian Welfare Act was passed which permitted tribes to
reorganize under the same conditions as other tribes in the *34 act.

That was going to solve all of the problems of Indian people because
now they would have a representative government that would take care of
their needs and be an interface between State government and the Federal
Government. Once again the policy was revisited in the fifties, and it was
found to be a failure. It was found that, in fact, many of the tribes did not
adopt this new form of government readily, that many of them put it on
paper but didn’t institute it as far as the actual operations out there in
Indian country, and they continued a form of cultural and custom-type
governments that are varied across the board, and that while they had
legal governments under the ‘34 act, many of them operated a dual system
of government, and in fact today some still do.

They found that those governments were not particularly effective at
that interface between State and Federal Government and many of them
didn’t feel they had the authority that they needed to make things happen
on the reservation. And due to the enormous loss of land and the non-
Indian population that had moved in close by, taking most of the resources



that were available on those reservations for their use and leaving the
Indian folks very little in terms of valuable resources, there wasn't a great
deal that could be expected, at least at that time.

And again the thinking turned toward the concept of termination, or if
we eliminate tribal governments, if we again turn over the assets that had
been accumulated to nonprofit organizations or quasi-public corporations,
the Indian people would rise to the occasion and most would survive and
do much better in what had become a very non-Indian world around them,
and things would be all right.

We pursued that policy in this government through the mid-sixties, and
another commission went out and studied that policy and found that it had
failed. They found conditions similar to those prior to 1934. They found
that those tribes that voluntarily terminated themselves once again came
up short on resources. They were being denied the opportunity to apply
for Federal funding that had come into being through the Johnson and
Kennedy administrations; they were cut off more or less from the Federal
Government; and they were finding themselves in what they perceived to
be a much worse condition than those tribes that had not been terminated.
So the policy once again changed.

The policy of self-determination, as it grew to be known in the sixties
and early eighties, is essentially the policy that we are following today, and
history will prove whether or not that is going to work.

I believe that the Congress of the United States and this administration
and the previous two or three administrations have pinned their hopes on
tribal government. I also believe that there is little understanding from the
Congress as to what tribal government is really all about. I am not sure that
they really know what tribal self-determination, tribal sovereignty, tribal
government really implies, and that they, as well as we, are hopeful that by
saying those words something good will happen.

On the other hand, I can assure you that this administration has taken
those words literally. I, for one, believe that we must pursue a policy of
strqng tribal government and give it a chance to work, and see if another
level of government besides the State and Federal and local is appropriate
and will work if given the chance, and can survive in this world as we
know it today and be an effective means of not only representing the rights
of the people, protecting the resources that are left on the reservations or
that form parts of Indian country, but also grow and develop to be a
competitive government within the system of government as we know it
today.

If we do not give tribal government the chance, we must admit to
ourselves that the alternative is no tribal government, or at least not
recognition of tribal government as sovereign, and secure the rights, the
property of the Indian people through some other means. I don't think it
gives us much choice, and I'm banking on tribal government, although 1
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will admit to you there are days when I wonder if that is the right policy.
We have our share of 310 Indian tribes in the lower 48 and over 200 in
Alaska, all with varying degrees of sovereignty, because the United States
Government through Congress does have plenary power and has, in fact,
taken away some sovereignty of some tribes in different degrees.

But we have all of these tribes operating at different levels of
sovereignty, different levels of responsibility, and different levels of
governmental competence, quite frankly. And they are not all at the same
level of competency any more than they are at the same level of
sovereignty. That is something that must be understood by Congress—and
they don't. There are tribes that can do some things such as tribal courts.
Yet, there are tribes that have no authority to bring any Indian person into
a court. Yet, how do we adjudicate election disputes if a tribe has no court?
There is some belief that that then becomes the responsibility of the
Federal Government.

Well, at what point do we go in, then, and adjudicate a tribal election
dispute where there is no tribal court? Or, suppose there is no tribal court
on a temporary basis and yet they have the authority for a tribal court.
What is our position? Do we go in and make up the failure of the tribal
court?

Those are questions that come up every day.

{Mr. Scott Keep entered the hearing room.]

MR. SWIMMER. My colleague, Mr. Keep, from the Solicitor’s Office has
joined us.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Welcome, sir.

MR. KEEP. | apologize for being late, Mr. Chairman.

MR. SWIMMER. Let me say on a few points the Chairman mentioned, not
to digress too much from the statement—first of all, to repeat myself, yes,
this administration believes that tribal government must be given a chance.

Tribal government, in enforcing the Indian Civil Rights Act, has been
told both in the Martinez case, in the act itself, and in various publications
that we have put out, that the enforcement of the Indian Civil Rights Act
is between the Indian tribe and the Indian people.

We recognize that if that enforcement is going to be fair and
understandable, there must be a mechanism on that reservation or within
that tribal government to do that enforcement.

I wholeheartedly endorse the concept of separation of power. 1 do not
believe that sovereign immunity is applicable to a civil rights action against
a tribal government. I do agree that Congress can make a decision here and
do something, if it is needed, to address those two issues.

I believe that strong tribal government can only happen with a strong
court system, with strong tribal councils that are educated, that have the
capability of keeping their books and administering justice.
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We in the Bureau of Indian Affairs have provided the monies to do that.
Under our system, however—and again deferring to the tribal sovereign
concept—we believe that it is very important that tribal government make
those basic funding decisions. The court monies that go out to reseivations
that are using Federal monies to have tribal courts have a choice about that
money, and some of them choose to spend the money in other places
instead of on their tribal courts. That is a tribal governmental action, and
we believe that they must make that decision.

I believe that, yes, if you don’t have a separation of power, you must
have some kind of appellate review so that an independent judiciary can
hear the case.

Three years ago I served on President Reagan’s Commission on
Reservation Economies. We held hearings almost in the same places you
did and I suspect heard many of the same things. We determined at that
time that if there was not a mechanism to an enforcement of Indian civil
rights, there would not be economic development on the reservation. We
considered that to be fundamental.

We made a recommendation then that appellate review—and we
suggested, for lack of anything better, that Federal appellate review should
be available to tribal courts so that Indian individuals could go beyond a
court system on the reservation and seeck redress, particularly in those
cases where the tribes have not taken the extra step of separating their
governmental powers or providing an independent appellate review.

Now, I think, after having been on the firing line for a couple of years
and seeing how that could be worked out, that I would perhaps modify
that recommendation and say that I would accept a tribal appellate review
that could be structured, perhaps, from several tribal courts forming an
appellate court, or even a reservation appellate court, as long as that tribal
appellate court had some independence from a particular tribal govern-
ment. Without it, I see that we would continue to have problems.

I also would suggest that if Federal appellate review is available, it be as
from a lower Federal court to a higher court, and that we recognize those
courts that are courts of record on Indian reservations and not go to a trial
de novo but that we go to an appeal to a circuit court or perhaps a
magistrate system or something that could be set up. I think we should
defer, in the first instance, to tribal court decisions and allow those to stand
and appeal on the record where possible.

I think these kinds of things could perhaps move us and motivate Indian
tribes that don’t have effective court systems to develop those systems.
And if they don’t develop them, at least it would provide a forum that
would be independent with enforcement of civil rights.

So with those comments, I simply would like to say once again that I
appreciate being here. We will answer questions that you might have. Our
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program people are here that deal directly with the funding of courts and
with operations to the extent that we can.

But I cannot emphasize enough that as long as Congress recognizes that
tribal government is the governing body on those reservations, and as long
as we accept that and are going to deal with tribal government as a
sovereign government within our governmental system, the primary
emphasis must be at that point for the enforcement of civil rights on those
reservations.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Thank you, Mr. Swimmer.

1 want to thank you for your candid and cogent testimony. 1 think my
colleagues and the staff appreciate that, and it will allow us to engage in
some questions without having to search through for answers or search
through for questions. I also want to thank you for bringing your staff with
you.

I would also like to say at this point we want to thank Secretary Hodel
for his cooperation in all of this. That should not go unnoticed.

1 will turn now to Deputy General Counsel Mr. Miller, and we can
begin the questioning there.

MR. MILLER. Mr. Swimmer, I'd like to begin by asking you a few
questions about the present policy of the BIA toward the enforcement of
the Indian Civil Rights Act.

I think I understand you correctly to say that you would prefer a hands-
off policy and let the tribal governments take primary responsibility for the
Indian Civil Rights Act; is that correct?

MR. SWIMMER. That is essentially correct, yes. We consider ourselves to
be in the position of offering resources, which may be money, technical
assistance, some expertise in those areas, and review of constitutions, and
with the Solicitor’s Office, helping tribes understand the legal intricacies of
tribal courts; but beyond that, once we have delivered those resources, it is
a tribal government decision.

MR. MILLER. There have been some recommendations that the BIA take
a greater role in the enforcement of the Indian Civil Rights Act. How do
you feel about those?

MR. SWIMMER. My personal opinion is that we should not become
involved. First of all, we don’t believe we have the mechanism to become
involved. We would not recommend the Bureau of Indian Affairs be—and
I may be stretching your question—any kind of policeman directly for civil
rights violations. I think that is an appropriate area for Congress to look at.
If they chose for us to play such a role, I would expect them to give us that
direction. We don’t believe we have that role.

MR. MILLER. I take it from those comments that you would prefer not
to have that role, too; is that correct?
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MR. SWIMMER. Yes. If I could just elaborate on that for a second
because in a recent hearing with the Secretary and myself, we suggested
that, in fact, the role of the Bureau of Indian Affairs has outlived its
usefulness on the reservation. We feel that it is time that, if tribal
government is really going to be the force out there, we have to get out of
the way. Our policy of self-determination means more and more responsi-
bility and more and more authority being given to tribes with less
oversight, if you will, and less structuring from the Bureau of Indian
Affairs, and that we should pull back rather than become more involved in
day-to-day decisionmaking and let the other processes, whether they be
Congress or tribal government or the Federal courts, come in and set up
the mechanism; that we would not be an effective force, especially as we
are trying to implement a policy of reducing the impact of the BIA on
tribal decisionmaking.

MR. MILLER. Chairman Pendleton mentioned the famous footnote 22 of
the Martinez decision that alluded to an avenue of relief through the
Department of the Interior. What is your construction of that footnote,
and what has the BIA done to act upon that comment?

MR. SWIMMER. As I understand the implication of that footnote, it is
that in certain cases where tribal government has been organized, and
given certain responsibility to the Federal Government to approve
decisions, that that extends to the ability of the Bureau of Indian Affairs,
for instance, to enforce sanctions against tribal government as well.

Again, our thinking on that is that if we could use that footnote, we
probably could. There are instances where, if civil rights violations have
occurred, we have them adjudicated, we know they are occurring out
there, we could perhaps go in and pull a grant back from that tribe or
enforce some other sanction on the tribe.

However, again we are faced with the proposition that it is our opinion
that those kinds of interferences, if you will, by the BIA should be
eliminated. We are working to remove that ability of the BIA to go in and
do that. We prefer now that constitutions be adopted that do not require
approval of the Bureau of Indian Affairs to take certain actions, because it
again implicates the colonialist-type policy—that we are going to oversee,
we are going to continue running those tribes indirectly. And as long as
they believe we are doing that, we are giving both the people on the
reservation and the tribal governments the wrong impression, if that is our
policy.

And that is what our policy has been, that we want to remove ourselves
from day-to-day tribal decisionmaking. And it is not really appropriate that
they put into their constitutions that the Bureau of Indian Affairs is going
to approve this contract or that contract or whatever they’re going to do,
because that really shifts the burden of governance back to the BIA.
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My point is that even if we accept the footnote and were to attempt
some kind of vigorous enforcement, first of all, it would only apply to
tribes that have that provision in their constitutions and, second, since we
are trying to pull out of that anyway, it would be a short term kind of
stopgap measure. And I think you and others are looking for long term
fixes, if possible, and maybe not just what we could do tomorrow.

So we have not been in the position of being an enforcement agency
using that footnote.

What we have done in regard to our role, as 1 mentioned earlier, is to
provide resources, to try to bring some training to court personnel, to try
to support tribes in their efforts to improve the court processes on the
reservation, the same way with grants on 638 contracts where they are
performing functions that we formerly performed. If they are having
trouble doing that, we provide them technical assistance and help in doing
that rather than reassume that operation. We think it's important they
continue that operation, but we will provide as many resources as we can
to help with getting it done as effectively as possible.

MR. MILLER. Would it be fair to say that that footnote was misdirected
or at least out of place today?

MR. SWIMMER. I think so, and I think perhaps the Court was looking at
some temporary relief—maybe not trying to justify their decision, but
obviously they've come out with a decision that says the Federal
Government has no role in this, and then they put a footnote in that says,
*“But there might be a few cases where they do, so our opinion is okay.” 1
don’t know what their thinking was when they wrote that footnote, but I
believe it's out of place today.

MR. HOWARD. Secretary Swimmer, if I could ask a quick question here,
could you tell us how many constitutions have ihe provision permitting
Secretarial review of tribal ordinances?

MR. SWIMMER. I cannot do that, but 1 can furnish it to the committee.

MR. Howarbp. Could you tell us in round numbers how many times
since 1978, since Martinez, the Secretary has exercised that discretion?

MR. SWIMMER. I don’t know of any particular cases where we have had
a request to exercise the discretion that would be in that footnote, so we
wouldn’t have done any enforcement or withholding of funds or anything.
I would check the record on that also to see if we have had any actions
brought asking us to take specific action. I am not aware of any. Staff
might have that available today, but I don’t know of any.

Mr. Keep tells me that approximately half of our constitutions are IRA
(Indian Reorganization Act], and within those there is usually some
reference back to approval authority at some level. They may not all be
the same, but within the IRA oftentimes there is the expression that such
action is subject to the approval of the Department of the Interior. In tribes
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without constitutions under IRA—that's the '34 act—I don't think it's that
common, but we will provide you that for the record.

MR. HOWARD. We received your response to Chairman Pendleton’s
letter of December 9 late yesterday.

[Chairman Pendleton's letter of December 9 and Assistant Secretary
Swimmer's response have been entered into the record as exhibit no. 1.)

MR. HOWARD. We have looked at it very quickly. One of the questions
we had posed to you was whether the Department of the Interior had a
mechanism for monitoring ICRA compliance. Do you have an office or do
you have staff that receives complaints at the Department of the Interior?

MRr. SWIMMER. No, we don't. 1 don't know what we said in our
response, but I'm not aware that we have any agency of the Department or
activity within the BIA to specifically monitor civil rights violations.

MR. MILLER. Mr. Swimmer, the Indian Civil Rights Act, Title Il of the
act, section 1311, states that the Bureau was to develop a model penal
code. And I'll read part of the act. Section 1311 says:

Such code shall include provisions which will (1) assure that any individual being
tried for an offense by a court of Indian offenses shall have the same rights,
privileges, and immunities under the United States Constitution as would be
guaranteed any citizen of the United States being tried in Federal court for any
similar offense.

And it goes on in the same vein.

Has a final model code been developed?

MR. SWIMMER. Let me defer that to Mr. Little. He would be the one
who would probably be responsible for that.

MR. LiTTLE. To the best of our knowledge, we have had the same
quandary as you have. We did provide you with a Federal Register
publication—1 don't have the particular cite right off—that was an
enumeration of a number of these areas. It is unclear whether that was an
actual code or not. It is also unclear whether that was actually provided to
Congress as called for under the bill.

There is some reference to codes dealing with the courts of Indian
offenses, is what that reference is, that model code. Now, courts of Indian
offenses are CFR [Code of Federal Regulations} courts; they are not tribal
courts. These are actually administrative courts that were set up by the
Federal Government in the 1800s, ostensibly to do two things. One is to
keep law and order where they didn't think there was any—they were
military tribunals, really—and the other was to educate Indians in this area
of Anglo-Saxon law. The CFR courts have been reduced over the years,
and we have less than 20 at this point.

If I look at the statute correctly, it was referencing the development of a
model code for the CFR courts. The CFR currently operates under Title
X1, I think, of the Code of Federal Regulations, which has a series—a law
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and order code, if you will. It is not very precise, doesn’t cover a lot of
areas. It is more a jurisdictional-type code saying what cases the CFR will
and will not hold.

There are provisions in there that also say that those tribes that want to
adopt codes more extensively under the CFR can then, in turn, adopt as
well as supersede that. Some tribes have done this.

There is another code being developed for the CFR courts currently.
We are in final stages of review. It has been published in the Federal
Register for comment, and as far as I know is expected to be published in
final form sometime in March or April of this year.

That may answer the question. To be quite frank and not trying to get
around it, I couldn’t tell you whether that model code was ever presented
to Congress as specified and, as I understand it, that refers to the CFR
courts and not to tribal courts per se.

I might also point out that over the years codes have developed in
different manners. Some the Bureau put together from contracts, and some
the tribes did themselves. So many court systems have their own codes,
and they range everywhere from very simple ones to some relatively
complicated ones, looking like they are operating under a State code.

So if you break all that up, even implementing a model code, if you
would, at this time, I think would be—I don’t know how that would
operate because you've got so many other codes that would probably even
supersede any model code we could come up with at this point.

MR. MILLER. | asked simply because it is a part of the Indian Civil
Rights Act, and the statute says: “The Secretary of the Interior is
authorized and directed to recommend to the Congress on or before July
1, 1968, a model code governing administration of justice by the courts of
Indian offenses.”

MR. HOwWARD. There was a decision in 1986—you are probably aware
of it—Cook v. Moran, in which the U.S. district court found that the
Secretary of the Interior had not issued a model code.

MR. LITTLE. That is possible. I've been here since May of 1986.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. You have absolution.

MR. LiTTLE. That’s not to absolve me, but quite frankly, I haven't really
looked at it.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. I was trying to confer that. Whether I have
your authority to do that or not is another question.

{Laughter.)

MR. MILLER. I just wanted to mention for the record, Cohen’s
Handbook on Indian Law, page 333, footnote 17, makes the same point, that
the model code had not been promuigated.

Mr. Swimmer, getting back to policy issues, you alluded to the fact that
the current policy is not necessarily the same as past policy; is that correct?
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MR. SWIMMER. Oh, Indian policy has changed as many times as they've
had Assistant Secretaries and Commissioners.

MR. MILLER. Are you familiar with the policy statement of June 12,
1980, produced by the Martinez Policy Review Committee?

MR. SwWIMMER. Not specifically.

MRr. MILLER. For the record, I'd like to enter that policy statement into
the record.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. It is so ordered without objection.

{The document was entered into the record as exhibit no. 2.)

MR. MILLER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Maybe I should address my questions to Mr. Keep, who was on that
Policy Review Committee and has been with the Department for a number
of years. Mr. Keep, how long have you been with the Department of the
Interior?

MR. KEE». I started with the Solicitor’s Office at the end of November
1972.

MR. MILLER. And you were on that Martinez Policy Review Commit-
tee?

MR. KEEP. | was on one of the committees that looked that up; that is
correct.

MR. MILLER. Could you very briefly summarize that policy statement,
or are you in a position to do that?

MR. KEEP. I'd rather not try and summarize it. I'd rather have the
document speak for itself since you have entered it in the record.

MRr. MILLER. Does it attempt to set out some guidelines to evaluate
whether tribal actions have violated rights secured by Title II of the Indian
Civil Rights Act, along with possible sanctions if they do find a violation?

MRr. KEEeP. It does purport to be some guidelines; that is correct.

MR. MILLER. Was that policy statement withdrawn?

MR. KEEP. Yes, it was.

MR. MILLER. Approximately 6 months later.

MR. KEgp. Well, January 17, 1981.

MRr. MILLER. Mr. Chairman, for the record, I'd like to introduce that
statement withdrawing the Martinez policy review statement of June 12.
This withdrawal is dated—well, there are two dates on it, January 16,
1981, and January 17, 1981.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. So ordered, without objection.

(The document was entered into the record as exhibit no. 3.)

MRr. MiLLER. Mr. Keep, why was that policy statement withdrawn?

Mnr. KEEP. I'm not sure I know all of the reasons. The withdrawal was
not sct as a policy decision for the Assistant Secretary.

MR. MILLER. Did you make a statement to the Minneapolis Star and
Tribune that it was withdrawn because of resistance from tribal govern-
ments? )
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Mg. KEEP. ] don't recall ever making a statement to the Minneapolis Star
and Tribune. The practice in the Solicitor’s Office is to refer press inquiries
to our Public Relations Office, the Bureau's Public Relations Office.

MR. MILLER. Mr. Chairman, for the record, I'd like to submit an article
in the Minneapolis Star and Tribune dated January 7, 1986. In that article
Mr. Keep is quoted as saying—and I'll read the whole sentence: “But the
guidelines were withdrawn, said Scott Keep, an Interior Department
lawyer, ‘because the Indian community raised such an uproar.’”

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. So ordered, without objection.

[The document was entered into the record as exhibit no. 4.)

MRr. Keep. Mr. Chairman, if I may clarify—

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Sure.

MR. KEep. When I said I didn’t recall making a statement, it is that I
don’t recall. I'm not denying that I made such a statement, and I'm not
denying that that was my recollection at that time. But if you are asking for
actual facts, I want to make it clear that that was my iinpression personally
as an individual who had been involved in it, but I was not consulted by
Mr. Krenzke or Mr. Fredericks at the time that withdrawal was issued.

So if the question is as to my personal knowledge, my personal
knowledge is simply that that was my impression. Whether that was the
actual reason, I don’t know.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Mr. Keep, let me in a sense comfort you. 1
understand how the press uses quotation marks. I understand how they
make reference to things that one says that can be put in such a way that
they become policy or fact. For any of the witnesses who are here, if you
want to make some clarifying statements about that for the record, we'd
appreciate it. It is not to accuse you of not saying the right thing. As you
know, Mr. Keep, as a solicitor, it’s a matter of establishing a record, and
we want to be as clear as we can and give the witnesses a chance to say
what they said when they said it or to say why they said what they said.

So I want to assure you this is not a situation where one draws you up to
the bar to ask, “Did you say this?” This is not that kind of situation at all.

Thank you very much.

MR. KEEP. Mr. Chairman, I appreciate that. I just wanted to make sure
that no one was misled that I knew more than ] actually did.

[Laughter and simultaneous discussion.}

Mr. HOwARD. You'd better quit while you’re ahead.

Me. KEep. 1 thought I had another appointment.

(Laughter.]

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Mr. Keep, sometimes the courtesy of levity is
left to the Chairman, but I defer to you.

[Laughter.)

MR. MILLER. | think I'll move on to a different area.

Mnr. Keep. Thank you.
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MR. MILLER. Mr. Swimmer—well, I'll address it to anyone. In general,
are the tribal courts enforcing the Indian Civil Rights Act?

Let me rephrase that. Are the tribes enforcing the Indian Civil Rights
Act?

MR. SWIMMER. Well, 1 mentioned earlier that we don’t have a specific
P.O. box number to receive complaints. We do have the Division of Tribal
Government Services, the Division of Social Services, and various other
avenues for people to let us know what is going on out there.

I will furnish for the record the number of specific complaints we have
received, but to my knowledge now it has been very few in number. 1
would say fewer than—50?

MR. LITTLE. Probably.

MR. SWIMMER. Something like that. But I will try to give you that for
the record. We would make a note of that and know it if a civil rights issue
had come in.

So I would have to infer from that that, to our knowledge, it appears
that tribal governments are respecting civil rights and that the courts,
except in a few instances which this Commission is well aware cf, are alsc
very good about trying to enforce that law.

MR. MILLER. Would it be fair to say that you are not in a positior to
really know?

Mr. SWIMMER. | would not be—only from the information ve would
receive. We have not gone to the reservation to research this subject. So it
is very possible that people feel they have been deprived of civil rights but
are not letting anyone else know because they don’t know their forum. If
they get a hearing in court or feel like they could get a hearing, they'll
bring it up.

MR. MILLER. Mr. Little, I take it that you concur with Mr. Swimmer on
that?

MR. LITTLE. Yes. To the best of the information we get up here, that
would be the case. That is not to say there aren’t some other things going
on, but through our mechanism we haven't had a tremendous outpouring
of these kinds of allegations.

MR. MILLER. And you would not be in a position to really know
whether the act is being enforced?

MR. LrrTLE. No.

MR. MILLER. If I could move to a different area quickly, I'd like to bring
up a situation that is occurring on a reservation simply because it brings up
concrete facts that we could ask questions about, and we could look at
how the BIA has performed in a particular situation. I don’t choose this
situation in an attempt to make it the norm or model or typical of tribal
courts in general. But we would like to ask you a few questions about the
situation at the Red Lake Reservation.
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We have a brief chronology, and in the interests of time I would like to
go through some significant events that have occurred on the Red Lake
Reservation or have been alleged to have occurred there. We have learned
of these events through a number of sources.

The chronology goes back to 1972 when a law review article was
published in the North Dakota Law Review. Chai-man Pendleton has just
handed you a copy of that chronology. I'll briefly go through it.

In 1972 a law review article appeared criticizing the tribal courts at Red
Lake.

In 1977 the Department of Justice prepared to sue the Red Lake Tribe
regarding the tribal law requiring attorneys to be members of the tribe.
The suit was dropped when the Martinez decision came down.

In 1979 the council removed the tribal treasurer. I believe her name was
Hansen. 1'his sparked an uprising which resulted in the burning of Red
Lake Chairman Roger Jourdain’s house along with other property. 1
believe about 13 buildings were burned and, unfortunately, two deaths
occurred.

In 1980 the Red Lake Council passed a resolution barring the news
media from the reservation.

In 1982 another resolution barring the news media was passed. Also in
1982, a BIA consultant reported, “The Red Lake court has never had a
jury trial and juries were not being provided even when requested by
parties.”

Around that time, an Interior Department attorney advised BIA officials
that the court’s practice of not providing a jury trial violted rights
secured by the Indian Civil Rights Act.

In 1985 Senator Boschwitz and Representative Stangeland requested the
U.S. Comptroller General to investigate the Red Lake system, which
they never did, as I understand it.

In May 1985, two prisoners were released by a Federal district judge on
the grounds that they had been denied counsel, bail, and the right to a trial
by jury.

In August 1985, the Red Lake Council began requiring that attorneys be
members of the Red Lake Tribe, understand Chippewa, and be a resident
of the reservation.

In 1985 also, the Minneapolis Star and Tribune brought a Freedom of
Information action against the Department of the Interior seeking the Red
Lake court records.

In August 1985, the court records were seized by the Red Lake Tribe.
Suit had been brought by the U.S. Government to recover those records
on the grounds that the records are “Agency records” of the BIA. The
U.S. District Court for Minnesota and the Eighth Circuit have ruled in
favor of the U.S. Government. The tribe has petitioned the U.S. Supreme
Court for certiorari review.
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September 1985. Suit was filed in the Federal district court against the
Department of the Interior on behalf of three Indians seeking termination
of Federal funds to the Red Lake court until court reforms are achieved.
The suit was dismissed on the grounds that the Federal court does not
have the authority under the Indian Civil Rights Act in light of the
Martinez decision.

November 1985. The BIA issued a directive requiring the court to allow
retained counsel into court.

November 1987. The Red Lake CFR court was changed from being a
CFR court to a tribal court which would be under a contract for judicial
services.

That is a brief chronology offered in the interest of time. If there are any
errors in that, please advise me if I am incorrect on any of those points.

MR. SWIMMER. I'm not aware of any. I'm not familiar with the
chronology, so I couldn’t do a critique for you, but I think it speaks for
itself.

MRr. Howarp. | would like to read from Cook v. Moran, the district
ourt decision that Brian [Miller] made reference to, some language from
the court’s opinion.

Plaintiffs’ claim—no matter where one focuses on the problem or how one
conceptualizes the issue—is an indictment of the Court of Indian Offenses on the
Red Lake Indian Reservation. It is a claim which charges that the Red Lake Court
of Indian Offenses denies the fundamental rights provided under the act to its own
people more often and with greater fervor than it protects them. It is a claim which
charges that the Red Lake Court of Indian Offenses has established de facto the
denial of fundamental rights as the norm rather than the exception in the
administration of justice on the reservation. It is a claim which, based on this
court’s limited but eye-opening experience with the Red Lake Court of Indian
Offenses, is not without substance. The claim raises great concern in this court and
should raise even greater concern in the Court of Indian Offenses on the Red Lake
Indian Reservation.

Mr. MILLER. Mr. Swimmer, is it fair t0 say that ycu have heard some
general things about the situation at the Red Lake CFR court?

MR. SWIMMER. Yes.

MR. MILLER. Maybe some background would be helpful Is it true that a
CFR court is a BIA court, under your control, and the employees of the
court are Federal employees?

MR. SWIMMER. | think that is, generally speaking, true.

MRr. MILLER. And that is true of the Red Lake CFR court?

MR. SWIMMER. It was when CFR was in effect.

Mr. MILLER. Prior to November 1987.

MR. SWIMMER. But again, the court was put there to provide the
judicial system for that tribal government, and we would defer very much
to the tribal government’s operation of the court.
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CoMMISSIONER DESTRO. May I ask a question? Let me just make sure I
understand, although I think 1 understand what you said. Basically, it is the
Federal Government’s court. but the Indians run it?

MR. SWIMMER. That's a good characterization.

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. What's the “it*?

CoMMISSIONER DESTRO. The court.

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. Well, there were two courts.

ComMisSIONER DesTrO. The CFR is the CFR court.

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. Were you referring 1o the CFR court or the
tribal court?

MR. SwWIMMER. The CFR court. If there is no court system on a
reservation where we or the Federal Government has responsibility for
law enforcement—or the tribe does, or anyone but the State—as an interim
measure to provide the court system out there, we would provide what is
called a CFR court to handle misdemeanors. That is primarily their
Jjurisdiction. Once we have put that CFR court there, it is then to operate
pretty much under the direction of the tribal government. And we
encourage the tribes to organize their own court as soon as possible. When
they organize the court, they similarly generally use our Federal funds to
do that.

CoMMISSIONER DESTRO. Now, let me just go one step further in my
question, then. So, assuming you have a CFR court, and it is a Federal
creation with the BIA having responsibility for it, the way you administer
it is you say, “Well, really the responsibility is the tribe’s and we'll let them
take care of it.” Right?

MR. SWIMMER. Not entircly. I think 1 will defer to Joe [Little] to let him
explain how the CFR court is funded and staffed, and that relationship.

MR. LITTLE. It’s a strange setup.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. The reason for a lot of questioning is that we
find that strange.

MR. LITTLE. Yes. I think when I came into the office I found it strange,
too. The CFR, as I pointed out before, is kind of an administrative
creation. There is no statutory language for it or anything else. It just kind
of grew out of the War Department and continued to function for many
years.

As 1 understand part of the situation at Red Lake, which is not
necessarily unusual in some areas, is there was a confusion as to exactly
where that delineation was. I think in some ways the tribe thought it was a
tribal court, even though the Federal Government kept saying, “No, it’s a
Federal court.”

I had some discussion with the superintendents down there, and they
were even confused as to what the situation was.

Basically, the way a CFR operates is that it’s sct up and it operates under
the direction of the area director, similar to the way we do our pclice force
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situation. There are some restrictions. Generally speaking, the judges are
to be selected as part-time Federal employees, and they are under what we
call a 950 series, [ believe, which is generally paralegal, so they tend to
have more paralegal background.

I’'m not saying in every instance that occurs. It may be that at Red Lake
they hired somebody without this background, and partly because they
were confused with the situation.

We have since, I think in the directive sent out on November 25, prior to
my coming on board, indicated this is really the way a CFR court should
operate. There is a specific delineation. I'm not saying we still continue to
have some of those with the CFRs because it is a confusing area. The bulk
of our CFRs are in the State of Oklahoma for various jurisdictional
reasons. And I might point out that the bulk of those have law degrees, are
practicing attorneys, and do part-time work with the CFRs, and we have
very few problems with them.

The ones such as at Red Lake and others, we are trying to sit down and
work those out. But part of the problem comes because the operation is
really through the area directors and the superintendents.

I think what Mr. Swimmer alluded to in terms of the tribe controlling is
that there are provisions in the regulations that say that tribes can pass
resolutions incorporating law and order codes into the operation of the
CFR. So again you have strange hybrids in which you may have a CFR
operating just under CFR guidelines found in section 11, CFR; or you may
find a court operating under tribally adopted law and order codes, if you
will, even though it’s not a tribal forum—it’s a Federal forum, but it’s using
tribal law. Now, that varies.

CoMMISSIONER DESTRO. That I understand. It is confusing. But the
question I have is really more a basic one which is: where does the buck
stop for responsibility for protecting the rights of the people who appear
before those courts? What I thought I heard, and the reason I launched
into the line of questioning, was that once the CFR court was established,
the Department implicitly, basically, recognized that the buck stopped
with the tribe as opposed with themselves.

MR. LiTTLE. I don’t think that’s the case. As far as I can see—I will
hedge, because this is a confusing area—as far as I can see, the buck does
stop with the Bureau on the CFRs. What I'm saying is the way it had been
administered in the past, there may be some confusion, and you may
have—and I'm not positive—some of those tribes out there that have
maybe operated more authority in this area than is really laid out in the
regulations.

ComMMISSIONER DESTRO. Isn’t that the real underlying issue in this case,
who has the final authority over the CFR court?

MRa. LITTLE. I'm going to defer because I don’t know all the facts in the
case. That could possibly be.
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CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Could I ask this question: is it possible—maybe
it's not possible, but I'll ask it anyway—that you could review this and let
us know what you really think about it?

MR. LiTTLE. Yes, | would promise to look into it and try to review it.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. The reason why I ask is because I am trying to
find out what is the difference between a CFR court and a tribal court.
What we are confused about is that if CFR courts are controlled by the
tribes, what is the difference between a CFR court and a tribal court when
we are unclear about what CFR really means? Maybe that’s typical
Washington policy, but it scems to me the rights of individual Indians can
be better protected if there is some clarity about what we're talking about,
and we can maybe transmit it to them.

MR. LITTLE. As I understand it—and you’re probably right; you're not
going to get that much clarity—these are temporary courts, or at least
that’s what they were initially set up to be. Under policy of the Bureau, as
far as we can review it, they were just to come in for interim periods of
time when there was what they called lawlessness running rampant until
the tribe itself would set up a forum. Now, some took on a bigger nature.
As I pointed out, the ones in Oklahoma—there are some real questions
about jurisdiction, so they are somewhat the only court system.

In terms of whether they've got control or not—and I'm losing my line
of thought here; that’s how confusing it’s getting. As I pointed out, because
they are interim courts, they are limited jurisdiction under 25 CFR 11.
There are only certain types of cases they can hear. For instance, they
don’t have the jurisdiction to hear tribal election disputes, if you will.

That docsn’t say that the tribe itself, because of other provisions within
that code, can’t adopt regulations that are in turn adopted by the CFR
court and, if you will, are delegated authority from the tribe as a forum to
operate. So you do have some CFR courts that do have the authority to
overhear election disputes, if you will, and you have others that have not
been given that by the tribe. So it is a strange hybrid.

MR. HOWARD. But it’s fair to say that, generally speaking about CFR
courts, the Secretary of the Interior has greater control over CFR courts
than tribal courts; is that right?

MR. LirTLE. | think that’s fair to say, yes.

Mr. HowaRrb. Do you think it’s also fair to say with respect to the Red
Lake situation, that when the tribe took your records, you gave them your
court as well?

MR. LITTLE. My understanding on that is that’s still up in the air. As far
as I know, the case is still pending.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Mr. Keep wants to say something about this
one. Careful, now.

[Laughter.]

Mr. KeEep. I'll try to be very careful on this one.
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As | think Mr. Little has pointed out, at Red Lake there was a long
history of confusion as to whether that court was characterized as a tribal
court or a CFR court. It was in fact a CFR court. And when the judge
thought that it was a tribal court and took the records, we sued them to get
them back. That is the case that is now pending. The tribe has lost that
through the circuit court and has filed a petition for certiorari with the
Supreme Court. And unless they prevail, we will in fact get those Federal
records back. If they prevail, we will find out what the law on that is.

CoMMISSIONER DESTRO. Has BIA maintained its position all the way
through th: petition for certiorari? Have they opposed the grant of a
petition, an1 on what grounds?

MR. KeeP. 1 don’t know whether we have filed our brief in opposition
to it, but we can certainly make a copy of that available to you.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. We'd like that.

MR. KEgP. Obviously, whatever we filed with the Supreme Court, we
think the circuit court was correct. We brought the suit because we
wanted the records and pursued it through the Eighth Circuit, and we still
want the records.

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Assuming that that’s true, that the court of
appeals was correct, why was there such a big problem in the administra-
tion of the CFR court that the district judge confessed to being appalled.
He said, “This is really an appalling situation. Why was it not remedied?”

If you thought it was your court—and this really goes back to the very
first question: if it was your court, why weren’t you responsible for the
administration? Or did you in effect cede control of the court a long time
ago to the tribe and implicitly treat it as a tribal court, even though now
you come back and argue inconsistently with your actions? One could
conclude that.

I'm not accusing you of it, but it seems like this may be another example
of a mixed message. When they say, “Look, we're going to take you at
your word and take the records because you've treated us as if it's our
court, and now you want the records back. Now it’s not our court
anymore.” And then you go back and say, “Look at all these things the
district judge found were wrong.”

Whose responsibility was it? Yours or theirs? If it was your court, wasn’t
it your responsibility?

MR. SWIMMER. It could be characterized that way. And I think over the
history of this, having gone through several administrations, that in fact
the status of that court was very confused, and there were people, certainly
my predecessors, who apparently believed it was as much a tribal court as
it was our court and took a hands-off attitude.

After the court seized the records, when the Bureau realized what had
happened there, and that in effect it was our court, even though we had
tried to defer to the tribe and their law and order code and their system of
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justice, we drew the line and said, “You can’t do this. This is our court, and
we are going to have some basic operating guidelines.” And we put those
out and we said, “This is the way it’s going to be treated from now on.”

And that was a couple of years ago. But the message all along was that it
was our intent to pull out of that CFR court as soon as the tribe was able to
develop its own court system.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Ms. Prado, and then I want to get back to
counsel.

Ms. PraDo. In view of the foregoing, why was the decision made to
change that court to a tribal court?

MR. SWIMMER. It is the intent of the Bureau to withdraw from all CFR
courts as soon as practicable. Again, we don’t view ourselves as a
policeman, and one could argue that maybe this tribe isn’t going to operate
an effective court system. One could also argue that they are just as
confused as we had been in the operation of this court, and that if they
move forward in developing their own court system with whatever
additional resources we can provide, they will have a good court system.
We cannot speculate that they would have a bad court system simply
because of the trouble that has been exhibited with this court.

MSs. PrRADO. Isn’t that, like Commissioner Destro said, a mixed message?
On the one hand you say that the end resvit of all this fight over the
records is you issued guidelines, but then you turn around and, it seems to
me, concede and turn the court over to the tribal court.

MR. SWIMMER. Well, I think you would have to say that we believe this
is going to be the standard practice regardless of what court is out there;
therefore, it is the BIA’s job to continue administering justice on that
reservation until a new tribal leader is elected, until a new government is
restructured, or something like that. And I don’t think we can accept that.

Our position is that we wish to get the tribe in a position of operating its
court system as quickly as possible and begin working with the tribe to try
to have a quality court system as soon as possible out there. And certainly
as long as they have an alien court on their reservation, if they believe that
that court is under our control, I think the chances of continued poor
relations are as good if not better than they will be if the tribe has its own
court and we are working again from a resource base to try to improve it.

CLARENCE PENDLETON. Mr. Swimmer, I think what we are going to
have here are some specific questions about ICRA. I want to go to Mr.
Destro first, and then go back to Mr. Miller, because I think we are getting
down to where we want to ask some very specific questions about this
whole process.

ComMmIsSiIONER DESTRO. My question, before going back to Mr. Miller,
is—I'm going to give you a hypothetical question that gets at the notion of
control, and I will recognize the difficulty of it at the outset. But let’s just
hypothetically say that an individual who appeared before that CFR court,
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before you transferred over into a tribal court system, say, a year ago—
let’s just posit that no statute of limitations has run on anything—would the
Bureau cncede that an individual Indian might have an ICRA claim
against the Bureau—not against the tribe but against the Bureau—for
alleged violation of his or her rights under the ICRA because it was a
Bureau court?

MR. SWIMMER. | hesitate to offer that as a legal opinion. My reaction is
no.
COMMISSIONER DESTRO. They would not concede that?

MR. SWIMMER. I don't believe there would be an action against the
Bureau of Indian Affairs for a violation of ICRA.

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Would not?

MR. SWIMMER. Would not be. But that is a layman's off-the-cuff
opinion, and I'll defer to my attorney on that. He might have a very
different opinion.

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. What do you think?

MR. KEEP. I think that’s a policy question and I'll defer to him.

(Laughter.]

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. I hope the press heard that one.

CoMMISSIONER DESTRO. What do you all think as far as that question
goes, because it seems to me that if you are waffling on that one, then
Indians don’t have a remedy against their tribes and they don't have a
remedy against the Federal Government. So, unlike anybody else who
lives in this country, they don’t have a right against anybody; right?

MR. KEeEeP. First of all, I understood you were talking about the Indian
Civil Rights Act.

CoMMISSIONER DESTRO. Right.

MR. KEEP. Obviously, there are Federal courts. If they are our court,
those people are acting as Federal employees. There are other civil rights
statutes and other doctrines of constitutional torts and such that would
provide them a claim against the Federal Government if their individual
rights are violated. If we have done it, I mean, that’s where their remedy is.

The question is, it seems to me: what did Congress do with the Indian
Civil Rights Act? And I think, as the Supreme Court indicated, in noting
that Congress had considered and expressly rejected substitute legislation
which would have given the Department of the Interior a broader role in
these matters, we have taken that as being instructive to take a hands-off
approach until such time as Congress tells us to do something else.

MR. HOwWARD. Mr. Keep, a quick followup question. As I read that
legislative history and the letters from the Secretary of the Interior that are
referred to, it seems to me that the Secretary of the Interior opposed the
amendment that was under consideration because he said the Department
of the Interior was already undertaking those kinds of actions under the
Indian Civil Rights Act. Are you familiar with the legislative history?
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MR. KEEP. I'm not familiar with the part that you're referring to. I don't
have any present recollection of it.

MRr. HowaRrb. Could you tell us what the policy of the Department of
the Interior was at the time of Martinez or pre-Martinez?

MR. KEeP. No, I couldn’t because I wasn't there then. But the legislative
history of the Indian Civil Rights Act and whatever official reports the
Department filed at that time are a matter of record.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. I think we’ve gone a little bit astray here, and
I'd like to get back to counsel so we don’t break too much the train of
continuity.

MR. MILLER. Mr. Chairman, I'd like to submit for the record the case of
Cook v. Moran. It does contain a claim that the failure to provide a model
code for- the CFR courts contributed to the problem at Red Lake.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. So ordered, without objection.

[The document was entered into the record as exhibit no. 5.]

MR. MILLER. If I could ask a few brief questions. Mr. Swimmer, isn't it
true that many in the Department believed that the Indian Civil Rights Act
was being violated by the CFR court at Red Lake?

MR. SWIMMER. I don’t know. | certainly did not condone the actions
when I heard about them 2 years ago, but I can’t really tell you who those
many might be or what their thinking was at that time. The people I talked
to subsequent to the actions that you have mentioned here have pretty
much agreed with me that, no, that’s not the way to operate a judicial
system out there.

MR. MILLER. Would it be fair to say that some in the Department
believed that the ICRA was being violated, particularly the right to
counsel and the right to a jury trial?

MR. SWIMMER. Sure.

MR. MILLER. Nevertheless, you entered into a contract for judicial
services with the Red Lake Tribe in November, to provide judicial
services for that tribe, correct?

MR. SwIMMER. That’s right.

MR. MILLER. In that contract there was no reference to the Indian Civil
Rights Act; is that correct?

MR. SWIMMER. That is correct. Indirectly, of course, there is, and that is
that the tribe must comply with all Federal statutes. 1 did not feel
personally that it was necessary to point that out to a tribal chairman,
either there or anyplace else. And I believe that that tribal chairman, as
well as many others, knows that he has to follow Federal law and that the
Indian Civil Rights Act is among those.

My concern was that if we put in the contract, “By the way, you must
comply with ICRA,” I might as well go ahead and list the whole U.S.
Code. And maybe I should in that case.
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MR. MILLER. Isn't it true that at least some people in the Interior
Department proposed additional language to that contract stating specifi-
cally that the tribe would comply with the Indian Civil Rights Act in that
attorneys licensed before the State of Minnesota would be allowed into
that court?

MR. SWIMMER. I don’t know about the latter, but we did have a
recommendation that we specifically include language that the Indian
Civil Rights Act be a part of this contract, which, again, I found
unnecessary and felt like it would be a bad precedent.

MRr. MILLER. Wasn't the argument of that person that, given the 10
years or the history of alleged violations and, in some people’s opinion,
violations of the Indian Civil Rights Act, that that language was necessary?

MR. SWIMMER. I don’t know why they recommended it. I suspect that
they felt it might be important to point it out in addition to the general
language about complying with Federal statutes. But, again, I don't see this
as a method of operation for us in all of our contracts, that we should put
that in there.

MR. HOWARD. The crux of the problem, as I see it, is that there are some
tribal officials who maintain that the Indian Civil Rights Act is not
applicable Federal law, and we've heard testimony to that effect. My
recollection—tell me if I'm wrong, Brian [Miller}—is that the Navajo
Nation maintains the ICRA was rendered inapplicable by Martinez, and
the Navajo do have a Navajo Bill of Rights, but they do take that position
on the ICRA.

It is also my understanding—and I could be wrong—that Chairman
Roger Jourdain believes that the ICRA is inapplicable. If that’s the case,
then that language in the contract wouldn’t apply.

MR. SWIMMER. I suppose that’s correct, so it would make no difference
if the language was in there or not in there. He's going to disregard it if
he's going to disregard it. We believe that it does apply. If any of the
Chairmen has stated they believe it doesn’t apply, then I guess it wouldn’t
make a lot of difference.

MRr. MILLER. Bill (Howard), I think the jury may still be out on the
Navajo position, but there are indications that that is their position.

Mr. Swimmer, isn’t it true that under 25 U.S. Code section 450(m), it
grants the Bureau power to rescind a contract for the violation of rights
generally? The Secretary, if he determines that the performance of the
tribal organization under the contract involves a violation of rights, can
rescind the contract.

Isn’t it also true that the Department of the Interior has been sued before
on that theory? And isn't it true, given the knowledge of the Department
of the violations in that court, that it would make it much more likely that
such an action would succeed? That the language is mandatory? That you
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must rescind the contract if there are violations of rights as mentioned in
that statute?

MR. SWIMMER. I'm as anxious as [ suppose you are to see how Red Lake
operates their own tribal court. And if there are the problems that we have
experienced in the past that were exhibited there in the CFR court, we will
take that under consideration and use whatever legal means we have,
whether it’s that statute or some other, that might give us access to doing
something.

But my reluctance has been voiced already at this hearing that I will not
get involved in tribal decisions except in the extreme case. And as I
mentioned, we believe the CFR court operation became extreme, and we
issued guidelines stating, “You must comply with the Civil Rights Act,
provide the right of counsel, provide quite a few things.” And if the new
court that they are organizing there is operated in such a way that we
acquire knowledge that they are not operating in compliance with Federal
law, we will take whatever actions we can to try to get them into
compliance.

MR. MILLER. Given the fact that you've been advised that the Red Lake
court had been routinely violating civil rights, would you say that it was
likely that the court would continue to violate at least some of the rights
secured by the Indian Civil Rights Act?

MR. SWIMMER. I apologize. I missed the first part of your question.

MR. MILLER. The first part is: given the fact that you had been advised
that the Red Lake court had been routinely violating civil rights, would
you say that it was likely that the Red Lake court, under the contract for
judicial services, would also violate the Indian Civil Rights Act?

MR. SWIMMER. I can’t draw that conclusion, because we believe that all
of the court systems, as all of the tribal governments, are in the state of
emerging, and most of them keep moving forward even though it's
sometimes very slow. And I would hope that there have been some lessons
learned, and 1 hope that if certiorari is denied on this one case, for instance,
that that will be an additional lesson for the Chairman there, that in fact the
Civil Rights Act applies, they’ve got to follow it, and they’ll come around
to doing that.

But 1, again, hesitate to substitute my judgment for that of the tribal
elected official there. I think the electorate has that opportunity and should
exercise it. I don't personally like the way they operate that court or that
we have operated it in the past.

Now, we don’t have any evidence yet; we don’t have a violation that has
been cited to us. We have—I believe I'm correct in this—the same
information that you do that people are alleging that they’re not going to
get justice, that they’re not going to be able to go in that court with an
attorney, that they’re not going to be able to have a jury, and those kinds
of things.
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Maybe it's wishful thinking, but I hope and believe that if we can
continue working with that tribal government, they will have a better
court system. I can’t simply say that I would agree with you entirely that
we have to assume it's going to be another situation like we’ve had before.

MR. MILLER. Of course, I share your hope, but I think there have been
habeas corpus cases where the Federal court has found that there was a
denial of the right to counsel. You have been advised that there were
violations of the Indian Civil Rights Act.

MR. SWIMMER. In the recent court, since it's been a tribal court?

Mnr. MILLER. No, not since it’s been a tribal court. This was a CFR

court.
MR. SWIMMER. Let me add one more thing, if I could quickly. We do
not have, I believe, a declination issue here, either. We are in the situation
that when a tribe asks for a 638 contract to operate a tribal court, we have
to let them do it. So the remedial statutes would occur afterward and after
the violation. But we acknowledge that those problems have existed
before, and we are working with that tribal government to try and help
them develop. But if they do have problems, then some of the statutes you
mentioned, as well as others, if there’s violation of Federal law, may give
us the opportunity to go in and do something else. I'm not sure what. That
again throws us into a quandary, if there is no court up there, as to where
we go.

MR. MILLER. It seems to me you would have been in a better position
had you included that extra language in the contract.

MR. SWIMMER. I don’t see why. It either applies or it doesn’t apply. Our
opinion is that the Indian Civil Rights Act applies. If the Chairman’s
opinion is it doesn’t, he will ignore it anyway, and ultimately we will have
to go into another forum to decide that issue. If I put it in the contract and
it is not applicable, it is not enforceable. If I don’t have it in the contract
and it’s enforceable, it’s just as enforceable under the general 638
contracting guidelines that all Federal laws apply.

My concern is that if I start with this tribal Chairman and I include it,
then pretty soon I'm going to have to look at other contracts of a similar
nature and I begin citing Federal laws that do apply in these cases. And 1
believe that 1 have to give the tribal government deference in that they
will follow Federal law—at least give them that opportunity to follow
Federal law. If they don't, then we can take the action that we can that’s

appropriate.

MR. MILLER. I have one last question. Is it still true that the Red Lake
Tribe has a resolution on the books that effectively denies counsel to the
accused in criminal trials?

MR. SWIMMER. | don’t know. I don’t know if they still have one.

Mr. MiLLER. Thank you very much.

I have no further questions.
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CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. We're going to take a short break, and we'll
have a few more questions from Commissioners when we return. We have
to give our reporter a break. When we come back we’ll begin the
questioning with Commissioner Allen.

Let’s take about a 10-minute break.

[Recess.]

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. As we convene, if you will notice, Mr.
Swimmer, you have shared light and sort of brightened the room up a bit,
you and your colleagues.

[Laughter.)

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. And we will suppose before the end of the day
is over that the rest of the light will be shining in through the other
windows. Sometimes we are in anticipation of television people being
around. Mr. Swimmer grimaces, and I understand how you feel about that.

Commissioner Allen, why don’t you begin the questioning.

If we could have another half hour or 25 minutes to try to tie this up, we
would appreciate it, because we don’t want to occupy your entire day,
although we'd like to, but we don’t think that would be right to do.

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Just a technical question, Mr. Swimmer. You did submit a written
statement for the record that 1 enjoyed reading, but you didn’t refer to it. I
very much appreciated, by the way, your oral statement, which I think
was fine, but the written statement—

MR. SWIMMER. [ would like to have it made a part of the record, yes,
sir.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. It is so ordered, without objection.

[The document was entered into the record as exhibit no. 6.)

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. [ was somewhat taken with the general history
that you gave at the outset of your testimony, invoking the various
attempts on the part of the United States Government to deal with the
Indian problem, which I believe is the expression you used. But I notice,
however, that you came through from the early 19th century through 1934
to the fifties and up through the ‘68 act without mentioning the grant of
citizenship in 1924. And I was curious to know why you skipped over it.
I'm sure you only did it inadvertently, but I now ask you to reflect
whether, had you paused to think about the grant of citizenship in 1924,
you might not have found that relevant to the powers and aims of
Congress with respect to Indians.

MR. SWIMMER. I suppose it would be. I don't have a recollection of the
history of those particular years, but I know that following the allotment
days, it would have been a natural, normal thing to do to grant citizenship.
In fact, one of the reasons I tend, I think, not to remember that particular
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date is that there was a grant of citizenship to my tribe and others in 1901.
So we came on board a little sooner than some of the other tribes.

But I believe it was also because of the allotment of lands and the belief
that Indians no longer needed to be wards of the government, and that as
the land was allotted and they became sort of full citizens, they also
received citizenship. And if I'm not mistaken, in fact, most Indians were
citizens before the 1924 act, but it was sort of a cleanup act. It was simply
to grant them citizenship if there were any that had not been. And it
followed along with the idea of no tribal government, individual
allotments, individual Indians competing, taking the resources and living as
anyone else would in that area.

And that’s why I say following that allotment, it appeared that, for one
reason or another, much of the land that was allotted then was lost to the
Indian people. And I think that became partly responsible for the *34 act
which, of course, was developed from about '31 through ‘34, but the
ultimate act of Congress to reorganize tribal government, and that was an
attempt to stop the allotment or to hold fast the rest of the land that was
still available for the fear that—

CoMMISSIONER ALLEN. That was the point of my question. Was it also
an attempt de facto and not de jure to withdraw citizenship?

MR. SWiMMER. To withdraw? 1 would not characterize it that way. |
would say it was an attempt then to provide some additional forum for
Indian people to continue their culture, lifestyles, and have some
protect‘on of that. Because there was no other government as we knew it
then—State, local, or Federal—that could identify as any kind of a
protector, so to speak, of those resources. So by providing the tribes a
mechanism to come together and organize themselves—and it also
provided a way of providing money, some funding mechanism. The act of
1934 allowed tribes to form relending organizations. But it was a structure
they could take advantage of and organize tribal organizations and
governments if they followed a certain pattern. And as [ say, even in doing
that, some of the tribes did not buy into that system. They also in some
cases did continue other systems.

But what it did tend to do was refocus on the reservation system, and it
stopped the policy of assimilation, changed that to a policy of continued
reservation development and reservation living and providing Indians with
the opportunity to have organizations through which they could exercise
cultural customs and historical differences.

CoMMISSIONER ALLEN. That’s one of the things that's concerned me,
because you spoke in your oral testimony about a level of government
different from Federal, State, and local. And I suppose the most vexing
question we face in this entire inquiry is essentially what kind of creature
this level of government is called tribal government; that is, where does it
fit juridically or logically or politically or morally?
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I have considerable difficulty placing it myself. If 1 understand your
testimony, I am not alone with having that difficulty.

MR. SWIMMER. You're right up there with Congress and the various
administrations that have been in effect for the last 100 years.

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. | see. But I'm curious, however, because
although I have difficulty placing what we now are trying to do, I have a
little less difficulty understanding some of the things that have happened
over the years. And I notice in most of the court opinions and general
testimony in writing, we refer to the existence of Indian sovereignty prior
to the arrival of the European in North America, for example, almost as a
justification for the insistence today on self-determination and on the
courts’ reasoning that there are somehow legal principles that arise out of
that.

Now, I know it's a familiar state of repose for the human mind to fasten
on something old so as not to have to think about how to justify what you
want to do. But apart from that convenient excuse for accepting
something, I wonder whether there is, in fact, any substance to this. After
all, every human being dates from something that antedates the American
Constitution. Every human experience is based on some sort of govern-
ment, some form of morality or mores or policies that antedate the
American Constitution.

So it is entirely unclear to me what one means when one refers to the
traditional or the customary or the from-time-immemorial form of
government of the Indian. What in your mind does one refer to with that?

MR. SWIMMER. The basic difference, I would say, is that while everyone
does date from some historical precedent, the Indian communities are the
only ones that are original on this particular continent, and were treated as
independent nations as this continent was developed. The difference that
has been described in various times is that, yes, that is true, but they are a
conquered people. That may be, and certainly they are part of—in my
opinion, anyway, and I might add there is some disagreement on this—the
Federal system in that Indian tribal government today, or Indian tribes, if
you will, exist by virtue of their historical existence from the past and
forevermore, and that they carry with them an inherent sovereignty.

The Congress has generally chosen not to deal with that, and so the
courts have dealt with it. And what the courts have said is that Indian
tribes are as they were before this continent was settled, and that they
retain their inherent sovereign rights as independent nations, except for
those areas in which Congress has taken away from them.

The Congress has the right to exercise plenary power for whatever
reason, I suppose—I think most of us will agree to that; some don't, but |
believe Congress can exercise plenary power or total power over Indians
to the extent of not even recognizing that a tribal government exists, in
other words, termination. They could do that and in fact did in a few cases.
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They cut that governmental relationship off in total. But the courts have
come back and said if Congress had not done that, that you're dealing with
a sovereign nation.

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. You put your finger, then, on the thing that did
trouble me most of all, so let me try a conclusion, and then you and my
colleagues can tell me what you think about it.

James Monroe, 1787-88, in discussing the proposed Constitution,
described what happened to the States as a consequence of that proposal as
the emergence of a qualified sovereignty. The States that had preexisted
the Constitution were changed by the mere fact of the adoption of the
Constitution, according to Monroe—who was opposing the Constitution at
that point, by the way, although he was eventually President—and I have
always taken him to mean that there wasn't room for any other
sovereignty after the Constitution was adopted in 1788.

Now, the question that that leads to is precisely the question of the
conquered people justification for the status of the Indian tribes to which
you alluded in your remarks. So far as I can see, on the grounds that have
been presented, there is no other place in which to locate this inherent
sovereignty in association with the plenary power of Congress, which is to
say the Government of the United States, than in the justification that
you're dealing with a conquered people. So that as long as you retain the
argument that the Indians are to be treated as conquered peoples in a
permanent state of occupation, if you will, then you can still talk about
their preexisting sovereignty and the relationship that that preexisting
sovereignty has to subjection.

But the question is—I shouldn’t say question; I'd even draw the
conclusion that seems to be totally incompatible with the guarantees and
rights of American citizenship. It seems that it’s not just a tension, as has
been said with respect to Martinez and other decisions, but it's an
incompatibility, utterly and completely, that there is no room for a form of
government other than F-deral, State, or local. There may be room for
statehood. And after all, you were put in the position at the BIA of making
decisions of forms of government and constitutions which are extremely
political decisions, and, as we know, the Constitution entrusts those
decisions to Congress with respect to the organization of territories in
general.

So the strain scems to come from taking this highly charged political
decision and placing it in the hands of a bureaucracy rather than at the
level that it was contemplated from the beginning of the republic in the
hands of Congress, allow people to present our constitution, to organize
themselves into a State, and having done so, then to allow Congress to
debate whether they should be admitted on those terms, which means you
would still have the opportunity for self-determination within reason, and
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at the same time would stand on the same footing as all other elements of
American life.

That’s the conclusion that comes to my mind listening to and thinking
about these things, and 1 wanted to share that with you because it might be
totally consistent with your idea that the Bureau of Indian Affairs
shouldn't exist at all.

MR. SWIMMER. Well, we reach the same conclusion, although I'm not
sure it's for the same reason.

The relationship pre-Constitution was treating Indian tribes as nations
and actually having treaties with the then-occupying European countries.

Following the Constitution, I would say that the analogy between an
Indian tribal government and a State government became very similar, that
the courts generally have determined that the powers of Indian tribes as
they relate to the Federal Government come out of the commerce clause,
which is also the one that vests certain powers of the Federal Government
over States in regulating commerce, Article I, section 8, and that the actual
analogy is that once the Constitution was adopted by the citizens of those
various States, even though Indian people at the time were not voting,
they were n.-luded in that Constitution to be recognized as a government
within this Federal system, subject to the ultimate power of the
Constitution, just as States would be, and in fact—well, States gave up
certain powers to the Federal Government but only what they agreed to
give up. Indian tribes, on the other hand, had certain powers taken away
from them by the conquering effect, I suppose, of the government. But
they were included in the Constitution and continued to have independent
treaties made between these tribal governments and the United States
Government until the late 1800s.

So there had to be some recognition of a certain sovereign aspect of
those Indian tribes. Those treaties eventually changed to acts of Congress,
not to have any less effect but primarily because once the treatymaking
power required the approval of both houses because of the appropriations
requirement on the House side, it got to be an exercise that was no longer
needed, and so they could change the acts of Congress, which they did in
the late 1800s.

But the courts then have come back and generally said that those Indian
tribes’ sovereignty stops at the U.S. Constitution. It stops there. And it is
subject to the Constitution of the United States and the plenary power of
Congress. But other than that, we recognize Indian tribal government as a
system of government within this country, within a State. And the closest
analogy would be a State government. And the courts have more and
more in the last 5 or 10 years, in fact, come to regard tribal government on
a par with State government—taxation, enforcement of State regulatory
laws or nonenforcement of them on reservations. The trappings, if you
will, of government have been afforded tribal government.
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COMMISSIONER ALLEN. Without the 14th amendment, a very critical

MRr. SwiMMER. Without the 14th amendment.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. It does seem like, in my colleague’s education
of me in some of these matters, that if we go back to Federalist 10, written
by Madison who warned us about factions, we might want to understand
that factions are the order of the day, and do we not consider Indian tribes
as a part of the faction? And without the protections of the 14th
amendment, it seems to me that what we are doing is a kind of a selective
inclusion of people where due process is absent.

I cannot tell you, Mr. Swimmer, how much I heard from people in
Flagstaff and in Rapid City, which you probabl:' heard—and I would
remind you that I had a dialogue with Mr. Garreau who said to me very
clearly that in the sense of Madison, that’s a faction within a faction, in
saying that the Indian Civil Rights Act really only applies to the tribal
council. I mean this is an admission on the record. And that bothers me.

My colleague very eloquently pointed out in Arizona that what we
really have here in terms of factions is the people who have power, not
including those who don’t have any power. So is Congress really dealing
with a powerful faction with the tribal council, or are we dealing with
Indian nations as a whole?

I contend that where we are right now is that we are really dealing with
tribal councils and perhaps the special interest groups in and out of that
that deal with tribal councils. And as Sam Irvin said way back in 1968
when he had a discussion about the ICRA, what we are having now is
really a response to a politically powerful minority in this country, and we
are doing things that perhaps exceed, if you will, and as my colleague, Mr.
Destro says, maybe narrowing the 14th amendment, but we are not really
making the 14th amendment applicable to this situation. And that troubles
me. I'm not looking for an answer, but my colleague’s comments spur on
these kinds of thoughts.

And if we continue to have this faction, I don’t know where to put the
blame for all this except at the foot of Congress. I certainly cannot put it at
the foot of the BIA.

MR. SWIMMER. Thank you.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Although you have your problems, somehow I
have to put this there. And it does seem to me that anything the Congress
wants to know, as I said in my opening remarks, about the 20 years of
nonoversight, that if there is any wisdom left among many of us who are
not Members of Congress, then Congress would do well to heed the
testimony we have heard from top to bottom and look very seriously at
how it is going to treat, if you will, its citizens. Because if not, frankly, I see
no difference between sovereignty and servitude in a sense. And this is a
very, very serious matter, and I think it needs to be considered in that light.
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And with that, I will turn to my colleague, Mr. Destro, unless you have
some response.

MR. SWIMMER. | hesitate to engage in too lengthy a response. I think
sometimes we have to relate to what we see and hear and then attempt to
fit that into a frame of reference. I believe what you have seen and heard
does form those impressions and would in anybody's mind.

The problems we face in Indian country, however, have been the
attempts by Congress and the later attempts by the courts to recognize
tribal government for the purpose of doing just the opposite, of giving
Indian people a forum which they have been denied in the past by State
government. And where the State governments have generally failed to
afford those same civil rights and those same treaty rights that had been
afforded by Congresses before, the tribal governments have been a voice in
that arena to state that they are, on behalf of the whole of the Indian
community, representing those rights.

I think there are two levels that we operate, and that’s why in my
opening statement 1 mentioned to you that we can take any facet of the
Indian community, be it the enforcement of civil rights or the enforcement
of fishing treaty rights, or the development of energy resources from the
reservation or the education of Indian people, and find things that need to
be fixed or changed or wtlatever, which applies, quite frankly, to the 50
States and the Federal Government.

The question you ask, I guess, is: is there an inherent right to tribal
government? Is there an inherent right to the people of a particular
location to come together and form a government within this Federal
system and State system of governments? And I believe that question gets
answered by the courts.

The Congress has deferred on this and said—well, they haven’t said
anything, but the courts have indicated that there is the right of those
people to come together and have a tribal government for the purpose of
protecting their rights and being an advocate—in fact, some tribal
governments we have today were even recognized for the purpose only of
bringing a suit against the Federal Government to enforce a treaty right. In
other words, they came together as an organizing group for that purpose
alone, and then it later evolved by various actions of court into a full-
fledged tribal government.

So I say to you that these areas are difficult to understand, and at
different levels tribal government may operate for different reasons—not
all make sense.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. I guess a part of my continuing concern is that
it is very clear to me that there is a big difference in language results and
performance results. And I think the language of the Congress and the
language of self-determinism becomes one part. But when one looks at the
performance as a result of that language, we do have a tremendous
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difference. If we recognize that as a difference, I'm hoping that at some
point in reviewing the record the Congress will clearly come to the
conclusion that something needs to be done to protect the rights of all
Indians.

Bob.

ComMMISSIONER DESTRO. I only have one question, because our role is
limited to looking at the ICRA. It seems to me that all the talk about self-
determination is certainly relevant in the sense—that’s why I pointed out at
the beginning that my own view is that 1 don’t think Martinez is the
problem. I think Martinez is a symptom of Congress’ unwillingness to come
to grips with what precisely ought to be the role of Indian tribal
government. I for one am a very strong supporter of the notion that they
ought to have self-determination with respect to how they run their own
affairs, subject to the overall rights that all Americans have as citizens.
Now, how those are to be translated on the reservation is another question.

I suppose my question would be: as this administration ends and we go
into a new one, what would you suggest that a new administration do or
that the Congress do to assure some consideration of the more fundamental
question of what role Indian tribal government should play, and what
rights individual Indians have in it? Are there any concrete proposals that
you would make with respect to it?

Congress thought they had spoken on the issue when they passed the
ICRA, and they thought they had imposed the rules. The Federal courts
say the tribes enforce the rules. The BIA says they can’t enforce the rules
or shouldn’t enforce the rules. And what we are left with is those who are
supposed to enforce the rules not being quite sure what they are supposed
to do. What would you suggest Congress do or a new administration do to
make things a little clearer?

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Since Washington policy is never settled but
always in flux.

MR. SWIMMER. I'm not sure that I feel comfortable in recommending
Congress do anything. 1 would suggest, though, that they could do a
couple of things that I mentioned earlier—ensure an appellate system of
some kind is out there, give ultimate access to a Federal court on appeal if
that person just feels that they have not been given their civil rights.

My concern, however, about piecemeal action—and I say *‘piecemeal” if
you're dealing with the Civil Rights Act—is that it does go much deeper
than that. If you have people on a reservation that cannot read and write,
they do not know what their civil rights are. They don’t even know where
to go to say they have been violated.

The mention was made earlier about why don’t you put this provision in
a contract. Who is going to read that contract? Frankly, nobody on the
reservation will, and probably not most of the tribal council. Whoever
happens to be charged with administering the contract probably will.
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The purpose is to get notice, to get education, to get Indian people in a
position where they are protecting their civil rights. I cannot do that for
them. If a person’s civil rights are being violated, they must know that and
that they have a remedy. And then if we talk about remedies, that can be at
various levels.

To address the problem, however, with ICRA solely, it means
improvement of the court systems on the reservation. It means opportuni-
ties to get into another forum, to be assured of independence of the forum.
And I just would not have much more in the way of offering solutions than
that.

I might add that there is no one living on a reservation today that las to
live there. There is no law that says anyone must live under the constraints
of the Red Lake Tribal Council. They are free to move about anypiace in
this country. And once they leave the jurisdiction of that tribe, they have
no more responsibility to it nor the tribe to them, in most cases.

So you're dealing with issues of jurisdiction over where people live and
that have subjected themselves to a particular tribal government, and the
laws that only apply to a tribal government. They are not denied, of
course, the forums for their general civil rights, non-Indian civil rights.
That law was passed to help ensure that Indian tribes, which are governing
a particular piece of land and over Indians, would have to give Indians
access to some justice from that tribe.

But that is not the only protection. As Mr. Keep mentioned earlier, once
you get out of that forum, there are some opportunities to get into the
larger Bill of Rights/civil rights type of operations of the Federal
Government.

So this act was passed because the Congress perceived a void in this
particular instance of where there is a jurisdictional vacuum.

I guess 1 would suggest one other thing that has come up in various
hearings. That is, there is not a clear understanding in Indian country of
who has jurisdiction. And this has been particularly grievous in Oklahoma
as a result of some court decisions just recently that absolutely have
confused the issue 50 much that we have a sheriff who virtually has to, first
of all, identify if the piece of land is somehow in trust or restricted; who
has commiitted the crime beforehand, whether they were white, Indian, or
otherwise; whether the crime was committed against Indian or non-Indian;
and the range of crime—it could be a misdemeanor or a felony—and then
whether or not he has to call the marshall to go out to investigate the
crime. So the whole thing has to be tried and prosecuted before he ever
makes an arrest, or he might find himself sued for violating his oath of
office.

This is ludicrous, and this is an area that I think Congress must deal with,
and they must make it clear on reservations and in Indian country that the
law is going to be either tribal law, State law, or Federal law for
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everybody, and not say, “If you're part Indian”—and we don't know
which part, but if it's less than this or more than that, and that kind of
thing—

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Try 1/32nd for us in Louisiana,

MRr. SWIMMER. Or 1/1024th Cherokee.

That is an area that should be cleared up. !nstead, Congress has simply
deferred to the courts, and the courts are trying these cases issue by issue,
and they come up with law that is across the board. We absolutely cannot
tell you for sure what the jurisdiction is out there on the reservations.

So in addition to the civil rights, I throw that in gratuitously, that that is
an area that the Congress could deal with, and I think deal effectively
with, and they have simply deferred to the courts and refused to deal with
it, primarily because tribal lesdership doesn’t want them to, in my opinion.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. I'm not so sure that we're going to find relief
from that situation because occasionally Congress decides to do things and
needs an interpretation of the courts, which almost makes the courts a
secondary legislative body in many respects.

Mr. Swimmer, I really want to thank you and your staff for coming over
this morning and spending this time with us. If you have anything else that
you'd like to send us, it would be fine. We will probably have one or two
questions that we might submit to you in writing later on, but because of
your budget problems and our budget problems, it might take a little bit
more time than we imagine to finalize the record.

Again, thank you very much, and we appreciate your time.

MR. SWIMMER. Thank you.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. We'll take a break and convene at 1:15 rather
than 1 o’clock, and we will move on in the afternoon with R. Dennis Ickes.

[Recess.)

Afternoon Session

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Mr. Ickes, why don’t you have a seat and we'll
begin with you. Before you sit down, let me swear you in.

[(R. Dennis Ickes was sworn.]

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. I forgot one thing for the record earlicr, and I
cannot make the assumption, Counsel, that Mr. Keep was here under oath.
We did not swear him in because he came in late, and I'm not so sure [
know how to handle that. But I need to mention that for the record,
becsuse if something comes up later, we need to know that is the case.

Mr. Ickes, the floor is yours.

TESTIMONY OF R. DENNIS ICKES, FORMER DEPUTY UNDER
SECRETARY, DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR
Mr. Ickes. Thank you.
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Members of the Commission, my name is Dennis Ickes. I'm appearing
here today at your invitation. I have submitted to you a written statement,
but rather than read that into the record, I will submit it for the record and
ask that you receive it, and then comment with respect to some of the
highlights and to offer you an opportunity to ask any questions relative to
the subject today.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. It is so ordered, sir, without objection.

[The document was entered into the record as exhibit no. 7.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. By the way, Mr. Destro will be late so we are
not missing anyone. He mentioned he would be late coming back.

MR. ICKES. I was present this morning when testimony was provided by
Mr. Swimmer and other members of the Department of the Interior,
Bureau of Indian Affairs, and I believe what Mr. Swimmer has stated has
been the consistent policy in the Department of the Interior from the time
that I've had any familiarity whatsoever with that Department.

I served in the Department of Justice from 1971 to 1976 and had a lot of
dealings with the Department of the Interior, and then in 1976 to 1977 I
was the Deputy Under Secretary of the Interior and responsible for many
of the matters to which Mr. Swimmer was addressing. I can say in the last
10 years there has been no change in that the primary mission of the
Department of the Interior, the primary mission of the Bureau of Indian
Affairs, has been to strengthen tribal governments.

Since 1934 that has been the principal objective, and they have done that
very well. The powers of tribal government have been returned in varying
degrees of strength, and the BIA can be applauded for trying not to
abrogate their mission. The BIA, of course, is a creature of Congress, and
the ultimate problem and the ultimate solution, I think, lies at the door of
Congress.

For that reason, I'd like to cover a couple of points here about the BIA
and its role as you have asked, and note that the BIA is really tribe
oriented; it is not individual oriented. That is not its mission. And as I
perceive this Commission’s responsibility, it is to be individual oriented.

I think one of the interesting features about our Constitution that was
discussed to some degree this morning, about the powers of tribal
governments—I think Mr. Swimmer described that accurately, but I'd like
to point out one additional thing. That is, the 10th amendment to the
Constitution reserves to the people of the United States sovereign powers.
Those powers not specifically delegated to the Congress or to the national
government or reserved to States are reserved for the people. So each of us
as citizens of the United States has sovereignty. We have a level of
sovereignty.

However, in the context of an Indian reservation or Indian tribe, there is
no individual sovereignty, so to speak, with respect to an Indian tribe, as a
member of that tribe. So an Indian person on a reservation has retained
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sovereignty with respect to the United States Government, with respect to
the State government in which they reside, but with respect to the tribe,
they have no retained sovereignty. All power of sovereignty resides in the
tribe. It's a little different than the Constitution.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Excuse me, just to be clear. All power resides
in the tribe?

MR. IckEs. That's correct, subject to the plenary power of Congress, of
course.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. But who are you describing as the tribe if there
are no individual rights?

MR. Ickes. I think that’s the point.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. You mean the tribal council as such?

MR. ICKES. As a practical matter, it resides with tribal council by virtue
of the fact that there is no separation of powers, that all power emanates
from the tribal council or tribal business committee or whatever the
legislative body is. There may be some exceptions to that, but as a general
rule that would be true. All power resides in the tribal council, and you
can conclude from that that no power resides in the individual except to
the extent that Congress does that.

Congress attempted to do that in 1968 by its enactment of the Indian
Civil Rights Act. However, through a defect which the U.S. Supreme
Court discovered 10 years after the act had been implemented through
every circuit court in the country, they detected that Congress failed to do
some of the technicalities to, in fact, give these rights and powers to the
individual persons coming within the jurisdiction of the tribe.

So for the last 10 years we have the situation where it has been at the
total discretion of the tribes as to whether or not meaningful civil rights
will be acknowledged on the reservation. Some tribes have done an
excellent job in doing that. I can cite you some tribes, and I saw some of
them here today. But there are many other instances which I think are
reflected by the testimony you uncovered in Rapid City, South Dakota,
and in Flagstaff, and there are many that you don’t have the stories of that
1 could recite for you that demonstrate that tribes have not uniformly done
this.

So it has to go back to Congress, and the Congress has to do that which
it unsuccessfully attempted to do in 1968.

However, what happens in the interim period of time? As we know,
history shows that Congress does not act real rapidly, and quite frankly,
there is not a real what you'd call hue and cry in this country for civil
rights for persons residing on a reservation. There have been no
demonstrations on the streets of Washington. There have not been any
petitions submitted to the Congress. There has not been any great outcry.
It’s only been by the fact that this Commission has had the wisdom to

43

43



acknowledge that there is something out there we ought to look at that
anything has been uncovered.

For that reason, I think it’s going to be this Commission that is going to
initiste and prod Congress into doing anything at all. For that reason, I
would urge this Commission in its report to the Congress to point out that
there are no meaningful rights except at the discretion of tribal councils,
and there is an inconsistent record among tribal governments in the
implementation of that act. And there are numerous situations where there
is a total disavowal of any waiver of sovereign immunity for the
implementation of that act. And some people will rely upon the Martinez
case as being the support that they have that, and there are some very good
lawyers in this country who advise their clients to that effect.

So 1 think it’s only Congress who can resolve it, but then there is a space
of time here before it ever gets to Congress, before your report is ever
written, and before recommendations are made, so somebody has to do
something. The Bureau’s testimony, as I heard it this morning, was,
“That’s not our job, either.”

So there’s a real, real void here that is not being addressed by the
Congress or by the executive branch or by the Indian tribes themselves.

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. Let me interrupt for a second and have you
explain this a little .more clearly to me. You have invoked the 10th
amendment, and you could have mentioned the 9th, too, reserved rights
and powers.

MR. Ickes. Right.

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. And you indicate that those do not operate on
reservations.

MR. IckEs. That’s correct.

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. What I want to know then is: in what way is it
possible to call people who live on reservations American citizens?

I'll give you a specific example. Take a case like Roe v. Wade. It is
conceivable than an Indian tribe would make the decision that it forbids all
abortions, for any reason whatever. You are saying, then, that that decision
could be enforced against these people on the reservations in spite of Roe
v. Wade, and I'm asking you in that case in what way would you call those
people American citizens?

MR. Ickes. You ask a good question.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. We kind of beat around the bush around here.

[Laughter.]

MR. ICKES. American Indians are citizens by virtue of various acts of
Congress. | think Mr. Swimmer referred to the 1901 act that made Indians
in Oklshoma citizens. The 1924 act made Indians citizens in the event they
got passed over in any other previous act. So there is no question
whatsoever—and the case law is very clear. In fact, I argued the very first
case in this country relative to the Voting Rights Act on Indian
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reservations relative to Apache County, Arizona, and the point I made was
that Indian people are citizens of the United States, citizens of the States in
which they reside, and they have all the rights, duties, and responsibilities
relative to that when they are within the jurisdiction of the United States
and the jurisdiction of those particular States.

However, on the reservation, then it becomes a unique set of laws
relative to the Federal law and Indian law that starts breaking down
Federal statutes into those of general application, which are intended to
apply to every person in the United States, and those which perhaps could
be construed as being uniquely including Indians or uniquely excluding
Indians.

So any time that the Federal statute—let’s take, for example, the wildlife
statutes, the preservation of endangered species and things of this nature.
That is a common controversy as to were those statutes of general
application and therefore Indians who observe certain religiots ceremonies
using parts of those protected birds or whatever—and 0 in the reservation
context, some of these Federal statutes aren’t necessarily clear.

I hate to use Roe v. Wade as the best example of the situation, but I can
probably sufficiently dance around your question to say that there are a
number of Federal statutes that may have special exceptions to them or
may be construed as to not apply because of certain treaties of the United
States with Indian tribes and 3o on. I don’t know of any treaty of the
United States that would carve out an exception for the Roe v. Wade type
of situation. However, you might be able to say that for certain tribal
religious reasons there might be some kind of exception found. So who
knows what it would be?

CoMMISSIONER ALLEN. Historically, the United States has refused to
accept the notion of dual citizenship. Only recently have some changes in
that been made. And the presumption is that in doing so they were also
refuting the notion of dual sovereignty, for all practical purposes, so that
you couldn’t be a British citizen and an American citizen at the same time.
You could not have two nations who were sovereign over the same

What you are saying, then, if 1 understand you correctly, is that the
historical claims of the United States are refuted by the historical practice
with the Indians. So the Indian is an American citizen off the reservation;
on the reservation the Indian is not an American citizen, except they are
allowed to vote by some quirk; right?

MR. Ickes. Well, not exactly. 1 wouldn’t call it “by some quirk.” There
is a Gaza strip, 30 to speak, in Indian affairs, Indian policy, relative to the
national citizenship issue. It is not a clear area of law, which I think you are
finding as you have dealt with this area.

I would not say that Indians are not citizens of the United States by
virtue of being born on the reservation. I would say they very much are.
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Judicial interpretations make it very clear that Federal laws do apply on
the reservation even with respect to those endangered species kinds of
issues that 1 referred to earlier.

So it is not currect to say they are not a citizen while they are on the
reservation. It's just that there is a special set of laws that come into play
by virtue of their membership in an Indian tribe or by virtue of their
location within an enclave, if you want to call it that, a special type of
Federal enclave that is given recognition as having special sets of laws
apply. And it may not necessarily please everybody that that is the case,
but it certainly has been the interpretation of the Supreme Court of the
United States, and it has certainly been the policy of the Congress, and it
has certainly been the policy of numerous administrations for as long as 1
can remember in my relatively young life.

So it makes a good point to discuss and debate, but I think as a fact of
law today, citizenship is very much recognized, but there are a special set
of laws that apply to it.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. | am a little fascinated by some parts of your
written statement.

Commissioner Allen and 1 were talking the other day by phone, and the
more [ listen to the discussion of BIA, I am intrigued by the notion that
there is great similarity between the BIA, if you will, and the Freedmen’s
Bureau, and the need for predominantly Anglo government to protect the
rights of its citizens.

In US v. Kagama in 1886, there was some discussion that the reason
why we did a lot of these things was the Indian tribes needed the
protection of the United States Government to protect them from hostile
non-Indians. There was some need to have this intervention with the
Freedmen'’s Bureau to counteract the black codes that we had after the
Civil War. There is great difference as these things begin to operate.

But I guess what I'm getting at is there seems to be this great language
that we are going to protect the rights of all our people, but in many cases
we do not protect the people’s right to freedom. And in some cases what
we have here in this situation with the ICRA is a body of language put
together, but the way it operates it inhibits people’s freedom even on the
reservation. Today they have more freedom off the reservation than they
have cn. That could be a question mark.

How do you feel sbout that? Are these things really protecting or are
they inhibiting the rights of people?

MR. Ickes. They are doing nothing at all. They are doing nothing at all
because there is no enforcement mechanism as a part of the statute.
Personally, I thought it was there. The Supreme Court interpreted it to
that effect, and therefore I accepted the Supreme Court’s ruling. My
suggestion to you is that that must be overcome by a meaningful
enforcement mechanism.
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And I would say, in addition to that, that I would hope that would be
done in the context of recognizing tribal sovereignty, of strengthening and
enhancing tribal sovereignty and tribal government to be able to do that;
but that they be compelled to do that, that is no longer left to their absolute
discretion as to whether or not they are going to do that. And I can cite
exmpleaﬁeremplewheretheducmnemphmzedmfavorofthe

CHAIINANPBNDLB‘I‘ON My only comment before turning to counsel is
I find great dissimilarity in the rush, Commissioner Allen, for Congress to
overturn the Supreme Court’s decision in Grove City, and the nonrush to
overturn Martinez as it begins to protect the rights of people and
institutions. I think in the case of Grove City, institutional rights were to be
protected, and the right to be able to decide that institution’s future devoid
of Federal funds.

Here we have this tremendous influx of Federal dollars going to
reservations, if you will, but there is no rush to make those dollars work.
But in Grove City legislation there is a rush to say, “If you take our money,
you need to take all these Federal regulations along with it.”

In this case the money just pours, and there is nothing on which you
have to sign off assurances or do anything. And I find that, if you will, for
lack of some other term, a great congressional inconsistency but not the
only congressional inconsistency this country faces.

MR. ICKES. And there are explanations for that. They are not good ones,
but there are explanations. Part of it can be attributed to the fact that there
is a general level of poverty on many reservations and there is no ability to
organize and to fight against that kind of situation.

There is also a general perception that you can’t beat city hall, that all
power resides in the tribal council, and if you go up against the tribal
oouncll. you have no power except that which was given to you by city

mtehnbeennogewulmouugementbymbatodothlt.mdthere
is no recourse outside the tribal system. There has been a diminishment of
public funding of public legal defender type services which in the past had
done that kind of thing, and also a general reluctance on their part to do
that.

There is a lack of understanding by our Congress, by the Senators and
Congressmen from the large States, where political power does reside.
And they don't relate to it. We might relate to it out here in Utah; we
might relate to it in South Dakota and Montana and Arizona and New
Mezxico and 30 on, but we can’t relate to it in New York or California so
much or to Florida or Texas where there are no issues affecting those
particular persons.

And | think there is a perception by Congress that tribes represent the
people, and therefore when the tribes come in to interact with the
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Congress, they represent the people. And they do. But when there is no
reserved sovereignty in individuals in the same way—and 1 refer again to
the 10th amendment where U.S. citizens—Indian, non-Indian, or whatev-
er—have retained sovereignty vis-a-vis the Federal Government and vis-a-
vis the States, then you have power. But in the reservation context, the
people have not retained power except for the power to vote for the tribal
council, and that has not resulted in a reciprocal flow of rights back to the

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. As | move to counsel, I just want to thank you,
Mr. Ickes, for that outstanding testimony you gave us in Flagstaff. Do not
think because there were not a lot of questions that that was not very
powerful testimony. I think you should be resigned to the fact that what
you presented was voluminous and complete enough that there weren't a
lot of questions one needed to ask. So 1 want to thank you now for that
testimony. It opened up a lot of avenues of interest to us.

MRn. Ickes. Thank you.

MR. MILLER. Mr. Ickes, how did the Martinez decision change the role
of the Department of the Interior?

Mnr. ICKES. Well, let me give you a little history here. From 1973 to
approximately 1978, there was an Office of Indian Rights in the
Department of Justice of which 1 was a Deputy Director and later the
Director. It was perceived in the executive branch that that particular
office in Justice would be responsible for enforcing the Indian Civil Rights
Act, and I think there was a recognition on the other side of town, over
there at the Department of the Interior, that they would be responsible for
strengthening tribal governments and so on, and through the government-
to-government relationships, etc.

However, since the Martinez decision, the enforcement arm of the
executive branch has been in essence wiped out. The continued tribal
advocacy and the strengthening process continued to go on. Tribes
continued to be strengthened, supported, and maintained, but the rights of
individuals lost a voice, and as a result there has not been any meaningful
activity.

As I heard the testimony this morning, I would comment that there
really hasn't been any contracts negated as a result of the lack of
enforcement of the Indian Civil Rights Act. I was very curious to hear, on
the one hand, testimony that the Red Lake contract was renewed but in
the context of knowing that there had been a long history of violations.

I've had a long history as well in the civil rights area where I was
involved in civil rights outside of the Indian context in the various States
of this nation, and that certainly wouldn’t have worked outside the Indian
context anyway.

But there has not been any enforcement activity. There have been no
contracts negated as a result of it, and in the review process for the IRA
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tribes of ordinances and constitutional amendments and so on, there have
been none that have been rejected because they violated any bill of rights.
There has not been an effective means of doing it.

And I think probably Mr. Swimmer is correct 10 say that there has been
no mechanism. This government has no mechanism and this people of
individuals has no mechanism to protect those rights.

MR. HOWARD. Mr. Ickes, you mentioned you were Director of the
Office of Indian Rights at the Department of Justice. When was that? In
1978?

MR. IckEes. No, 1973 through 1976.

MR. HOWARD. So you weren't at the Department of Justice at the time
of Martinez?

MR. IckES. | was not. I'll tell you where | was. [ was in the Ninth
Circuit Court of Appeals in San Francisco arguing a case of that circuit
about Patrick Stands Over the Bull out of Montana who was Chairman of
the Crow Tribe, dragged before the entire membership of the Crow Tribe
and stripped of his position as tribal Chairman without notice, without due
process in our opinion. And | was down arguing the violation of the Indian
Bill of Rights when the Martinez case came down. So I remember very
vividly where 1 was in 1978.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Will you tell us more about that? I'm
interested. I think we have all read about that case. What did that do to
your case when it came down in the middle of your—

MR. Ickes. That terminated any potential for redress in the Federal
courts.

Mr. HowarD. How many cases were terminated?

MR. IckES. It would be a wild guess on my part. I assume there were a
large number in the system. I think if you'd review Federal Reporters for
the courts of appeal, you'll find many of them dismissed as a result of
immediately moving to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction. Obviously, a large
number of those in process—well, all of those in process were terminated.

1 had a case in Arizona with the Hualapai Tribe in which the tribal
Chairman and vice chairman had been stripped of their powers by the
tribal council right after Martinez. and I thought I had a unique theory that
perhaps would have distinguished Martinez, but the court held as a flat
edict that there was no jurisdiction under any circumstance in Federal
courts to hear matters involving the Indian Bill of Rights. And that was
after 1 exhausted tribal remedies and had gone through the entire tribal
system.

There is no predictable method for preserving the rights of anybody.

I'd like to add one more point, and that is we are not just talking here
about members of tribes. We are talking about all persons who come
within the jurisdiction of Indian tribes. The Indian Bill of Rights specifies
any person who comes within the jurisdiction of a tribe, of having any
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assurance whatsoever of receiving the benefits of Federal statutes because
it's left to the total discretion of the tribal council whether there are any
rights.

MR. HOWARD. An argument sometimes made is that the Federal courts
pre-Martinez were not sensitive to tribal traditions and culture? Could you
tell us a little bit about some of the decisions rendered while you were at
the Office of Civil Rights at DOJ [Department of Justice]?

MR. Ickes. Well, it’s a little hard to be very specific. I think that is a
legitimate concern by tribes of that, that there is not a sensitivity to it. It’s
been my experience—and 1 have probably the unique situation here of
having looked at this problem from every angle, from the individual's side,
from the tribe's side, from the Federal Government’s side, from the State’s
side. Whichever way you look at it, it comes down to whether it’s fair.
And I would say there were situations where the Federal courts just did
not have an appreciation or understanding of the reservation situation, for
tribal governments or relationships between tribes and their members and
so on.

So I would think any solution needs to be sensitive to the unique nature
of tribes and of their people, but I sure am unable to really specify any
circumstance that I recall with any particularity to be of help to you in
your question.

MR. MILLER. Mr. Ickes, a minute ago you mentioned that there is no
predictable enforcement of Indian civil rights on the reservations. But
before that you said that many tribes had a very good system. Isn’t it unfair
to categorize all the tribes?

MR. ICKES. Absolutely. I think it’s very unfair to categorize all the tribes
in the same lump. I think there has to be a distinction made. But I think the
point is that as a general circumstance, even those tribes that have an
excellent record in civil rights, there is still total discretion. I don’t think
any other system in the United States would stand for the proposition that
if the state in its discretion wants to extend the right to vote or equal
protection or due process and they have a long history of doing so, but
they nonetheless retain the right to withdraw it at any time, you have
much comfort in that. I think it requires Congress to extend it and to
provide a meaningful means for enforcing it. And for those tribes who
have done an excellent job of doinyg it, they will go on doing it. Those who
don’t will have to do it

I don’t think there is any way for Congress to legislate that Tribes A, B,
and C have a special piece of legislation that enforces the statutes but that
Tribes X, Y, and Z don't because they're doing all right, and next year
there’s a new tribal election and X, Y, and Z may not be doing so well.
That’s just not the way to approach the problem. The solution is to make it
a uniform application and require it to be enforced and to provide a
meaningful means for doing so.
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MR. MILLER. A minute ago we were talking about the role of the BIA
and how Martinez affected that role by adding another aspect, that is,
enforcement of individual rights. Do you think it was really fair of the
Supreme Court to put in that footnote 22 and to add that extra
responsibility?

MR. Ickes. Well, I don’t think there was an added responsibility. The
responsibility was there. I think what the Supreine Court was doing was to
acknowledge that responsibility existed and was pointing out that there
exists a method for enforcement, and as a practical matter the Bureau has
not done so.

Again, I think it is perceived by the Bureau that their mission is o
further the tribe’s powers, and that it has not made any kind of priority fo:
seriously enforcing the individual rights that are intended to be protected
by the Indian Bill of Rights.

MR. MILLER. I guess what I'm asking is: does it make sense that the
Bureau has both responsibilities?

MR. ICkEs. Both responsibilities? Yes. When I say “yes,” | want to
qualify it by saying that the Bureau has limited ability to do that, but under
statute or under regulation. The testimony is that approximately half the
tribes are IRA tribes, and the other half are not. So non-IRA tribes don't
even subject themselves to review by the Secretary, and therefore their
acts can’t even be reviewed. That leaves only the contract situation,
whether 638 or otherwise, in which they may review some act of the tribal
council. But even in that situation they have not done anything of a
significant nature to further civil rights, in my opinion.

MR. MILLER. If you could draft new legislation, would you keep both of
those responsibilities in the Bureau?

MR. ICkEs. Well, I think new legislation should focus on a couple of
things, one of them being to strengthen tribal governments through the
strengthening of the justice system, whether it’s the courts or law
enforcement or whatever, and it’s by financing.

Unfortunately, civil rights on reservations is a luxury, and it’s a luxury
because there has not been Congress backing up the ‘68 act with any
meaningful appropriations to extend it. And so I think any legislation has
to include that. It is not reasonable for anyone to expect a tribe to divert its
energies and its financial resources from survival, in many cases housing
and the essential need for keeping a roof over your head and food in your
mouth, to a civil rights issue. If I were given that choice, 1 would go with
the food and the housing and 30 on and so forth. And that is basically what
the tribes have done. They do not have the luxury of extending civil rights
to their members even if they want to in those instances, because there has
not been the appropriation available to do the job and do it right.

In our Federal system, we have that so-called luxury in the sense that
Congress has been very generous in whatever the courts need to operate,
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to give right of counsel, and whatever else is afforded to them. In the State
context, it is mandated as well. It is almost an entitlement. However, in the
reservation context, there is no entitlement from the tribe, and there is no
entit’ement given in essence by the Congress. So it’s a luxury that cannot
be afforded unless Congress does it for them.

Mr. MILLER. | have no further questions.

Mr. HOwARD. Just one question. You mentioned that some tribal
governments have excellent support systems, yet you are concerned about
those systems as well because there are potential systemic problems
mentioned by Chairman Pendleton in his opening remarks.

Could you describe those excellent systems? What tribes are we talking
about, and do they have the systemic problems Chairman Pendleton was
referring to?

MRn. IckEes. I hesitate to give an exclusive list. I'd like to refer to the
Colorado River for two reasons. One is that 1 am familiar with it; secondly,
they are here in this room—or were this morning, at least. But 1 think they
have taken it seriously, and I think they are an example of where they have
used their own resources to try and do that.

Also bear in mind that they have been endowed, 30 to speak, with
resources by which they could do that. But you take a small tribe, like
Cocopah, or you take a small tribe, rancheria in California or a small tribe
in the State of Washington or a small tribe anywhere, or even a large tribe
that might be quite poor in their abilities to provide these kinds of—call it
luxury. Through no fault of their own in some instances—they may want
to do it, but where is the money?

So I'm not here to condemn tribes as institutions. I'm here to say that
there is not the means to keep them in a proper balanced relationship with
their own tribal members or in balance with persons who are there as their
guests or who live there. I refer, for example, to my own State of Utah on
the Ute Reservation where the ratio of nonmembers to members is eight to
one. And we have a situstion where many non-Indians don’t have the
protection of the United States Constitution or the State constitution and
are dependent totally, or for the most part at least, upon tribal councils’
willingness to extend those rights to them.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. That gets back to Commissioner Allen’s point
earlier.

Mz. HOWARD. You had testified about that at Flagstaff, and you are
here today wearing your hat as a former BIA or Department of Interior
official. But I wonder if there had been any developments with respect to
that issue.

MR. ICkEs. Well, the only development in that regard has been that it’s
still status quo. The tribal boundaries still incorporate a very large area, &
ratio of eight-to-one nonmembers, a lot of uncertainty. I think there is a
desire by both parties to try to get something worked out, but it’s still
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going to take an act of Congress in order to make it effective for any
period of time at all.

So that condition exists. That condition exists in other parts of the
Nation. So I think it is important for this Commission to be aware that
we’re not just talking about Indian persons or tribal members; we're talking
about all persons who come within the boundaries of the reservation.

It is in the tribes’ best interest, and it’s not politically popular among the
tribes, but I think when it is analyzed and it is seen as Federal dollars
diminish to support tribal governments and to support their programs,
there is going to be a greater dependence on outside help through private
enterprise or whatever. One of the critical preconditions for outside
persons to come in with enterprise is whether or not there is a fair set of
laws in place. And I think this will enhance tribal ability to attract
economic development by having the Indian Bill of Rights be effective to
assure people who do business there that they do have a remedy.

I can speak to you from personal experience from another thing I have
done. I was representing a business in relations with tribes, and that is a
concern to business, to subject themselves to some of these things without
there being rights attached to them.

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. Mr. Chairman, I'd like to make a brief
observation and then ask a question to which there can be only a formal
response. | realize time is very precious now.

My observation is that I conclude from much of what Mr. Ickes has said
that in his opinion there is a conflict of interest, at least metaphorically if
not actually, at the BIA which goes a long way to explain some of the
difficulties in our expecting the BIA to be an enforcement agency for the
ICRA. That is, as I interpret both his written and oral testimony, that
question has been raised.

The question I have, after that observation but not related to it, stems
from the fact that I have heard many people talk about the ICRA in terms
of some prospective change by Congress. And also I have heard them talk
about the status of the law as a result of Martinez and other decisions and
practices turning around that, including Indian tribes, referring to the
decision as having somehow invested them with a certain kind of authority
with respect to civil rights.

Everyone has asked 30 far for a reformulation of the law or new laws. 1
want to ask the question, to which a formal answer will suffice for the
moment, whether Mr. Ickes has given any thought at all to, simply, the
repeal of the ICRA, that is, insofar as the Court’s opinion seems to turn
ICRA into a rather positive statement about the relationship between the
Indian tribes and constitutional rights, would it possibly be effective to get
the law back on ground one and give us a chance to start over simply to
advocate the repeal of ICRA?
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Ma. IckEes. Well, I don’t know about a repeal. You might want to start
from the ground and then build a whole new law.

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. | wanted to ask if you had ever thought about
that as a possibility. That's why I only wanted a formal response.

MR. ICkES. Okay.

CoMMISSIONER ALLEN. Have you ever thought about merely repealing
ICRA?

MRr. IckEs. Not if it would not be replaced by something that extended
rights. If you were saying to repeal it and replace it with nothing, I think it
would be a terrible mistake.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. What'’s the difference?

MR. Ickes. | know what you’re saying. It’s not enforced or there is no
means to enforce it, but at least it makes a statement.

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. I believe, Mr. Ickes, you have made some
arguments in voting rights in other cases which stand on the grounds of the
Constitution. And I believe the present interpretation of ICRA closes the
door to some of those constitutional interpretations you have used before,
and presumably, therefore, repeal of ICRA will open those doors,
theoretically if not actually.

MRr. IckEs. I do not think so. I think because of the unique nature of
Indian tribes, courts will continue to interpret the absence of that act as
being that Congress has withdrawn totally from interfering with tribal
relationships with their own members. It will not take the 13th or the 14th
or the 15th amendments or the United States Constitution and supplant it
for it.

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. Mr. Chairman, I think that describes our
problem very well.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Commissioner Allen, without any elucidation,
you are absolutely right, in my opinion.

Mr. Ickes, thank you very much for your testimony.

Mnr. Icxes. Thank you.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. We will now have Mr. Lutz and Mr. Arnold.

[William L. Lutz and Jerome G. Arnold were sworn.]

TESTIMONY OF WILLIAM L. LUTZ, UNITED STATES
ATTORNEY, NEW MEXICO, AND JEROME G. ARNOLD,
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY, MINNESOTA

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Do you gentlemen have statements you’d like
to make to us before we begin to have some discussion?

MR. Lutz. Mr. Chairman, | submitted a written statement.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Would you like to summarize it?

M. LuTz. With the time limitations, if it’s agreeable with you, I'd be
agreeable to submitting that without summarizing it as such. I would state
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that those are my personal opinions and positions. They are not formal
positions of the Department of Justice.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. 1 understand.

Your statement will be included in the record.

(The document was entered into the record as exhibit no. 8.)

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. And you, Mr. Arnold, do you want to make an
opening statement?

MR. ARNOLD. Perhaps I can just make a few comments. Because 1 was
just contacted yesterday with reference to appearing before the Commis-
sion, | have not had an opportunity to prepare something in writing. I did
send to your counsel numerous documents as backup material on the Red
Lake situation in Minnesota. To the extent that those documents would be
available on a Freedom of Information Act request, perhaps I and counsel
can go over those and you can put those in the record later. There are
some documents that weren’t well screened, and they were really provided
for counsel as background information.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. This Commission takes those as you have
described them, and until you and counsel can have some discussion they
are considered to be, if you will, attorney-client privileged documents.

MR. ARNOLD. Thank you.

In reference to the situation on Red Lake in Minnesota, and for that
matter the reservations as a whole in Minnesota, the right-to-counsel issue,
which is well documented, or the denial of such on the Red Lake Tribes, in
my opinion is not really the most egregious conduct that occurs on the
Indian reservations, even though fundamentally the denial of the right to
counsel is very important.

You have heard here today, just in the short period of time I've been
here, different statements made by different individuals in this area.
Everyone has a varying opinion as to what the law is, the status of it, what
might be accomplished. And let me say, as Mr. Lutz did, that my opinions
are my own, and to the extent they vary from Department of Justice
policy, they are mine.

Much has been said by Commissioner Allen about the right of
citizenship, and 1 think the last speaker here really hit down to it, that
really what we are talking about is not citizenship rights; we are really
talking about geography.

There are certain areas in this country, most of them remote, where
there are no constitutional rights for people, whether they be white, black,
Indian. They are geographically located. They are called Indian reserva-
tions. In all of the rest of the country we have documents or we have
constitutions; we have protection of minorities against the majority.

On Indian reservations the majority—and 1 will assume that in most
cases the tribal government is the majority—have, in the areas where I
have watched, very little respect even for very fundamental rights of the

35

55



people who traverse that geographical area. Most of these areas are
impoverished. They are high unemployment areas. So if you are on what |
call the insiders, you have employment, you have friends, you are treated
well. You have food on the table; you have housing. If you are what I call
the outsiders or the minority, things vary. They vary drastically. There is a
double standard—and it varies. It may be the basic tenet of being free from
harassment by law enforcement officers.

The suggestion this moming by someone that if you didn’t like the
Indian reservation you could leave, to me that is horrendous. It is the type
of thing wherein if in Minnesota we decided to deny everyone constitu-
tional rights, they could move over to Wisconsin. And I suppose that I, as
a lawyer, could do such, but most of these people have grown up in that
area. They are impoverished. They have no ability to move, nor should
they have to.

Now, in terms of what is available, you have been furnished with
information to the effect that the U.S. attorney’s office pushed the
Department of the Interior or the Bureau of Indian Affairs and the local
Bureau of Indian Affairs office very hard to have included in the contract
that was let for tribal court services on the Red Lake Indian Reservation,
that is now going to the tribe, language appropriate to the enforcement of
the Indian Civil Rights Act.

We were prepared, and still are prepared, to litigate that in the Federal
courts if the tribe doesn’t agree to it and somehow says, “We are entitled to
those funds, and you must give them to us without that language.” I, my
staff, and certain Department of the Interior lawyers are of the opinion
that we would win in the district court and the circuit court.

I do not accept that there aren’t means available right now to enforce
some of these basic tenets, especially wherein the tribe wants to have the
money to carry out these contracts. I don’t know why we expect any less
of tribal governments than we would of State governments.

Just last year, how many States did not like it when the Federal
Government passed a statute—] guess it’s 2 years now—that said if you
want highway funds, you must raise your drinking age to 21. There were a
number of challenges in the courts, and they might still be there. But it was
a precondition of funds.

There is nothing in the Indian legislation as we have researched it—and
we are prepared to litigate it—that suggests that these conditions,
especially given a track record of violations of civil rights, that we would
not win, I don’t think.

Now, the BIA—what is its relationship? I think everyone here knows
that in fact they sre there; they are responsive to tribal governments or
attempt to be responsive to tribal governments. But that is not the end of
their responsibility. To me that’s like if you have a corrupt labor union, the
corrupt labor union comes to the Secretary of Labor and says, “You must
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keep us in office because we are the labor union officials.” Certainly, the
responsibility goes above that.

The Bureau of Indian Affairs has attempted to strengthen tribal
government. Certainly, that is a great goal. But those who have been
strengthened—and there’s been some mention of some people from the
Colorado River Tribe being here—those people have no difficulty in
giving basic civil rights to their people.

Talk about funding here or about the right of counsel. Well, the right of
counsel, even to many non-Indians, is not available in all courts. Sure, it is
if you're going to be incarcerated, but that is of relatively recent vintage.
First of all you had a right to counsel in a capital case, and then a felony,
and it kind of got down to a misdemeanor. It's not too far away from
having the right to counsel now if they're going to take your driver’s
license away and you can’t afford it.

But that is of relatively recent vintage. These aren’t the rights we're
talking about. And we're going to be seeing in the contract areas the
contracting out of law enforcement services.

Put yourself on an Indian reservation with high unemployment. The
person who gets that job is directly responsive to the tribal council or the
Chairman. If he does not do what that tribal council wants him to do, he is
inflicted with what I call economic capital punishment. He loses his
livelihood and everything. I can’t think of a greater control that you can
have over someone. Even the CFR courts, as they are administered by the
BIA, the CFR employees, must get along with local tribal governments
because what happens if they don’t? You don’t get economic capital
punishment, but you do get some economic punishment. You are
transferred.

What kind of system is that? What kind of system is it where the United
States Government transfers an employee because it won't go along with
trampling some citizen’s rights?

And I have got to say that in our State the Red Lake tribal Chairman,
Chairman Jourdain, is a very vocal leader, very aggressive leader. And
that’s not all bad, you know, and I don't think, as 1 sit here today, that I see
any evil purpose in where he is headed. He is strong on tribal autonomy.
And because of the strength of tribal autonomy, he resists any attempts
from the outside, by the Federal Government or elsewhere, to infringe on
that sovereignty. He feels that any attempt to put conditions, as other
bands and tribes do, or waive tribal sovereignty, somehow they lose
autonomy. But it is indeed necessary; it can be donme.

I am prepared to answer any questions that you might have, but before
you ask me questions, you might go to Mr. Lutz in Arizona, and maybe he
can follow up on some of the contract things. I would venture to say that
the State of Minnesota is not alone where we are. We have only one large
‘closed reservation.
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South Dakota, for example, has several—Pine Ridge, Rosebud, Yank-
ton. 1 spent a year out there as a law clerk immediately after law school
and was first exposed to the system in South Dakota. Minnesota’s is a lot
less complicated. Basically, our tribes with the reservations, with the
exception of Red Lake and Boys Fork, are all 280 reservations. We don’t
have all of the problems that are mentioned in Utah, etc. We are without a
lot of those problems. But we still have the basic problem of the fact that
the people who control the employees really have them at risk as to their
entire livelihood.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Do you want to discuss the golden rule, Mr.
Lutz, he who has the gold makes the rules?

Mg. Lutz. You know, I think one of the things—I think it's been
brought out here—is that in dealing with tribal governments, you are
dealing with very diverse groups of individuals, sometimes diverse
cultures. In New Mexico we have two Apache Tribes. We have part of the
Navajo Tribe. We have a number of pueblos. Even among the pueblos
there is great diversity.

You also deal with large differences in sizes. I think the most serious
problems that you see really come into play when there is a dispute
between an individual citizen of the tribe versus tribal government. I think
that is where there are problems in securing redress in the system right
now, when you run into those types of things, or when the tribe determines
it will not give a service or a right as a matter of course. And right now 1
think the individual Indian is in a situation, although he has been declared
by Congress to be a citizen of this country—there are many rights that are
due any other citizen in this country that, frankly, are not given to Indian
citizens.

You have many tribes that very carefully observe those rights, but you
have others that don’t. And I think that’s where the serious concern comes
in, that it’s left to the discretion of the tribe at this point.

My feeling is: why should these people be treated as a separate class
from any other citizen? I think any citizen of this country ought to have
certain basic rights, and when you talk about what's in the Indian Civil
Rights Act, those are the rights you're talking about—fairly basic
procedural rights, fairly basic rights of association, rights of freedom of
religion and speech, and those kinds of things.

I think this is a serious problem, and 1 think there ought to be remedies. I
do think in looking at remedies you should first give the local community
and the local Indian tribe the opportunity to arrive at the remedy. I think if
they are given the opportunity to arrive at the remedy, it will be more
effective, because sometimes when you have remedies crammed down
people’s throats, you may have it on paper but in practicality it may not be
put into effect as you'd, like it. You almost need s two-step procedure.
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First, allow the tribes to implement the Indian Civil Rights Act, and if they
don’t, then have some other means in which these rights can be given.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Counsel.

Mr. MILLER. Mr. Lutz, we'll begin with you.

In your opening statement you mentioned a number of particular cases.
You didn’t mention, I think, two cases that I happen to know about. One
was the [name deleted] case, and the other was the recent incident up at
[name deleted] puedblo?

Mge. LuTz. Probebly [name deleted), I think. I'm thinking of the case of
[name deleted].

Basically when we were looking at this, we realized the time would be
limited, and we were kind of picking and choosing examples, and we knew
we'd given you other examples.

The recent one at [name deleted] which, frankly, was just within the last
couple of months, actually involves actions by the Bureau of Indian Affairs
Social Services in tribal court. A question arose as to whether a small child
was being molested, and Social Services made a determination that they
should seek to remove the child from its present location to protect him
from sexual molestations. They proceeded in tribal court, which was the
only place that action could be brought.

Near the commencement of the hearing, the tribal judge inquired of
Bureau of Indian Affairs personnel if the Governor or Lieutenant
Governor of the pueblo had been notified. They were informed that they
didn’t feel that was necessary. It was a court proceeding that was
recognized by law, and they felt it was a matter to be determined in court.

The tribal judge indicated that there was basic disagreement on that
issue, adjourned the hearing, and got the Governor and Liecutenant
Govemor notified. They came in and said at that point in time they didn’t
need a hearing. The hearing was cancelled. No action was taken.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. You mean summarily the hearing was can-
celled?

MR. Lutz. Yes. They were in the middle of the hearing, and all of a
sudden they said, “We aren’t going to have it.”

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. There was no council acticr? This was done
almost by fiat?

MR. LuTz. Yes. Subsequent to that time, we have, through negotiation,
gotten them to agree to hold a hearing on the issue. What the outcome is,
whether we're successful or not, that’s not the issue. We just felt there
ought to be a hearing, a fair determination of it.

I think that just points out the problem, that there is great power in the
¢ribal council, the tribal Governor in many pueblos of New Mexico, and
the judge is not independent of them. I think that is a serious problem.
Now, whether the Bureau of Indian Affairs was entitled to win on the
merits is, of course, another matter.
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But in looking at it, we felt that we might possibly have a remedy in
Federal court, but it was very tenuous under the Martinez case. That’s how
the Bureau of Indian Affairs contacted our office initially. Certainly, it
would have been a very hard case. So that’s why we sat down and talked
to them and said, “Look, all we're arguing about here is the right to a
hearing. Just give us a hearing, and you can make a decision on what you
feel the correct facts are.”

MR. MILLER. The Bureau went to you and asked you to bring suit in
Federal court?

Mnr. Lutz. Yes. Of course, we talked to the Department, talked about
many of these issues that I think you have been exploring in these hearings,
the problems of enforcement of the Civil Rights Act with due process with
the tribal court, even where the United States Government is involved in
some cases.

MR. MILLER. | believe there was another complaint filed in your office
regardir.g [name deleted).

Mg. Lutz. Which pueblo is that? I have a blank on the name here right
now.

MR. MILLER. It was the one involving the whipping.

MR. Lutz. Oh, that’s in [name deleted).

Basically, he was brought before a tribal body acting as a semicourt,
traditional council-type operation, charged with criminal violation. With
little or no notice or hearing, he was summarily punished, ordered to be
whipped, and ordered to be imprisoned for 30 days. The pueblo in question
had no formal jail facility, so in effect his imprisonment was in a room with
an adobe floor.

The interesting thing about [name deleted] was he was more concerned
about the imprisonment than the whipping, while we probably had more
concern about the whipping, and also the conditions of the prison.

Again, there was a situation where basically there was no redress for any
claimed violation of his civil rights in the manner his violation was
adjudicated and in the manner of punishment.

MR. MILLER. Do you remember what the underlying event was that
caused the charge to be brought?

MR. Lutz. I'm trying to remember. Frankly, I have a mental blank on it
right now. It’s been about 8 or 9 years ago that this occurred.

MR. MILLER. Wasn't it the way he talked to a religious leader?

MR. LuTz. I honestly can’t remember. That is not an uncommon thread
in many of our problems of civil rights, that it starts with what they
perceive as inappropriate conduct or speech.

MR. MILLER. | was going to ask you some more questions on that
particular case, but I think that’s all I need to ask you now since time is
short. '
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MRr. HowarD. Mr. Amold, you were here this moming for the
testimony, were you?

MR. ArNOLD. For about the last half hour and then about 15 minutes
before that.

MR. HOWARD. We raised the issue of the ICRA language that could
have been included in the contract for judicial services.

MR. ARNOLD. | think I came in right after you had raised that issue.

MR. HOWARD. Secretary Swimmer's response was that the contract
already included boilerplate language which stated basically that the tribe
must comply with applicable Federal law; that would be sufficient; there is
no need to add the ICRA language. How would you respond to that?

MR. ARNOLD. Assuming he’s accurate, legalese has never bothered
anybody in adding something additional. It’s kind of like when we charge
someone, ‘‘he knowingly, willfully, and wantonly.” Assuming he is
correct, there was nothing wrong with adding the language that we asked
for. I suspect that that is just reasoning to not add the language as opposed
to the fact that it is sufficient. We don’t feel it’s sufficient. Frankly, neither
did the Department of the Interior Solicitor’s Office.

This was a joint request for inserting this language so that we had
something to enforce it with, and I believe the failure to do so has seriously
shortened any possibility of using that as an enforcement tool, assuming
ongoing violations.

MR. HOWARD. But it’s clear in Martinez that the ICRA is applicable
Federal law. 1 agree that the ICRA language should have been added to
that contractua! provision, but given it wasn’t, you could still pursue an
action in the Federal district court. You were contemplating doing that
with the ICRA language.

MR. ARNOLD. The question is—we are really not talking about an
enforcement provision per se. We're talking about a cancellation provision.
In othes words, we’re going at it where it hurts, with money.

MR. HOWARD. 1 understand.

MR. ARNOLD. I can get a lot of things accomplished by not giving
people money. In other words, if I've got $308 million, which is what 1
think the Federal Government will give to Indian allotments this year
under the Entitlement Act, believe me, I can do a lot with that in terms of
contractual language, language that would be agreeable both tc the tribal
governments and to the Federal attorneys.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Mr. Arnold, 1 have had some experience with
Federal programs going to communities, and I can recall when an
Assistant Secretary at HUD, and I think at the time Mr. Carlucci when he
ran OEO, decided on an airplane one day what citizen participation would
be in terms of control for the OEO in the Model Cities program. There
was this big cry for community control of the dollars. And they got right
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to the door and wrote some shaky language, and there was always a
protest over the use of those dollars.

But I can tell you, if one dollar was spent wrong, Federal auditors and
local auditors and local government auditors would descend on whatever
that activity was, close up doors, take back money, institute judicial
proceedings, and so forth. That has not happened in this case, as you
indicate.

MR. ArNOLD. That policy hasn't changed, either. We still do that.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. So we have two kinds of policies. We have one
where American citizens, if you will, in a sense to differentiate, are
descended upon for the use of these dollars. Yet, in another way we're
saying for some other people, who also have American citizenship, “Let
them take this money and do what they please with it.”

And in those contracts with third-party contractors, if you will, even
with local government under block grant programs, there is always the
proviso you have to sign off on certain kinds of assurances, and those
assurances are listed, at least by name and by title. In the block grant
program you can sign up on assurances for civil rights, and assurances for
this and assurances for that, affidavits that you're going to do all these
good things, and you can be held liable for them if you don't.

It seems we haven't got those kinds of provisions in what we’re talking
about in the 638 payments to tribal governments. I share your outrage and
wish there was something that could be done about it. But we can only
hope that as Congress begins to work through whatever it wants to do to
amend self-determination, we might be able to have some impact. I doubt if
we will, but at least the record will be there for others to use.

I guess what I want to ask you: if the situation at Red Lake continues the
way it is right now, what would you propose to BIA? You have already
made a petition to have certain things done. It seems like ycur hands are
tied. What would you further suggest for remedy?

MR. ARrNOLD. First of all, since October of ‘86, there has been some
improvement on Red Lake.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Good.

MR. ARNOLD. I'm talking about the right to counsel. As a result of some
discussions between myself and Chairman Jourdain, in fact, the tribal
council amended its ordinance in terms of representation and allowed that
on an ad hoc basis lawyers admitted to practice before the Supreme Court
of Minnesota could practice in the tribal courts by the payment of a fee,
and I think that was about it, and you wouldn’t have to speak through an
Ojibwa or reside on the reservation, which are the requirements of their
bar.
Things seemed to be proceeding fairly well, but about that same time
there was a lawsuit moving through the Federal courts dealing with whose
records the CFR court’s records were. And just about that time, after the
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tribal council had passed it and Chairman Jourdain had received it and it
was awaiting his signature, the court held that these tribal court records
were Federal property, and it went into a drawer and hasa’t been seen
since.

But as a result of that discussion and some other discussions with the
superintendent, Earl Barlow, there has been an improvement in the court
system. We have offered training to their prosecutors, to their judges.
They are now holding jury trials.

The question of right to counsel within the sense of those habeases hasn't
come up since that time. And Mr. Barlow in the superintendent’s office
states that they will be allowed to practice in the CFR court. I think that's
one of the things that has moved the tribe now to say that they are taking
over the court system.

But there has been some improvement. In the sense, if we step back
away from the rule of law, the improvements that have been made over
the last year and a half or 50, then if we step back to where it was—and
when | say improvements in the rule of law, you have to have in mind that
I think in the first 6 or 8 months of ‘86 we had sbout one homicide a month
on that reservation. Since about October of *86, we have had some increase
in law enforcement. There has been a little more evenhandedness. There's
been a crackdown on the illegal use of alcohol and marijuana. And,
frankly, we've gone, since July of ‘86, without a homicide on the
reservation.

Have in mind that our homicides on that reservation are somewhat
classical in the sense that you have an individual, an Indian, who absorbs
too much or is under the influence of a mood-altering drug, usually alcohol
or marijuana, who picks up the nearest available weapon, whether it be a
pitchfork, a rifle, a knife, 2 by 4, and nails the nearest available person,
usually a relative, girlfriend, boyfriend, associate, for no apparent reason.

But in answer, if things flow back and if it gets worse, | guess we will be
in the situation of instituting a criminal civil rights investigation. That's
about the only lever we have left.

Mr. MILLER. Mr. Amold, | have a quick followup question. You
mentioned the change in the right to counsel. Do you know of any
criminal proceeding at Red Lake where counsel has been allowed in to
represent that defendant since that time?

Mn. ARNOLD. No, I know of no one who has gone up to Mr. Barlow,
the superintendent, and said, “Look, 1 want to go into the Red Lake Tribal
Court and you said that we would be allowed there.” 1 know of no one
who has made that request.

I can say that the tribal court does have an advocate available for
defendants charged. It's what we call lay advocate. But that advocate is
available in the proceedings in tribal court.
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MR. MILLER. Mr. Chairman, [ hate to interrupt, but when I said we had
no further questions, I was only referring to Mr. Lutz. May we proceed?

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. 1 am advised, counsel.

MR. MILLER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Susan Muskett has some
questions.

Ms. MUSKETT. Mr. Arnold, at this time is the legal counsel that is
available to the average Indian such that the average Indian is aware of his
rights under the ICRA, including his right to Federal court review in
habeas corpus actions?

MR. ARNOLD. Well, when you say a right to review of Federal habeas
corpus, about the only people who are aware of that in the entire system
are those who are in prison. I'm talking about both in the State system and
outside the State system, unless you've got counsel there. I mean, that
doesn’t arise until after you are incarcerated.

But to the extent that are people aware that they have a right to counsel,
I think, generally speaking, that inside the tribal courts the people would
probably say no. Attempts have been made to get counsel, and they don't
think about it. I don't think they think one way or the other. I think they
know that there are no people on the reservation who speak fluent Ojibwa
who are lawyers who are permitted to practice in the courts of Minnesota.

Ms. MUSKETT. Do you think the lay advocates have enough expertise to
point out to the defendant the different rights that may be violated in the
court proceeding?

MR. ARNOLD. | haven't seen them in action. Obviously, they would not
do the job that a person trained in the law would do, but they aren’t that
many years removed from the fact of having judges in the State system
that weren’t trained in the law, either, and some of them did a very good
job. I am just not familiar with that. I would guess that most of the
defendants that appear in that tribal court would very much welcome a
lawyer alongside them.

I am not trying to be evasive. I just don’t know.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. I think we heard in Rapid City that there were
s_rious problems with that process. I can appreciate the process of lay
advocates and the like to attempt to do things. I guess what it really comes
down to is that, although you have access to tribal courts, the separation of
powers question gets t0 be whether or not they could have some relief
provided by the court. Whether that relief is available, it seems to us, from
what we have heard and read, it is in many cases but not universally
[available], s0 anything could happen. For the most part you don’t get the
kind of relief you want because there is not that separation of powers.

Ms. MuskeTT. How frequently does your office receive complaints
regarding the Red Lake court?

MR. ARNOLD. I think most all of the complaints we receive are received
in terms of habess corpus petitions, and I think I have furnished those since
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*85. You have to have in mind—and once again I speak for Minnesota
where our tribes are Chippewa, and [ think we have four small bands of
Sioux. These are not complaining people. They learn to live with their
system.

Frankly, I think with the exception of these habeas corpus proceedings,
these are people, for the most part, that were very much criminal elements
moving in and off the reservations. And it’s because of their exposure to
the State courts of Minnesota or Federal courts in criminal process that
they realized they had the rights they did, and they are the ones who
would be able to hire lawyers from the outside and bring habeas corpus
petitions. The Red Lake Indian Reservation—it’s a S-hour drive from the
State capital or the major metropolitan area, the Twin Cities. So to that
extent I wouldn’t expect a whole lot. I really wouldn’t.

I think you see more of them coming through law enforcement. That is,
they might complain to the Bureau of Indian Affairs, superintendent of
police, or the FBI.

Mr. MILLER. Mr. Amold, I was a bit intrigued about the point you
made about going into Federal court to, I guess, withhold funding from the
tribe. Would that be under 25 U.S.C 450(m)?

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. I'm sure you have these numbers in your head.

(Laughter.]

MR. ARNOLD. You bet. What 1 was reviewing was the Solicitor’s Office
premises. I went through that and I checked some of the case laws they
cited, and I believe it to be on sound ground as to—like the Chairman says,
run those statutes by you young guys. When you get a little older, you
forget some of the numbers.

[Laughter.]

MR. MILLER. What | was asking was: there were other cases trying that,
and the Federal court rejected that claim, particularly the Montana case,
the Weatherwax case.

MR. ARNOLD. | understand that. But having said that, in those cases
there wasn’t a track record to start with. I'm not disagreeing with those
cases, but I'm saying where you have a clear track record, I think you are
entitled to put it in, and I think we'd win.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Thank you very much, gentlemen, for appear-
ing before us today. We appreciate the time you took to come to
Washington.

Mn. Lutz. One thing I would correct. I had the pueblo wrong in the
[name deleted] case. It's {name deleted].

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Do you need that [indicating]?

MR. Lutz. No, sir. We sent off to GSA [General Services Administra-
tion) for our file, and they didn’t send it back.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Do you want to have that one? We have
copies.
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MR. LuTzZ. Yes, because we don’t have it anymore, so that’s why I was a
little bit rusty on the facts—

MR. MILLER. Would you like to address that particular case again, given
that refreshment of your recollection?

MR. LuTz. Yes. It's obviously been a while since we looked at it, and it
does appear that basically the major thing they were concerned about was
his actions toward the officials. Alcohol was involved, and there was a
public whipping in it, which was his concern.

MR. MILLER. Basically, he was drunk at the time when he made the
comment to 8 religious leader?

MR. LUTZ. Yes, to the tribal officials, and he was dragged before a tribal
meeting or meeting of the council.

MR. MILLER. When you say “dragged,” is that metaphoric?

MR. Lutz. Semimetaphorical, but he was given very short notice,
which is common in some of these cases where they run afoul.

MR. MILLER. I'm serious when 1 ask that. When we talked about the
whipping, it was a physical whipping, too, wasn't it?

MR. LuTtz. Yes. There he was required to kneel, and they took his shirt
off. It was a rather summary-type punishment.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Before you go, Commissioner Destro has a
question he would like to ask.

CoMMISSIONER DESTRO. I apologize for coming in late, but Mr. Arnold
made a comment that I can’t resist asking a question about. That is, if you
had control over the $308 million you could really do a lot. 1 would not
quarrel with that for a minute.

The question I have is: how likely do you think, even if you had the
authority, you'd be allowed to get away with it? I know the Chairman
raised the issue with respect to enforcement of the Civil Rights Act in
Grove City earlier, but I guess in looking at the record—and it’s come up in
Commission meetings—you can search the record high and low and find
very few instances where the Federal Government ever cut off the
change. Do you think even if you had the authority the political powers
that be would let you get away with it?

MR. ARNOLD. I think those tribal governments who have no track
record of denying civil rights, that their entitlement programs would go
forward; that if there were violations of civil rights, they would either be
corrected or some action would be taken; and if you document the track
record, I think you'd be successful.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Mr. Arnold, just let me say to you that in my
20 years’ experience with these kinds of things, I have yet to know where
the Federal Government has ever cut off a dime in any program in any
area, not just in the area of Indian activities or Indian programs. There is
always that threat of language and always the threat of review, and
suddenly, because of Mr. Destro’s carefully inserted word “political,” the
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political process says, “No, we're not going to cut this off because of so
many problems with it.”

MR. ARNOLD. But as you perhaps know from your experience, it is
simply the threat and working back through it that improvements can be
made. I'm not saying there ought not be amendments to the current Indian
statutes. [ think there ought to be. I think you have a copy of the
Department of Justice letter from John Bolton to Senator Inouye that sets
forth some amendments to give redress into the Federal court. 1 think
that’s a very important first step, but I think more can be done elsewhere.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. We intend to insert that letter of January 26 to
Senator Inouye into the record.

[The document was entered into the record as exhibit no. 9.)

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Mr. Lutz, do you want to make a comment
about that?

MR. Lutz. I think the problem of withholding funds is that those funds
are usually most beneficial to the very people that are the victims.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Right.

MR. Lutz. And you make them a victim a second time over. My
personal opinion would be that there needs to be some other remedy than
withholding funds because many of these Indians do suffer from extreme
poverty. While maybe not all the money trickles down as it should to
them, certainly some of it does.

CoMMISSIONER DESTRO. That was actually the reason for my question
because if you look at it in the civil rights context, in States like—well, I
won't say which States, but certain States have been accused of violating
civil rights, for example, in their university, and the alternative to cutting
off the money has always been Federal court or departmental intervention
in the internal affairs of the university.

It seems to me when you're talking about tribal sovereignty, which may
be more sacrosanct in some respects than State sovereignty—at least that's
the way it appears at this point—if you don’t have the remedy of cutting
off the money, you are certainly not going to have the remedy of more
direct intervention into the way the tribe actually does things. So don’t you
wind up with exactly the problem that you mentioned, of holding the
people who most need the help hostage to whomever is not abiding by the
rules?

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. Permit me to interrupt you just long enough to
say I find it a peculiar, indeed bizarre way, to fight poverty, to train
lawyers.

[Laughter.]

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. After all, it does create a job.

[Laughter.]

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Thank you very much, gentlemen.

We won't take a break here. We'll move on to Mr. Laurence. Is he here?
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The Chair is going to try to have a firm hand and stick to our half hour
time frame for the next three witnesses.
[Robert Laurence was sworn.)

TESTIMONY OF ROBERT LAURENCE, PROFESSOR,
UNIVERSITY OF ARKANSAS SCHOOL OF LAW

MR. LAURENCE. My name is Robert Laurence. I train lawyers for a
living.

(Laughter.]

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. So does my colleague over here, sir. I don’t
know whether that helps you a lot at this table, but we can try.

Go right ahead, sir.

MR. LAURENCE. I submitted a written statement to the Commission, and
because time is short I think mostly I'll answer questions on that, with just
what I hope is a short introduction because I know from the discussion
I've heard that the Commission is very interested in the Martinez decision,
and I will talk about the Martinez decision.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Your statement will be made part of the
record.

[The document was entered into the record as exhibit no. 10.]

MR. LAURENCE. I understand why you-all are—I should say why the
Commission—you’ll have to excuse me for phrases like “you-all.” I teach
in Arkansas.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. I must say to you we had great testimony from
one of your colleagues, sir, Mr. Smoller, in housing, so feel free to address
us as you'd like to. Other people do that, so it’s okay with us.

MR. LAURENCE. Am I allowed to take my shoes off?

[Laughter.)

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. You-all do whatever you-all want.

[Laughter.]

MR. LAURENCE. I understand the Martinez decision sticks in the craw of
the Commission. Your natural inclinations are to look askarce at a decision
that does as it does and closes the doors of Federal courthouses to people
complaining of civil rights violations.

I will answer questions about the Martinez decision. I would like,
though, to make an attempt to tie it together with the famous Oliphant
decision. I suppose that you are as familiar with that.

Mark Oliphant was a white man. He was arrested on the Suquamish
Reservation by Suquamish police for resisting arrest and assaulting an
officer. Eventually, the United States Supreme Court released him, finding
the Suquamish were without jurisdiction over him.

The connection may not be obvious to the Commission, between the
Oliphant case and the Martinez case, but in my view there is an important
connection between the two.
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Mark Oliphant had, in my view, an Indian Civil Rights Act case. He was
in detention 30 habeas corpus was available to him. He certainly, in my
view, had the right to ask the Federal court to inspect his allegations that
he was denied equal protection of rights because he was white, about to be
tried by an all-Indian jury. Perhaps he had some more general due process
complaint, a trial by jury, right to counsel—I’'m not sure. The point is the
Supreme Court in its decision did not make him enumerate those precise
equal rights violations but rather allowed him to attack in a broad-based
way the power of the Suquamish Tribe over him.

In my view, that case should have been an Indian Civil Rights Act case.
Let me put it this way. If the Indian Civil Rights Act is good enough for
Julia Martinez—and I think it is; you're going to be able to get me to say
that here in a couple of minutes—if it’s good enough for Julia Martinez, 1
think it should be good enough for Mark Oliphant too.

It should be recommended to Congress that the Suquamish trial of Mark
Oliphant under the Indian Civil Rights Act, while observing the Indian
Civil Rights Act, is exactly the manner acceptable to Congress. And that
very loose, very broad-based attack has had tremendous spinoff into other
areas of the law. The Suquamish Tribe have given up, by implication,
those aspects of their sovereignty that are somehow “inconsistent with
their dependent status,” in the Supreme Court’s words, and it’s unclear, I
think, to all of us exactly what those mean. That imprecise test should be
taken away from the Federal courts; they should be put back into the
Indian Civil Rights Act.

Now, what about Martinez? 1 think you all appreciate this tension that
has been described between tribal sovereignty and individual rights.
Commissioner Allen this moming, I think, questioned that tension model.
I'll even give him and the Commission a contradiction, not just tension,
between those two concerns. Even with that contradiction, my metaphor
is that it’s like the contradiction between the sounding board in the piano
and the contradictory tension that is put on by the tuning pin. The
Chairman can perhaps say whether piano tuning comes within the
Jjurisdiction of the Commission; I'm not sure. But it is exactly those
contradictory forces that keep Indian law strong.

Still, at some point you've got to decide. You've got to say: are the
Federal courts going to be open to Julia Martinez or not? I will say I think
the answer to that should be yes, fully recognizing that my colleague, Bob
Clinton, from the University of lowa, to whom I defer in almost all
respects, is about to tell you the opposite.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Counsel.

Ms. MUSKETT. Professor Laurence, 1 have a couple of questions
regarding your recommendation in your written statement for Federal
court review under restricted circumstances. You have indicated that
money damages should not be recoverable against the tribe itself. Without
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this measure, do you feel that declaratory and injunctive relief against the
tribes will be adequate to bring about tribal reform?

MR. LAURENCE. Yes.

Ms. MUSKETT. Would you be open to the imposition of monetary relief
against the tribes if there were a cap or limit on the amount recoverable?

MR. LAURENCE. No. I don’t mean to be too short with these answers,
but time is short.

{Laughter.]

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. It's pleasant.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Please don’t apologize.

MR. LAURENCE. In that case, next?

{Laughter.]

Ms. MUskeTT. In your article on service of process and execution of
judgment on Indian reservations, you discuss some of the difficulties with
enforcement of the judgment on Indian reservations. If a Federal court
were given authority to render declaratory and injunctive relief for ICRA
violations, do you foresee any problems with enforcement of the Federal
judgment? )

MR. LAURENCE. Well, in that article, I was talking about the enforce-
ment of money judgments by private litigants against Indian defendants
whose property lay on the reservation. Here we're talking about
enforcement of the Indian Civil Rights Act by declaratory relief or
injunctive power against what is by definition going to be tribal activity.
So, in my view, declaratory judgments ought in most cases to be enough
because I expect tribal councils to follow the holdings of Federal judges
like the rest of us. Injunctions might occasionally be necessary.

When a Federal judge issues an injunction, I think we all ought not to
forget that in a very real way the United States Army, United States
marshals certainly, are standing behind that judgment ready to enforce it.
And that is an enormously powerful tool that might be used against a very
fragile government. I think it ought to be used reluctantly.

But the kinds of problems that come from enforcing money judgments
against private individual defendants whose property is on the reservation,
I think, are very different from the kinds of enforcement problems
involved in tribal governmental activities under the ICRA.

By the way, I should also say 1 am pleased that you read that article.
Other than my mother, there is no indication that anyone other than you
has read it.

[Laughter.)

Ms. MUSKETT. You have indicated that Federal court review should be
restricted to cases which meet a minimum amount in controversy. What
would you recommend as a minimum amount in controversy?

MR. LAURENCE. That’s a tough question for a law professor to answer, 1
must say. If I were a Congressman, I'd have lots of legislative hearings to
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find out exactly what kinds of claims might arise and what the amounts of
controversy would be, and where should we have to set the level in order
to make it effective.

I will say, in case this bothers you or the Commission in terms of that
requirement, I recognize that violations, like perhaps Julia * ‘artinez’ or a
right to counsel violation that is alleged—I wouldn’t reuire an amount in
controversy to be alleged for those sorts of fundamental freedoms.

As I mentioned in the statement, I am concerned here about a case like
the Dry Creek Lodge case, where plaintiffs were alleging a deprivation of
property by the tribe because the tribe had closed down a road preventing
access to their business. I would make them allege some sufficient amount
in controversy to make sure that we're weeding out not only the harassing
suits but also the minor ones.

We used to have one in Federal courts. I think it's even more
appropriate where you're dealing with the ICRA than it used to be with
respect to general Federal question jurisdiction. But I don’t know what the
amount should be.

Ms. MuUskeTT. | have no further questions.

MR. MILLER. Professor Laurence, if the Congress were to overturn both
Oliphant and Martinez, would there be a diminution of tribal court
Jurisdiction?

MR. LAURENCE. Would there be a diminution of tribal court jurisdiction
if Oliphant and Martinez were both reversed? So now we'd have criminal
power back over non-Indians, and challenges to the exercise of that power
would be in Federal courts. Your question was whether that would
diminish tribal power?

MR. MILLER. Yes.

MR. LAURENCE. No, I don’t think so. To me the good thing about
reversing Oliphant legislatively—or the combination that you suggest,
reversing both—would allow the exercise of tribal power to be attacked
and get rid of this broad-based attack on the existence of tribal power. I
much prefer the scalpel, if you will, of challenges to the exercise of power
than the blunderbuss attack to the existence of tribal power.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Would you repeat that again?

MR. LAURENCE. You like that scalpel/blunderbuss?

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Yes. It's probably personally instructive.

MR. LAURENCE. The Indian Civil Rights Act lists some precise
restrictions on tribal power. I'm sure it has often been pointed out to the
Commission about how Congress picked and chose amongst the various
protections in the Bill of Rights. For example, the 19th amendment isn’t
there, nor is the right to free counsel—a very precise list. Still, of course,
it’s not as precise as, say, the bankruptcy code. It uses terms like “due
process.” So there is still some room for common law judges to work, and
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1 admire that about this statute. But compared to the Oliphant standard
which attacks the power of tribes, it’s much more precise.

The other thing about the Oliphant test that I think this Commission
especially should find repugnant is that it has become, and probably was all
along, a “white plaintiffs only” rule. Indians don’t get to use the Oliphant
attack, but only—I should ssy non-Indians, not just whites, but it is
something that is not available generally, the Oliphant—

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. Are you saying the distinction is non-Indian
rather than nonmember?

MR. LAURENCE. 1 consider that still to be an open question. The
Supreme Court within about 6 weeks—Oliphant says non-Indian, and
Oliphant seems to make the distinction—or the words of Oliphant are
drawn on a racial line between Indians and non-Indians. Six weeks later in
the Wheeler case, the Supreme Court paraphrases Oliphant and uses the
word “nonmember.” I don’t know exactly what they have in mind. I don’t
like distinctions drawn upon race. [ also don’t like to step Oliphant forward
by saying that the test should be member or nonmember. I'd just throw the
whole thing out. It's not a sensible test in my view. It has racial
implications, I think. And the Indian Civil Rights Act is there to protect
Mark Oliphant.

MR. MILLER. Would you characterize the pre-Martinez Federal case law
as generally sensitive to tribal customs and traditions?

MR. LAURENCE. Some cases were and some weren’t. The word
“generally”—I find cases to admire in the pre-Martinez cases. Perhaps my
favorite one is the district court case in the Martinez case itself where the
district judge, fairly carefully in my view, looked at Julia Martinez’ rights
and the old, old tribal tradition that was involved that was now infringing
upon her rights, and balanced those two concerns with what I thought was
a good measure of common law sensibility, and arrived at the conclusion
that the tribe should win; the tribe should be permitted to do that.

That, to me, was a well-written opinion. 1 think the Tenth Circuit, by
the way, that reversed that is almost as well-written an opinion, although it
reached the opposite conclusion. 1 give those two cases to my students
sometimes to show that well-written opinions can reach opposite conclu-
sions, and I prefer the first one.

There were some decisions that were not thoughtful at all. A case comes
to mind called United States v. Albert in which the court just tossed off, 1
think in a one-sentence footnote, that the Indian Civil Rights Act
incorporates the Coustitution and applies it to Indian tribes. Well, that's
not what it does, and no one thinks that’s what it does, and if the court had
thought about it, it would have reslized that.

So the or!y rcason I don'’t say yes to your answer is because of the word
“generally.” There is, from my view, room for optimism. My guess is that
Bob Clinton is sbout to be less optimistic about those very same cases.
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MR. MILLER. The reason why I asked is that you recommended Federal
court review again, and that indicated to me that you trusted Federal
judges to be sensitive to tribal customs and traditions, and I'm asking you
why you feel that way.

MnR. LAURENCE. I have to, of course, because I want Mark Oliphant to
be back in Federal court arguing that he didn’t get his Indian civil rights.
And 1 do trust the Federal court to look into what happened to him.
Federal courts do it.

I guess the whole principle here—and the principle gets in trouble when
you start tinkering with the statute and looking at small parts of it. In my
view, that underlying tension has to stay in the Indian Civil Rights Act.
And as I finish up my statement, as long as the Commission goes about its
business with the respect for individual rights and for tribal sovereignty,
then I am optimistic as to the way this will come out.

I think the couple of mentions of the Grove City case are instructive in
this regard. The point is that there is a substantial difference between the
Turtle Mountain Chippewa Tribe and Grove City Community College—a
substantial difference—in my view a difference that makes all the
difference in the world. And, of course, that difference is that the Turtle
Mountain Chippewa are recognized as being a sovereign entity, and Grove
City Community College is not.

Now, it is that underlying tension of American Indian law that keeps us
from saying that the Turtle Mountain Chippewa is as fully sovereign as
Bolivia. It is not. I agree that it is not. It is somewhere in between.

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. Almost crushed in between, isn't it, because
there’s hardly any room in between there for something to be.

MR. LAURENCE. There’s enormous room in terms of sovereignty
between the Grove City Community College and the country of Bolivia,
an enormous room for the recognition—

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. States.

MR. LAURENCE. States are in there as well, I agree.

MR. MILLER. [ don’t have any further questions. I did want to comment
that, Professor, you mentioned Martinez stuck in the craw of the
Commission. Commissioner Destro in his opening statement says that it
didn’t stick in his craw, and I just wanted to point that out.

ComMISSIONER DESTRO. I'll go ahead and point it out myself. As I said,
I think Martinez is the symptom and not necessarily the problem. I'm not
80 sure—I'll wait for Professor Clinton to talk about his paper—but as I
mentioned at the Flagstaff hearing, maybe it’s because one of the courses I
teach is conflict of laws, which most law students perceive as being a
course in how many angels can dance on the head of a pin.

But the problem that I see there is convincing people that there is a
reality to overlapping jurisdictions, and that multiple jurisdictions can exist
in the same space with a lot of room for maneuver, and that the degree to
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which I would oppose a de novo review of the trial court judgment in the
Federal court would be the same reason that I would oppose the Supreme
Court being allowed to federalize conflict of law rules because they would
be applying substantive standards, not questions that take into account the
sovereignties of the various entities involved. That’s a very jargonistic way
of—

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. —creating space.

CoMMISSIONER DESTRO. No, it’s not a question of creating space. I
firmly believe that that space is there. The reason that I mentioned Grove
City is that it is not a connection between Grove City College, which can
be forced to comply under pain of losing its funding. It would be more: is
the tribe as sovereign subject to all the rulemaking, just like a State would
be? Because, really, the analogy I would draw is State to tribe, rather than
private party to tribe. The tribes don't have a 14th amendment, so they are
not governed by that. But it seems to me the real crux is the degree to
which Congress has the responsibility not to let the tribes get away with
violating other people’s civil rights. Because you can’t claim a trust
responsibility and then say, “Well, we're just going to leave it all up to
you.” Either Congress has the responsibility to enforce civil rights or it
doesn’t, and they just can’t say, “Well, we're going to hear no evil, speak
no evil, and see no evil” once it’s been waved under their nose under a
platter. And the question to my mind is: what do you do with that
consistent with both tribal sovereignty and individual rights?

That’s why I said I found these articles that the Commission is upset
about Martinez to be troublesome because I haven’t quite figured out how
you can do that, but I am convinced that there’s room there. And your
paper isn’t that far away, as far as reading it as someone who had never
thought I would be immersed up to my ears in Indian law. I don’t see that
there’s that big of a difference between some of the things that you're
saying, especially this whole question about Indian versus non-Indian, and
non-Indians have certain rights that Indians don't.

You talk about inverting the laws. Once again, the Indians come out, like
a movie I saw a long time ago, at the fuzzy end of the lollipop. You do
them a favor by passing the Indian Civil Rights Act and then take it all
away. Whether you did it by Oliphant or whether you do it by Martinez,
they still come out with the short end of the stick.

I think that if this Commission, if we step back and don’t get
embroiled—and some of this is Martinez—what ought the rules to be? It
seems (0 me your suggestions are very good ones and not that far from
Professor Clinton.

MR. LAURENCE. I think you're right. I think Bob and I are in the same
ball park, if perhaps not in the same section. One of my colleagues kept
telling me, “At some point you have to decide—will Julia Martinez get
into court or not”" And my position is yes, she does, very carefully. She
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gets into court to make the complaint that her children have been denied
membership because of her sex, Julia’s sex.

CoMMISSIONER ALLEN. There’s one problem with all that If it’s true, in
fact, that Julia Martinez or anyone else has rights determined on the basis
of her membership in the tribe, by definition there are some whom are
nonmembers—call them non-Indians or anything else—who have different
rights. And they might include Mark Oliphant.

1 believe this is very much a process of trying to have your cake after
you've eaten it, and sooner or later you have to face up to the fact you can
only have one or the other, not both. The 14th amendment language does
not exclude Indians, as I understand and read it. And I'm not talking about
the division of interpretation at the moment; I'm only talking about the
language because I have a liberty that those of you who are bound to the
limits of the law don’t have. I can think whatever is true. I don’t have to
think what has been said before.

{Laughter.]

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. And it strikes me, thinking that way, that the
attempt to create this notion of the tribe as, in fact, a Federal entity is
simply false. It’s false historically. We had that presented to us this
morning, the idea that the tribes were part of the Federal system. They
were not. And it's false today, in spite of the fact that we are trying
mightily hard to carve out a space for them. And what do we run up
against? We run up against the geographical reality of the States.

Now, unless someone is going to bite the bullet and say where you have
substantial tribes or substantial territory, and making them States will not
affect the existing States in a way as to render them noncontiguous, and so
the only way to give them the status you want is to make them States, I
think we're just barking up the wrong tree.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. | have to call this to a halt at some point. It’s an
interesting discussion, but we have other witnesses we have to get to
before the witching hour.

If you have a final comment, go right ahead.

MR. LAURENCE. Only in reaction to one thing. The 14th amendment
protects against certain actions by the States. The 5th amendment protects
against certain actions by the Federal Government. Those two amend-
ments to the Constitution do not protect against certain actions by tribal
governments.

Now, it appears that the Chief Justice of the Supreme Court thinks that's
because the tribes aren’t sovereign enough, that the tribes are more like
Grove City College or the PTA, so naturally those two amendments don't
apply to them. Most of us think—and Chief Justice Rehnquist has never
actually held that though he appears to think that—most of the rest of us
think the reason for the nonapplication of those two amendments is
because the tribes are a special kind of sovereignty and never ratified those
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two amendments. They are not as sovereign as anything. No analogy
works very well, but they are different. So those two amendments don’t
apply.

That is not to say that Indians don't have 14th amendment rights. And 1
just have to be absolutely clear about that. Any Indian standing before the
State of Arkansas or before the Federal Government has all the rights that
I do. What we are talking about is whether the tribe is restricted by the
14th amendment. And the answer is very well established that the answer
is no.

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. Whether the tribe is subject t0 the plenary
power, as you all like to say, of Congress.

Mn. LAURENCE. That'’s right. So Congress passes a statute, and it's the
statute that we're talking about.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. This reminds me of a discussion I read a long
time ago that two things can’t occupy the same space at the same time; that
is, two light rays superimposed upon one another. It sounds like what
we're trying to do here is superimpose tribal sovereignty upon the Federal
Constitution and make it all work. If that's the case, there is no space.
What you're doing now is trying to fit it into a space that doesn’t exist.

MR. LAURENCE. That’s Commissioner Destru’s comment about overlap-
ping—

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. I'll tell you what we're going to do. Mr.
Laurence, don’t go away. We think this is a healthy discussion. So why
don’t we ask Professor Clinton and Mr. Pevar to come and sit at the table,
and perhaps since you all want a piece of each other—Mr. Laurence has
said, Mr. Clinton, that you both happen to be in the same ball park but one
happens to be in section A and one in section Z.

Let’s take a short recess.

[Recess.]

[Robert N. Clinton and Stephen L. Pevar were sworn.]

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Professor Clinton, I noticed that you were
shaking your head in the rear and salivating a bit.

(Laughter.]

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Is the lowa College of Law associated with the
university?

MR. CLINTON. It's the University of lowa College of Law.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. I'm a member of the committee for the
Holiday Bowl, and I want to say to you that 1 have never seen a team that
had more decorum, politeness, and good demeanor about them as the lowa
team when they came to San Diego, and have been for the past couple of
years. It was good to have them in San Diego, and they win, you know, a
little bit, and Mr. Eliot and his crew do a fine job.

MR. CLINTON. Thank you very much, Commissioner Pendleton. At
Iowa we are very proud of our Hawkeyes and we have been delighted to
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be at the Holiday Bowl for 2 years running, and we hope we put on a good
show and had some loyal crowd support with it.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. And it’s good to be out of the zero temperature
to sunny San Diego.

MR. CLINTON. Absolutely.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Why don't you guys do what you want to do
in the beginning, you and Mr. Pevar, and then we will hold our questions
until both of you get through, whatever you want to say to us.

We want to thank you for your voluminous and complete testimony that
will be part of the record. Go right ahead.

TESTIMONY OF ROBERT N. CLINTON,
UNIVERSITY OF IOWA COLLEGE OF LAW

Mnr. CLINTON. | have submitted a slightly revised statement correcting
some typographical errors, my statement having been prepared in the 2V,
working days since | was invited to testify, and 1 would like to request that
it be submitted for the record.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. So ordered, without objection.

[The document was entered into the record as exhibit no. 11.)

MR. CLINTON. Additionally, I'd like to briefly summarize my comments
and react generally to the testimony 1 have heard so far by putting the
question that | think is before this Commission in some perspective.

In my view, what [ have heard at least today ignores a fundamental
point, and that fundamental point is the single most fundamental right that
Indian tribes and their members have is the right of sovereignty. It is in fact
8 very hard-fought-for and hard-bargained-for right.

If you look at the Treaty of New Echota—that is the removal treaty that
Assistant Secretary Swimmer’s tribe signed in 1835 with the United
States—it bargains carefully for that right of sovereignty, and in fact
guarantees that the Cherokee will never be included within the boundaries
of any State or subjected to State law because the Cherokees insisted on
that right of sovereignty, and that was viewed as a fundamental right.

Additionally, most of the removal treaties, indeed most treaties setting
aside Indian land for reservations, were doing 30 to protect the self-
governing autonomy of Indian tribes. And | think that's a critical point. It
is a treaty right. Nobody is suggesting we're going to give back to the
Cherokees the Southeastern United States that they ceded in exchange for
our promise to protect that right. Certainly, we abrogated or at least
modified and 10 some extent hurt the Cherokee right of self-government
when we broke the treaty and included them in the State of Oklahoma.

Having said that, that didn’t take away their right of self-government.
Their right of self-government remained.

The second point | waat to make by way of perspective, aside from
indicating that right of seif-goverament was bargsined for and is a basic
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right of Indian tribes and their members, is to note the tribes are different
than States in the allocation of power.

Why? The States and their people, or st least some of their people, were
in fact part of the bargain that creaied the United States. They were part of
the delegation of authority in “We the people of the United States” to the
Federal Government in the Constitution. The tribes at the time were not.
They didn’t participate in that suthority delegation. They never delegated
any authority that they maintained as an original right to the Federal
Government. Instead, that’s the reason for the theory that the Indian tribes
retained only that which they have not given away by treaty or otherwise.

As a consequence, the Indian tribes have, in my judgment, even a
greater claim to legitimate sovereign authority than do the States. It is a
basic right. It is a right that they bargained for. It’s & right which we
promised them. And to enlarge the scope of Federal authority, as I have
heard discussed today, to impose on nonconsenting tribes and often
nonconsenting tribal members, because nobody has proposed putting what
we have discussed today up to a vote of the tribal membership—to impose
that on tribes is, in fact, a diminution, a taking away of that which we
promised the tribes in exchange for their land.

That is my overall comment.

Now, I want to be a little more specific about a couple of very quick
points. First, the Indian Civil Rights Act is not, in my judgment or on its
face, a jot-for-jot incorporation of every item—

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. What does that mean, “jot for jot™?

MR. CLINTON. Jot for jot, meaning exactly what the constitutional item
means in the Constitution. It's been used by the Supreme Court to discuss
the incorporation doctrine. It is not a jot-for-jot incorporation. My
statement indicates a couple of differences. I want to highlight one
critically important difference, and that is in the area of the right to
counsel.

While I think there are exceptional abuses—they are not systematic: they
are episodic—of certain civil rights in Indian country, and it may be the
overall situation at Red Lake is in fact one of those. I heard discussed
today the denial of “che right to counsel” at Red Lake because people who
were admitted to State bars could not become members of the bar of the
Red Lake Tribe. The Red Lake Tribe as a sovereign tribe has a right to set
its own bar i2quirements, and those bar requirements do not need to
include formal legal education.

States and the Federal Government did not have formal legal education
in their bar requirements for 150 years. I don’t think that means that for
tt  period they denied the sixth amendment right to counsel. Likewise, I
don’t think the bar requirements for the Red Lake Tribe deny the right to
counsel. That doesn’t mean there aren’t other abuses at Red Lake. There
very well might be.
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That is but an illustration of the fact that the ICRA does not mean
exactly in applications to tribes which, for example, may have lay judges
and lay prosecutors, where an attorney representing the defense is likely to
be more disruptive of the system than a lay advocate. That does not mean
that in fact there aren’t rights. There are, but they are balanced rights that
must be accommodated to the realities of the Indian country, and in fact
that's what Congress did.

Furthermore, the discussion I heard today seems to suggest that there
aren’t remedies for violation of rights. The thrust of my statement, I think,
is to suggest that under current existing law, without any changes, legally
remedies exist. Whether they are being used well, whether they are being
fully implemented, whether the BIA is fully implementing the authority it
has—those may be different questions. But those remedies exist, and I want
to summarize them.

One, clearly the Martincz decision recognizes the tribal courts and other
tribal institutions are appropriate law-applying institutions to, in fact, apply
and enforce the Indian Civil Rights Act. I'd be the first to concede that
some tribal decisions, like some State decisions, for that matter some U.S.
Supreme Court decisions with which I disagree, might be read as possibly
nct enforcing civil rights.

But as I sit down and read the reported cases, many of those cases
represent remarkable efforts of tribal judges to, in fact, enforce the civil
rights provided under the Indian Civil Rights Act. In fact, some of them
are very courageous decisions. & cited the Chapoose case in my statement in
which a tribal judge went out of his way to hold something the U.S.
Supreme Court is not prepared to hold with respect to a Federal court, and
that is that the council couldn’t take away his jurisdiction to enforce due
process.

The prevailing law in the Federal courts, though I happen to disagree
with it and think it’s wrong—I've written two articles on the subject—is,
under Ex parte McCardlv, Congress can take away the Federal court’s
jurisdiction to enforce -:ivil rights. 1 think that decision is wrong. But
notice in essence an Indian tribal judge was prepared to say that he had
more authority than 2ven our Fed:ral judges have to enforce the
requirements of the Indian Civil Rights Act.

Now, why have Indian judges assumed that responsibility? I think they
have assumed it, and assumed it reczatly quite well, because they have the
primary responsibility, because Martinez gave it to them. In short, Martinez
is responsible for the development on many reservations of & very healthy
attitude with respect to civil liberties.

The Winnebago Tribe, for example, just set up a tribal court after a
retrocession of Public Law 280 jurisdiction. They also simultaneously
revised their constitution to incorporate a Winnebago Bill of Rights
peralleling the ICRA in order to assure that their tribal institutions did in
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fact honor ICRA rights. It simply is not true that on most reservations in
this country tribes and tribal institutions are ignoring rights. On many,
maybe most, they are doing an honest, serious job of trying to enforce
them. Abuses exist. They also exist in the Federal and State system. Any
solution should not be systemic. It should, in fact, address the abuses,
which are not, in my judgment, systemic.

A second remedy. I pointed out that Martinez does not mean that
Federal and State courts in the civil realm have no role whatsoever to play
in the enforcement of the Indian Civil Rights Act. Where extraterritorial
force must be given to a tribal judgment under comity or full faith and
credit, and where that judgment is taken in to a State or Federal court for
enforcement, as Commissioner Destro knows because 1 know he teaches
full faith and credit, that court will be required to look at whether the
judgment comports with due process, which means whether it comports
with the ICRA as far as I'm concerned.

In short, there already is a remedy in Federal and State courts for abuse
of Indian Civil Rights Act rights after the tribe has rendered its judgment
and extraterritorial force is sought.

Furthermore, 1 think there are existing remedies in the BIA. I would not
necessarily \ay that the BIA has an active policy. Maybe they should do
more, but let me outline legally that which exists.

First, the BIA approves tribal constitutions adopted under the IRA.
Surely it can choose to disapprove them when they do not comply with
ICRA guarantees.

Second, under those constitutions the tradition has been, though the
policy is changing, to, in fact, require some or all ordinances—it depends
on the tribal constitution—to be approved by the Bureau. Certainly, in
exercising that approval requirement, the ICRA and the rights thereunder
are relevant.

Third, control of funds. We have already heard about sectior: 450(m),
and we have heard a debate about including language in contracts or not
including language in contracts. The statute, 450(m) of the Indian Self-
Determination Act found in Title 25, authorizes the recission of contracts
where rights are violated. And I assume that includes rights under the
Indian Civil Rights Act.

You don’t need language in a contract to do that. It’s in the statute. It
doesn’t make any difference what the contract said or whether it even
included the boilerplate language that apparently is found, though I have
never read the contract, in the Red Lake contract. The statute authorizes
the BIA to do that, and judicious use of that can oversee the enforcement
of civil rights.

But there is a big difference betw £n asking for a direct remedy, saying a
litigant can go into court and get an order, and a:king the Federal
Government to provide busic oversight. This is not a direct remedy. It’s a

Q0



vehicle for oversight, and that oversight exists under existing law and
should be used.

Furthetmore, the BIA has taken the position—I have cited the cases—
that it chooses what government it’s going to recognize for purposes of the
government-to-government relationship between the tribes. Just as the
United States, when it recognizes the Government of Chile, makes a
decision—what is the lawful Government of Chile with whom the United
States as a sovereign is going to deal? The United States Government
decides who is the lawful sovereign that it's going to deal with.

Now, that doesn’t mean it can displace a tribal government. It can’t, any
more than it can or should—maybe it’s that it should—displace the
Government of Chile.

On the other hand, it does make an independent decision as a sovereign,
and therefore election dispute issues—] know the Commission has heard a
number of them—can be remedied through that BIA oversight.

My final point is that even if it’s not an election dispute issue, insofar as
the United States maintains a government-to-government relationship with
a sovereign who we believe is flagrantly disregarding civil rights or
persistently giossly abusing them, we would in an international arena ask:
should we continue our government-to-government relationship? With
terrorist nations, Libya, we break diplomatic relations.

Ultimatety, 1 think that power exists with respect to Indian tribes,
although I think it requires congressional approval. Therefore, the BIA
can and should receive information on ICRA compliance. It should not,
however, try to remedy the individual case but should use the power that
it has with respect to contracts, with respect to the government-to-
government relationship, to provide negotiation room so that we have a
negotiated arrangement between two sovereigns, like the early treaty
arrangement we had with tribes, not an imposed arrangement of that
arrangement which violates potential rights which this Commission or the
Congress may deem appropriate.

My last point is about Federal judicial review. We have had a number of
proposals about Federal judicial review here. 1 would say if one believes,
as I do not, that there is systematic and widespread violation of the ICRA,
a return tc pre-Martinez law is not in order. Professor Laurence and 1 may
be playing in the same ball park, but on this issue we are not on the same
team. In fact, I would submit that if we are going to take tribal sovereignty
seriously, the basic right of tribes to make their own laws and be governed
by them, promised in treaties, in returning to pre-Martinez law treats them
as less than States.

Why? In a civil rights situation where a State court adjudicates rights,
you cannot, with the exception of habeas, which already exists for tribes,
go into Federal court and say, “Oh, no, the State court was wrong; the
right is otherwise.” That decision is, to use a lawyer’s term, res judicata. It
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is final. There is only one review mechanism available in Federal law for
State court decisions which deny civil rights. What is that one review
mechanism? It is review in the United States Supreme Court.

I would submit that if one believes—and I do not—that in fact there are
systematic widespread violations of the ICRA, that the only means which
accommodates the promise of Indian tribal sovereignty, which we
solemnly made to tribes, and the concerns about civil liberties, which I
share and have heard voiced here, would be to provide the same kind of
review mechanism in the U.S. Supreme Court from the decisions of tribal
courts. In short, at most the Article III review should be in the U.S.
Supreme Court, and I don’t fully subscribe to that solution because today 1
have been shown no widespread systematic violations of the ICRA, and
instead believe that on most reservations most tribes are making a diligent
serious effort within the limits of their budget and shrinking Federal funds
to, in fact, accommodate civil liberties.

Thank you.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Mr. Pevar. I think we want to get this all out
on the table, and then we can have some spirited or nonspirited discussion.

TESTIMONY OF STEPHEN L. PEVAR, REGIONAL COUNSEL,
MOUNTAIN STATES, AMERICAN CIVIL LIBERTIES UNION

MR. PEVAR. Thank you, Chairman Pendleton. Since you began by
discussing sports with Professor Clinton, at some risk I will point out I'm
from Denver.

[Laughter.]

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. You mention that in this room at great peril.

MR. PEVAR. I do appreciate, though, that the chairs are orange and blue,
Denver’s colors.

[Laughter.]

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. You know, I'm from San Diego, but I still have
four Redskin season tickets. I find no comfort in my being from San Diego.

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. While we're talking about this, I grew up 30
miles from Cleveland, and that doesn’t make me very happy, either.

MR. PEVAR. I'll try to make my points and leave this town pretty
quickly.

[Laughter.)

MR. PEVAR. First, a moment on my background. For the last 11 years I
have been regional counsel with the American Civil Liberties Union, and
in that capacity I supervise ACLU cases in 11 States. For over 3 years,
from 1971 through 1974, I worked for South Dakota Legal Services on the
Rosebud Indian Reservation. For the past S years I've taught Indian law at
the University of Denver Law School. I'm the author of The Rights of
Indians and Tribes by Bantam.
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And I have litigated quite a few Indian rights cases, including the first
ICRA case that went to a U.S. court of appeals, Luxon v. Rosebud Sioux
Tribe. The decision in that case was that the ICRA did provide a private
right of action. That was the position we took. That case eventually was
overruled by Martinez

The discussion of enforcement of the ICRA should be divided into three
parts, and that’s how I will divide my comments.

The first is whether the ICRA is being violated. If it's not, then we can
close our books and go home.

The second is: if it is being violated, where is it being violated, and how
is it being violated? What is the nature of the problem?

And the third question, once we have handled the first two, is: how do
we stop it? What's missing? What do we have to do to correct the
problem?

The first question: is the ICRA being violated? That question is no
longer open to serious debate. You now know what people in Indian
country have known for a long time, and that is there are massive and
pervasive violations of basic fundamental liberties, liberties that are
guaranteed in the Indian Civil Rights Act, and that people are suffering as
a result. The situation is shocking and it’s sickening.

I want to read a statement that one of the Senators of the subcommittee
that eventually proposed what became the Indian Civil Rights Act said in
December of 1967, a few months before the act was passed. This statement
by Senator Hruska of Nebraska was in support of the passage of the act.
And as | read it, see how it applies today, two decades later:

Mr. President, as the hearings developed and as the evidence and testimony were
taken, I believe all of us who are students of the law were jarred and shocked by
the conditions as far as constitutional rights for members of the Indian tribes were
concerned. There was found to be unchecked and unlimited authority over many
facets of Indian rights. There was a failure to conform to many of the elemental and
traditional constitutional safeguards. The Constitution simply was not applicable.

The ICRA was passed two decades ago, and on many reservations today
it might as well never have been enacted.

Commissioner Pendleton, you read from the testimony of the Rapid City
hearings. When I read the same testimony, I came across another discourse
that [ believe warrants repeating. You asked the Chairman of the
Cheyenne River Tribe this question:

“Question: In other words, there is no such thing as free speech or
freedom of the press or any of those activities on the reservation?”

“Answer: No.”

The answer to the first question is resoundingly, “Yes.” The ICRA is
being violated. Indeed, I don’t know of a single Federal civil rights law
that is being violated so pervasively as this one, without recourse.
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So we move, then, to the second question: what is the nature of the
problem? How widespread is it?

The nature of the problem is that it is pervasive, and it exists on every
level of tribal government, from the tribal council to the police officer.

I did not prepare a written statement. However, I do have, for the
Commission’s benefit, several documents.

The first document is a list of 24 Federal cases that were decided in the
years 1972 to 1978, in other words, pre-Martinez. These are limited to the
non-habeas corpus cases, the ones that today do not have a voice, and that
is broken into 17 different categories. And listed in there, in the abuses that
were alleged, and many of which were found by the Federal courts, are
abuses that go to the core of government, that go to the very foundations
of any governmental system, including the tribal government. They dealt
with election fraud; they dealt with keeping people off the tribal rolls; they
dealt with an interference or a refusal to obey the tribe’s own laws—not
the ICRA but a deliberate ignoring of the tribe’s own written laws;
banishment from the reservation; the taking of private property without
compensation.

The second document that 1 would like to submit is a list of 19 subject
areas that I have taken from the Rapid City hearings that, once again,
illustrate that the same problems that initiated the passage of the Indian
Civil Rights Act, that initiated the lawsuits that were filed right after the
passage of the Indian Civil Rights Act, still go on today. And in the
hundreds of pages of testimony that this Commission has already
transcribed, you will find dozens—dozens—of shocking and horrible
violations of rights that 200 years ago this country decided were
fundamental civil liberties, that no one within the borders of this country
should ever endure.

The third document is something that I received earlier this week. As it
happens, I receive in my office, on a fairly regular basis, telephone calls
and letters from Indian people in the 11 States that I supervise, telling me
of allegations of denials of their basic civil liberties. And in every instance,
unless they are being incarcerated, in which case they could use the habeas
corpus provisions of the Indian Civil Rights Act, I must tell them that they
are screwed without any recourse, that there is nothing I can do for them
and there is nothing anyone can do for them outside of their own tribal
government. And in 99 percent of those cases their response is, “But that's
the very people who are causing me this problem.”

And 1 say, “Then you have no recourse.”

This third document—in fact, there are three documents attached to
that—is a letter written from a member of the Oglala Sioux Tribe who lists
four different ICRA violations, and three of those were found by agencies
within the tribal government to be in fact ICRA violations, and those
agencies, such as the personnel board, ordered some kind of relief.
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That prompted the tribal council to pass a resolution 87.66 that
essentially negated and overrruled those tribal court or tribal agency
decisions—ex post facto, after the case—and it establishes sovereign
immunity of the tribe. So that no one, to this day, can sue the Oglala Sioux
Tribe for violations of the same fundamental rights that would drive you
and me to a Federal court in a heartbeat.

MR. HOwWARD. What is the name of that case—the case on the Pine
Ridge Reservation that you're referring to?

MR. PEVAR. Well, there are four of them. Margaret Moore.

MRr. HOWARD. I ask because we did receive that resolution recently, and
it was quite a surprise to us because we had held a hearing in Rapid City
focusing on Cheyenne River, Rosebud, and Pine Ridge, and we thought
we had raised a great many questions about sovereign immunity, and the
one exception we found in that hearing was the Oglala Sioux. Chief Judge
Robert Fast Horse was fairly successful in administering his court and
seeing that sovereign immunity was waived. He has since departed, 1
understand, and now they have reasserted sovereign immunity.

MR. PEVAR. And it wouldn't matter if he were still there because the
council has now passed this, and his hands would be tied. If he were a
responsible jurist, he would have to obey this tribal law.

Anyway, I would like to submit those documents.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Without objection, so ordered.

(The documents were entered into the record as exhibits nos. 12, 13, and
14]

MR. PEVAR. Then we move to the second half of the second question,
which is: where is this happening? How widespread is the problem?

Professor Clinton has simply stated he doesn’t think it is widespread. |
can state with the same surety it is widespread. None of us has researched
that, and I, with honesty, cannot say that it is widespread or not
widespread. I do feel the Commission can find out and that the evidence is
out there.

We know for certain that South Dakota is a legal no-man’s land. There is
not even free speech on some reservations. But how widespread this is—
what I would recommend is that on many reservations there are legal aid
offices; there’s an Indian Bar Association; there are U.S. attorneys. I would
recommend that inquiries be made to see exactly how widespread this is.

We know from the court cases that are contained in my first list that
many tribes throughout the United States have been guilty of ICRA
violations. Whether that same number exists today or whether it is more or
less, we don’t know, but that is something very important to find out.

The final question is: what should we do? What should this Commission
recommend?

This is a difficult and challenging question. It is difficult and challenging
for two reasons.
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First of all, there are two legitimate and competing interests at stake. On
the one hand is tribal sovereignty, which has been recognized, as Professor
Clinton has eloquently stated, for as long as our country has been in
existence. On the second hand, and a competing legitimate interest, is the
right of individuals to basic human values, the values upon which our
country was founded, and the values upon which we even judge other
countries.

What would we think of a country that does not guarantee free speech?
What did we think when a court in the Philippines decided that the killing
of Aquino should not be punished, that there was no recourse there? What
do we say to ourselves about the government of that country that would
permit that? And yet, those are the kinds of things that go on within our
own borders on Indian reservations.

Another reason why this is challenging and difficult is that the possible
remedies are enormous. On the one hand, you could adopt something like
Professor Clinton has stated, which still leaves the remedies with the tribe.
For example, you could order, or Congress could somehow enforce or
pass legislation if this was necessary, that would fund the BIA to fund
tribes for better law enforcement, but still leave it within tribal forums to
enforce the ICRA; to the other extreme, and that is a law that essentially
overrules the Martinez case, that would create a private right of action for
Indians.

One thing is certain. Something must be done. Not only are people
suffering, but tribes are suffering. As several of the witnesses pointed out,
this type of injustice, especially where a tribe is ignoring its own laws and
creating protections in which individuals cannot even sue their tribes,
creates a disrespect and a contempt for the tribe itself.

History has shown—and I'm fearful of tribes for their sake if we alk v
this to go on—that any government that ignores the essential rights of i..
citizens will not exist. And I think part of the reason why tribes are in such
disarray today is because in 1934 we imposed upon them a new form of
government without also providing restrictions on governmental power,
without providing the limitations that every society has to control
governmental abuse.

Now, where 1 leave off from Professor Clinton is that 1 do not see a
visble alternative other than a private right of acticn. However, I must say
this. You would be doing a disservice to Indians and to this country if you
have a knee-jerk reaction to the problems on Indian reservations and say
that just occause there is not free speech there must be access to the
Federal courts.

What I feel is the only proper analysis is that we should enact a remedy
that is the least drastic remedy possible that will accomplish the goal of
enforcing civil rights. I am open, and I feel the Commission should be
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open, to the possibility that something short of a private right of action will
accomplish our goals. However, thus far I am not convinced that there is.

So what I will do is state my case for the extreme remedy, and that is &
private right of action. However, even in offering it, [ wish to advise the
Commission that I am not saying by this that something short of this
cannot work. I have not seen any evidence, however, that it would.

The reason why I propose a private right of action, a legislative
overruling of Martinez, is for at least the following five reasons—and this
comes from my human personal reaction to having lived on an Indian
reservation and having had streams of people come into my office, and still
today as an ACLU attorney having people call me and say, “I've just lost
my job without a hearing”; “they just took away my land assignment”;
“they just evicted me from my house because 1 supported the last
candidate.” And knowing that those people have nowhere to turn, I
support a private right of action.

Number one, a private right of action guarantees that the remedy lies
with the victim. The victim does not have to appeal on bended knee to the
Bureau of Indian Affairs or to anyone else. That victim can go into Federal
court and seek redress. | would not want my free speech to be dependent
on a BIA official, and whether that BIA official thinks that maybe I should
move someplace else or not, which 1 agree was a horrible suggestion or
comment—

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. That was made by the BIA.

Mnr. PEVAR. Yes.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Someone referred to that earlier. I just want to
point it out at this point since you've made it now, and so there'll be some
continuity in the record, but it was made by Mr. Swimmer himself that if
you want to move, you can get some other rights.

MR. PEVA... Yes, that's an embarrassment. Since you're a man of color,
that's like telling a black man that if they don’t like the busing situation in
Alabama, they c:n move to Massachusetts.

I found that offensive.

The second reason is that the alternative of leaving rights with the tribe
hasn’t worked. Even the electoral process, as some people within the BIA
have suggested as being the remedy—well, if this government is not giving
you your rights, wait 2 years or 4 years and vote them out of office.

Civil rights are not subject to majority rule. In fact, that is the nature of
civil rights. They are antisovereignty. They are antigovernment control.
Everyone in the United States can vote to take away my free speech and
the Bill of Rights guarantees it. It is not an answer to tell someone who
calls me up that, “Well, wait 2 years and vote that person out of office.”
Our governmental values are antagonistic to that very concept.

The third reason why [ support a private right of action is that the
alternative of leaving it with government agencies hasn’t worked. We had
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testimony today that the BIA doesn't want the responsibility, hasn't
exercised the responsibility that it does have. Indeed, as Professor Clinton
pointed out, the BIA could already do a lot more than it is doing, and I feel
it is irresponsible for not doing. They have the responsibility to oversee 120
tribes and their constitutions and their laws, and to my knowledge they
haven't ever done anything to disapprove a tribal law or a tribal
constitution based on the ICRA.

Even under the 638 contracts, once again—and [ haven’t read that law
in a little while, but as I recall it says that the tribe can be permitted to take
over a Federal program, an otherwise Federal program, and operate it
itself, if it proves that it will do so consistent with Federal law.

So the enforcement opportunities are there. And the BIA is ignoring
those responsibilities.

Moreover, as the Commission has already pointed out, the sanctions that
the BIA would have are unconscionable anyway. Because what would the
BIA do? Simply increase the harm to the very victims that are already
suffering from it. And history has shown that where you have such drastic
penalties, they aren’t used; it is too drastic.

The fourth reason is that several rules were created by the courts during
1972 to 1978 that ameliorate the harshness of the ICRA.

Number one is the courts require an exhaustion requirement. That can
either be part of the legislative history of an amendment, or I'm certain
that the courts are going to require it anyway. So essentially, only those
tribes that are violating the law will find themselves faced with an ICRA
challenge in Federal court because litigants must first use all available
tribal remedies.

The seccad thing is that the courts required that the ICRA be
interpreted consistent with tribal values, that, in other words, the ICRA is
not necessarily coextensive; it is not necessarily parallel with the Bill of
Rights. And several people—I think you, counsel—asked for citations to
cases on that. Three that come off the top of my head—and two of them
are listed there, the White Eagle case and the Howlert case, and then one
that’s not on there, the Wourded Head case.

To give you an example, as I recall, the Eighth Circuit ruled that the
25th amendment—I believe it’s the 25th amendment—which lowered the
voting age from 21 to 18, even though that is part of our Constitution, it
wouldn’t necessarily be applied; and indeed the Eighth Circuit ruled that it
wouldn’t be applied to an Indian tribe, which showed that its tribal value
and its tribal customs were 30 important in requiring a voting age of 21 that
in that instance the due process and equal protection clauses of the U.S.
Constitution would not be knee-jerkedly applied to an Indian reservation.

So there already is that kind of safety net for tribes in the ICRA.

Finally, a private right of action can include that the remedy be limited
to declaratory and injunctive relief. I feel that this should be something left
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up to the tribes, just as it is left up to the States. However, we at least will
know that when basic fundamental rights are being violated, Indians can
80 to a Federal court and knock on the door and say, “At least get them to
stop.”

The fith and final reason why I support a private right of action is
essentially this, that in the final analysis only those tribes that are violating
the law have anything t0 worry about. Someone may say, “Well, what
about the frivolous suits, that they may eventually have to go into Federal
court even in those situations in which they are going to wind up
winning?” The only response I have to that is that it is a small price to pay
for human decency. That is a situation that State and Federal governments
face today too. Sometimes you win and sometimes you lose. But the
problem is not closing the courthouse door.

I want to close with just a personal note. There probably is no place in
the free world today in which someone does not have free speech, and
where someone who is denied free speech has no recourse than within an
Indian reservation, within the United States of America. | am ashamed by
this.

1 appreciate Professor Clinton’s point that sovereign immunity is
something they bargained for, and that all other things being equal we
should let them have it. There comes a point in time—and this country
made this decision over 200 years ago, and every cou..try in the free world
has followed suit—there comes a point in time when you say, “I have to
make a choice. There are certain human values that our system of
government acknowledges and respects and judges others by. We cannot
permit this to go on.”

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Thank you. gentlemen.

Before we go to questions, let me make a comment. This Commission’s
mind is really open, and I think the fact that we have had balanced
testimony throughout all this process is an indication of that. We realize
this is an extremely difficult situation, as you have indicated, Mr. Pevar, to
make some recommendations to Congress and to the administration. When
we make one, or make several if that's the case, we want to make certain
that we are doing what is in the best interests of the people who are to be
the recipients of the kinds of recommendations we would make if our

I think the three of you have outlined some extremely important
parameters of that recommendation development. And 1 think, spesking
for my colleagues, we need you to be aware of thet. That is why 1 said in
the beginning that there is absolutely no way we could close off this record
today. We have too much material to look at. We haven't had a chance to
see it all. And I'm certain thet my colleagues in carrying out their
responsibility want to be able to review every piece of paper that we have.
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ComMMiIssiONER ALLEN. We'll tell you when it begins to be repetitive,
Mr. Chairman.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. When | used t0 teach school, Dr. Allen, I used
to say to my students, “If you don't hit me in the first paragraph of your
test paper, you don't have me at all. After that point I begin to stop
reading.” o

But I think you need 10 know and the other witnesses need to know that
there is no rush to judgment; there is no rush to judgment. If anything, we
need to make certain that we know exactly what we are doing. And there
is one person | know that will not let us rush 10 judgment, and that is
Commissioner Destro, who has slowed us down on more than one
occasion 30 that we don’t make this mistake. I think, in all respect to him,
there's been one instance where he has slowed us down where we have
been able to do some things that we think could make a difference in how
what we recommend is accepted, and | must applaud him for that.

So don’t look to tomorrow morning’s paper to see that three Commis-
sioners have decided, “This is what we do with ICRA, and this is what we
do to Congress.” That will not be the case, and there will be many moons
passed, if you will, before we come to the point of saying, “‘Here's what we
recommend,” and I'm certain that a lot of you will know about that at the
time we feel comfortable with doing it.

I'm being extensive with those remarks so you will understand what I'm
saying. | appreciate your testimony.

Counsel.

Mr. HOwWARD. Just very briefly. Mr. Pevar, you are right to say that
ICRA complaints can no longer be sent to the Department of Justice, or st
least the Department of Justice can no longer do anything about them, so
you seem to be getting a great many of these complaints. The Commission
can receive those complaints. We have reccived a great number of
complaints since we started this project 2 years ago, and if you would like
to forward those complaints that you've received to us, we'd be very
happy to have them.

MR. PEVAR. What can you do with them?

MR. HowARD. What can the Commission do about anything? We can
make findings and recommendations and report to Congress and the
President. The crux of the matter of ICRA enforcement is to gather the
facts, to base any recommendations we may make on data that is
nationwide.

MR. PEVAR. Well, part of the documents 1 submitted you can consider as
four separate complaints. They were presented to me that way. And my
response was, 1 would like to present them to the U.S. Commission, but
unfortunately there is nothing you can do outside of tribal remedies, and
you have exhausted those already, 30 you're out of Juck.”
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MR. HOowARD. I understand, but we can use them in writing our report.
We need to digest these things. We are continuing to gather information
from the tribes, as Chairman Pendleton said in his opening statement. We
submitted a letter to the Department of the Interior—you may have seen it,
dated December 9—which enclosed a nine-page questionnaire. And a
great many of those questions had to be sent directly to the tribes because
the Bureau did not have that information. I'm talking about the number of
ICRA complaints brought, the numbers of instances in which sovereign
immunity is raised as a defense. We are still receiving that information. It's
coming in slowly but hopefully surcly.

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. One of the suggestions you made strikes me as
being useful, and we might want to—

MR. PEVAR. I hope after all that—

[Laughter.]

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. In terms of information gathering. There are a
lot of useful suggestions in there. But our focus in sending out that
questionnaire was on BIA and obviously, since they didn’t collect the
information, to the tribes. It seems to me if you could help us and if others
could help us in terms of who else we ought to send a copy of that
questionnaire to—we know with respect to the reservations how to find
the legal aid office on the reservations that we've dealt with, but you
obviously have more access like who should we send it to? Who is the
network?

MR. PEVAR. Here’s an important name and telephone number for you.
The Legal Services has an Indian law backup center, and that Indian law
backup center gives backup work to all the Indian Legal Services in the
country. The fellow in charge of that now is Steve Moore. His telephone
number is (303) 447-8760. And I believe he has the name and address of
the director of every Indian Legal Services program in the United States.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Commissioner Destro is making that request
because we only visited two locations. It is impossible, under the
constraints that this Congress has placed upon us, the budgetary con-
straints and the muzzle constraints about what we can say, maybe, for us to
go much farther with this. We might be able to make some other
arrangements. But the thing is we want to be able to use as many resources
as are there to be able to collect what we think is important information.

And | understand that my letter to Secretary Hodel is all over this
country, so if you don't have a copy, we'd be glad to give you a copy of
the letter to Secretary Hodel 30 you can see what kinds of questions we are
asking of the tribes.

"‘COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Do you know whether or not they collected
data? Do they collect that kind of data in some kind of a tabular form?
Because when I did volunteer work at Legal Aid in Cleveland, we had to
fill out a hittle form that I assume went into a computer bank somewhere
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that justified the funding levels that they were going to be asking for the
next year. Now, whether or not that is easily retrievable from whatever
data banks—but does somebody mark on a Legal Services intake sheet that
this might be an ICRA claim?

MR. PEVAR. We used to do that also when [ worked for Legal Aid.
Again, I don’t know if it’s still done.

MR. CLINTON. Could I say something about the information access
problem for a second?

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Yes.

MR. CLINTON. There is a footnote in my statement which suggests that
there is a problem, but it’s a problem of collection of the cases and
publication. I know if I want to find out whether States are honoring the
constitutional amendments, I can trot into my law library and take a look
at the reported decisions. While the Indian Law Reporter has episodically
collected those decisions which are sent in, there is no systematic reporter
that collects all the tribal decisions

1 happen to think that education is an important answer in the questions
here, and if in fact there were such a reporter system, hopefully funded
with some dollars that would subsidize it so the tribes that are poor can
afford it, it might come as a surprise to some tribes that, yes, there are
other tribes that realize that there is an exception to sovereign immunity
called Ex parte Young, and yes, you can sue a tribal official without
involving sovereign immunity, and yes, that's a classic part of some tribe’s
jurisdiction.

I think that such a reporter system that is systematic, instead of sort of
voluntary in a way the privately funded Indian Law Reporter system is,
might be very, very helpful both to give government and this Commission
the information which it is seeking but also to help elevate and educate the
level of legal discourse among both law-truined and paralegal judges on
these kinds of questions.

Now, it is quite true that a judge at Oglala is not going to have to follow
the decision of a judge on the different sovereign immunity <tatutes from,
say, Colville. But I think that knowing other tribal judges are doing certain
things to enforce the Indian Civil Rights Act—and they are—would be
very, very helpful and would basically solve two problems at once.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. You bring to mind that I had a chance to speak
to the Indian Tribal Court Clerks in Reno last year—Counsel Howard and
I went out together—and found them extremely interested in the kind of
thing that we are doing. But what I found even more important is that they
had never seen what we have put out called the Indian Civil Rights
Handbook. And the request for that handbook from people was just
outstanding. We came back and had to mail out copies to people.

I think what you are saying is that if we can pass out more information,
people can begin to make some of their own decisions with respect to this,
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but how far we can go with that jurisdictionally or budgetarily I don’t
know, but your comments bring to mind that session.

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Let me just add while we're on the subject that
one of the recommendations we might consider would be that we know, I
think it’s fair to say, that the tribes don't have enough money to consider
anything like access to LEXIS. And 1 do know that a lot of the deal Mead
has cut with a lot of the State judges is, “You send us your opinions and
we'll give you a free terminal.” That’s the way to get the stuff. But the
Federal Government does, in fact, have its own system called JURIS,
which might be expanded to have an Indian law database in it so you could
just search it as part of the Federal Government’s trust responsibilities.

But that’s on the law side. What I was asking about, although I think it is
certainly relevant but we need the fact side, too, and we talked about
around this table, and Commissioner Berry made the comment two
meetings ago, I believe it was, that there really are no new ideas. But it is
really impossible to find out exactly how many Federal civil rights claims
there are and under which statutes because everybody has incompatible
databases, and wouldn’t it be nice to have a nice consistent database, that
we could pop into the database any time we wanted to and find out what's
going on.

And that’s why I asked the question, do you know whether they still fill
out those sheets, and is there some way, even to recommend that Congress
fund some money, to pull that information out, because they shouldn't be
making laws based on no information, although they do it all the time.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Can we move to some questions? I think we
are almost catching up with ourselves here, and I think the record speaks
for i self, but there are probably some questiors we aeed to ask you and
you need to respond in a way that makes it ar even better record. Brian.

MR. MILLER. ] was going to say for the sake of time I will limit myself to
one comment and one question.

The comment is we spoke of balance a minute ago, and I just wanted to
comment for the record that we did invite other witnesses that would have
considered themselves unfriendly witnesses, but they have either declined
or have not been able to make it after accepting.

The question is addressed to Mr. Pevar, and that is, I wanted his
thoughts on how a study of the Indian Civil Rights Act compares to other
studies of civil rights. I thought, since you were with the ACLU, it would
be most properly addressed to you.

MR. PEVAR. Let me make sure I understand the question. How, for
example, does the enforcement of the ICRA compare with the enforce-
ment of the Civil Rights Act of 19647 Have there been more or less
violations?

MR. MILLER. Well, I guess what I was asking was: we have heard a lot
about tribal sovereignty and a lot about difficulties in obtaining evidence of
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violations of civil rights. 1 was wondering if you have any thoughts on
whether the difficulties in ascertaining those violations and I guess
conflicting rights of governmental units—if those problems come up in
other civil rights investigations. I don’t know if I made it clear, but I think
you understand where I'm going.

MR. PEVAR. I think I understand where you're going, but I think the
two things that are most critical—and if this answers your question,
good—are, number one, you are having violations of this Federal law; and
secondly, I don’t know of any other civil rights laws in which the
courthouse doors are closed to enforce them.

Whether there are more ICRA violations than more violations of the
1964 Civil Rights Act, I don’t know and I don’t think anyone knows. But,
without hesitation, I will say there are pervasive and massive violations of
the ICRA for which there is no recour::. And that is something that is
intolerable under our system of government, or should be.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Mr. Clinton, I saw you shake your head, and
Mr. Laurence, are you just being an innocent—if you're being a sponge -
and taking this all in, it’s okay, but if you want to contribute, please feel
free to do so.

MR. LAURENCE. I had you to myself. I thought it was only fair to let
those two—

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. No, I don’t think it’s fair for you to cop out
with that. . '

(Laughter.]

MR. LAURENCE. I'll remain the calm voice of moderation, and when you
get done with them, I'll sort of wrap things up.

[Laughter.)

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Touche.

MR. CLINTON. I'm really troubled by the statement that the courthouse
door is closed. On many Indian reservations the courthouse door is quite
open. And notice it is not just the back courthouse door is open, but as |
suggested in my statement, if the judgment requires extraterritorial effect,
the Federal and State courthouse doors are open to hear the violation.
Furthermore, in certain situations, certain limited situations, there are
other remedies that could be sought. I would be the first to confess that
they might be more aggtessively pursued by the Bureau and the Bureau
ought to be doing something, but the law already provides for them.

Painting a picture that suggests that there are either no direct remedies
or there are no indirect remedies for these violations of civil rights does
not, in my judgment, accurately reflect the present state of the law. In
short, one of the problems we may have may be paying more careful
attention to that law which we have, instead of trying to advance a
systemwide remedy for isolated problems—tand there are problems; 1
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would be the first to concede it—but they tend not to be systematic, in my
Jjudgment.

And it seems to me the remedy which has been proposed here by my
colleague next to me, which is a return to pre-Martinez law, not only does
disservice to another right of Indians, the right of sovereignty, but treats
the sovereignty as less than that of States, in contradistinction to my
proposal which, if I thought there was a systematic problem, would be the
first thing 1 think we ought to try because it represents the most limited
intrusion on sovereignty that we can have and still accommodate an
external review of the tribal forums. And there are forums.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Mr. Laurence, how do you feel about the
dialogue between these two with respect to there may be some ground that
we don't have to go to pre-Martinez? There’s a difference of opinion here
about how to do this, about what we should recommend—might be
something in between a legislative repeal of ICRA—and I risk to say a
word that you don’t like, which is tinkering with the principle of it. But
how do you feel about the sense of what it is that I'm saying, if not the
substance?

MR. LAURENCE. The substance of what you say is that you'd like me to
referee these two?

A good part of what each of them said, they passed in the night. The
first half of Mr. Pevar’s testimony had to do with what is going on on the
reservations, and I am certainly in no position to say that. And Bob Clinton
didn’t say anything, I think, that really contradicted anything that was in
that first half. That all depends upon other witnesses who are coming
before you.

Likewise, the first half of Bob’s comments with his respect for
sovereignty, Mr. Pevar called eloquent or something like that. I got the
impression that Mr. Pevar does not object to Bob’s recitation of the history
of tribal sovereignty, so [ don’t feel as though there is any dispute to be
settled there.

As | recall, Mr. Pevar was very careful before he listed his five reasons
to overrule Martinez; he was careful to say, “Maybe there is something less
intrusive and we ought to do the least intrusive thing.” Bob’s suggestion is
that there is a less intrusive alternative, and that is certiorari to the Supreme
Court of the United States.

I'll referee that dispute by saying people more savvy than I wculd
suggest that that is not a politically available alternative, to convince
Congress to allow petitions for certiorari to the U.S. Supreme Court. If it
were, I think I would prefer that to overruling Martinez. I'll let Mr. Pevar
say whether he would prefer that if it is a viable option.

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. Let me ask you before you do that, to follow up
a bit on that—because when the statement was made by Mr. Clinton—I
was mindful of the fact that the analogy wasn’t exactly complete. It is true
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that res judicata leads to the Supreme Court, but it is also true that citizens
of States have the option of filing allegations of violations of their Federal
rights in Federal district court. They can file in State court or in Federal
district court.

Do you mean by accepting his formula to limit it to an appeal to the
Supreme Court, or would you give the option also, tribal court or Federal
district couvrt?

MR. LAURENCE. You're talking about 1983 actions that will allow an
injunction. Really, Bnb has to respond to this because Federal jurisdic-
tion—

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Excuse me. For the sake of the record, you
mean section 19837

MR. LAURENCE. Yes.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. For the sake of the record, it's section 1983,
not 1983 as a year, because those who will read the transcript will wonder
what happened in 1983—people like me who are nonlawyers.

MR. LAURENCE. I certainly don’t remember where I was in 1983 or
what I was doing, but I'm sure it wasn’t in any way illegal.

[Laughter.]

MR. LAURENCE. Bob Clinton will want to respond to what section 1983
means. He teaches the course and 1 don’t, and there is an exhaustion
requirement. I'll let him speak to that.

I had Commissioner Allen’s reaction when I read Bob’s written remarks
over lunch. I was sort of persuaded by Mr. Pevar, though, just now saying,
“Let’s try the least intrusive thing we can,” and certainly certiorari to the
Supreme Court is less intrusive than de nowo review in district court.

So if I thought that were a politically viable option, then based upon the
Pevar less-intrusive remedy argument, I'd follow Bob’s suggestion. I'm just
afraid I don't think anybody in this town is going to convince Congress to
open up the U.S. Supreme Court to writs of certiorari from—what would it
be?—125 tribal courts.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. What you're really saying is there is a legal
way of looking at this, and then there is the political reality of what you do
with the law.

MR. LAURENCE. So I'm told.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. There’s a political way of looking at this whole
thing, I think, that is different from what Mr. Clinton is saying, that the
law makes these things available to you. I guess we could say we would
doubt very much if Congress would tinker, even in the smallest amount,
with the Civil Rights Act of 1964 for the same kind of reason.

MR. CLINTON. If I could address the 42 U.S.C. section 1983 problem,
because I do teach in that area.

CoMMISSIONER DESTRO. Could I interrupt before you do? There is an
aspect of this that it would be useful for you to address at the same time.
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Commissioner Allen addressed a plaintiff-initiated complaint, and if you
might wrap into your comments the civil rights removal statute, which is a
defendant-oriented Federal remedy that may be legally available, but I
defy most people to find a case where it has succeeded since the 1860s.

MR. CLINTON. Actually, that question wrapped into it would have been
my answer to it, which is while that is, at least in theory, available with
respect to 28 U.S.C. section 1343, if I recall correctly, civil rights removal,
the reality of that kind of removal in Federal court is virtually nil. But let’s
talk briefly about [section) 1983.

One looks very carefully at 1983 actions that are brought successfully
today in Federal court. They are not about abuses which occur in State
courts. Why are they not about abuses which occur in State courts?
Because those abuses for the most part are adjudicated in those courts. The
decision of the court is final.

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. Let me interrupt, because that is not the
reference we're making. We're only talking about civil rights claims,
whether they are against tribal councils, tribal police officers, courts,
whatever. It is not a question of abuses within the court being reviewed on
writs of error that we are discussing here.

MR. CLINTON. Precisely, I understand that. But let me take that one step
further. Since many tribes—unfortunately not as many as both the
Commission and I might like—do in fact provide remedies of those ICRA
violations in their tribal court structure, and since all the panelists
conceded that going to those tribal court structures should be the first
thing that anybody should be required to do, that is noticed different than
1983. The entire panel here is saying that there should not be concurring
jurisdiction in the first instance, and without exhaustion—there is no
exhaustion doctrine in 1983 law. Then no one is suggesting really that
there ought to be a concurrent original action. Why? Again, it’s because of
the accommodation of that important Indian right of sovereignty, which in
many ways is stronger, as I suggested at the beginning of my statement,
than the claim to separate governmental status of the States.

Now, the second thing I'd say about that, which I think is very
important, is that if you look at the Supreme Court’s recent line of
decisions over the last 15 years with respect to 1983 cases, the increasing
trend among those cases in doctrines like Younger abstention, and in
doctrines like the Antitax Injunction Act requirements, has been to return
to the States the front line, often exclusive handling of such constitutional
claims, leaving the remedy to 1257 Supreme Court review.

In short, the ‘U.S. Supreme Court has come to the realization that an
overly broad enforcement of 1983, without reference to State sovereignty,
could in fact impinge on State sovereignty in a serious way and has
relegated those claims back to State courts and the Supreme Court review.
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Their concern about State sovereignty is precisely my concern about
tribal sovereignty. But, in fact, I go one step further.

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. Before you do—let’s try to get them step by
step, and in that way we won't get lost. What I missed in your response
about the certiorari with respect to the tribes is that same symbiotic
relationship that allows systems to grow together. What you just described
for States and the Supreme Court or the Federal court, there’s a symbiotic
relationship. Are you suggesting that same degree of symbiosis for the
tribes and the Federal system?

MR. CLINTON. No, I am actually suggesting something slightly different,
and that something slightly different is that the United States honor its
treaty promises to tribes, which it never made to States, to treat them as
sovereign and to respect that sovereignty. Therefore, the extra mile of
exhaustion, which was contained in Mr. Pevar’s statement and, for that
matter, Bob Laurence’s statement, which suggests that you can’t initiate in
Federal court without going to tribal forums first.

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. There are some promises of sovereignty to
States, but we won’t get into that. And it’s not viewed as governmental; it’s
constitutional.

MR. CLINTON. I also write in the area of constitutional history and we
can discuss the history but not in this hearing.

I happen to believe, frankly, that the promises of the Constitution in the
Indian commerce clause, but also in the treaties, the tribes are stronger, and
that there’s a difference. The fundamental difference is the States and most
of their people were in fact part of the Federal bargain; they were part of
the “we the people.” It is not true that the tribes were.

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. Just one last word. That is not entirely so. When
you say “the tribes,” of course, you imply every Indian and every Indian
tribe. That is not entirely true. There were some Indians who were
included. And, indeed, the language of the Constitution excludes Indians
not taxed expressly in order to include Indians taxed, meaning those who
could be part of the union that was formed.

MR. CLINTON. | have researched that clause, and my conclusion with
respect to that research is that the “Indians not taxed” reference had
reference to Indians who were still living in tribal communities. In short, it
had reference to tribes. What was involved were, in fact, those Indians
who had, for various reasons, including, I might add, slavery, been taken
out of tribal communities and were living in what were then white
communities, and that’s a very different statement.

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. Except historically, but we’ll talk about it
afterwards.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. I'm liking this, but we have to bring this to a
close soon because we have some other testimony.

Mr. Pevar, do you have a comment about that?
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MRr. PEVAR. Very quickly.

Again, I feel the test should be the least intrusive means that works, in
other words, affords meaningful redress for the violations of civil liberties,
the civil liberties that are guaranteed ir: the ICRA. And I have reluctantly
come to the conclusion, for the reasons I have stated, that a private right of
action is that least drastic means.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. That works.

MR. PEVAR. That works; right. And the reason why I rejected that is
one my colleague on my right has stated, that politically 1 don’t see either,
when Congress is presented with opening up the Federal district courts to
these problems or opening up the U.S. Supreme Court to hear appeals
from the 120 IRA tribes and all the other Indian tribes, the 500-some tribes.

Secondly, it is ineffective because the Supreme Court takes so few cases.
Their rules even tell you, “We don’t take cases just because there’s been a
violation. We only take those cases that will establish important princi-
ples.”

That means for my clients, and for the dozens of people who are
suffering ICRA violations, they won't have any more redress in practice
than they have today. They will never be heard. And even if they could
afford to hire a counsel to present a petition for certiorari to the United
States Supreme Court as to why they lost their tribal job—even if they
could do all that, the chances that the Supreme Court is going to accept
their case is so minimal that I don’t find that to be a meaningful
opportunity.

MR. CLINTON. If I could just add, if reality is a matter of concern—and |
think it should be—I think one has to also compare the speed of remedy of
direct review in the Supreme Court, which is a one-step process, with the
speed and cost of remedy of first going to a Federal district court, then
having it appealed to the United States court of appeals, and then finally
the potentiality ultimately of Supreme Court review after that; it’s a three-
step process on top of tribal review. To the extent that it is more costly—
and I think it is far more costly—it also is far more disruptive of tribal
government if, in fact, it turns out that the claim was without merit. It’s
costly, even for injunctive and declaratory relief. The other remedy is far
less costly and more speedy.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. The last word is yours, Bob.

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. I would agree with your last comment in the
sense that I have been told on other occasions, once by the Attorney
General of Missouri and once by the former Governor of Rhode Island,
that civil rights attorneys’ fees are the single highest line-item budget in
either of their State law enforcement budgets. And he said, *‘And that only
includes our costs, not the ones we have to shell out because we lost the
case.” So in terms of cost you may well be correct, and I suspect that you
are.
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This is a hard question to pose—and 1 have done it in constitutional law
classes that I've taught, and as a result have been accused by a couple of
my students of being a critical legal studies aficionado. It seems to me that
everybody agrees on the goal here, 30 it seems to me what we really need
to do is go back to the initial assumption. And it seems to me that what we
have here is some differences of opinion among this panel. The BIA people
profess no opinion on it. They are just merely the vessel into which
Congress pours its intent.

But here we have Professor Clinton taking the position that the tribes
are not like States; tribes are independent sovereigns who weren’t part of
the deal; and that the result is that we should look at them under the
treaties. If I hear you correctly—and I'd like to have you expand on it a
little bit—the limitations, if any, of Congress’ power under the Indian
commerce clause.

Then what I hear Mr. Pevar saying is that, “Wait a minute, that may all
be true, but this is the United States, and it is too late to make those kinds
of arguments, that these people have been incorporated into the United
States, they are United States citizens, and there are certain modes of
behavior that we expect out of all civilized people, and it makes us look
rather hypocritical for us to say, ‘Well, they have sovereignty’—to violate
their people’s rights.” That is why at the very first hearing we had in
Rapid City, South Dakota, one of the only TV networks that was there
was South African television because they see the reservations as our
homelands.

And not to characterize Professor Laurence’s testimony too much, it is a
somewhat mediate position that no matter what you do, there ought to be
kind of a middle ground. I think everybody agrees on that, that there ought
to be some way we can do it. But it seems t0 me, isn’t it going to be
incumbent upon this Commission as a first step to say that you have got to
address the notion of what is an Indian tribe, and what is its relationship to
the Congress—not how does it compare to a State, but what is a tribe?

I think everybody would agree it is valuable, whatever it is. It seems to
me that Congress did make a deal back in the carly days, and we don't get
rid of the word “reservation”; it was all given to them; they reserved it,
just like the States reserved something in the 10th amendmeni. What it is,
the Supreme Court is not sure, and I don't think we’re any more sure about
what the tribes reserved.

But isn't that really the question? What is a tribe and what is their
relationship to this polity we call the United States of America?

Mnr. CLINTON. I think ultimately that is the critical issue, and I also think
in addressing that issue you hit the nail on the head in suggesting that the
question of congressional power is, in fact, a critical question. I have long
been researching the issue of the scope of congressional power under the
Indian commerce clause, and I am familiar with the excellent work of your
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colleague, Nell Jessup Newton at Catholic, who has done some very
similar and excellent work. And I come to the following conclusions with
respect to it.

History suggests that it is about regulating governmental affairs of a
United States sovereign with another sovereign. The Indian tribe isn't
included among other sovereigns like foreign nations for nothing. That is
bilateral relations. It involves negotiation. It involves government-to-
government contact.

The idea of plenary power historically never developed under the
Indian commerce clause. It instead developed in at least three critically
important cases in the late 19th and early 20th century: the Kagama
decision. the Lone Wolf decision, and the Sandoval decision, under
something called the trusteeship power, which I dc 't find anywhere in the
Constitution and I don't think is legitimate.

The Court in McClanahan rejected, rejected, any idea of a trusteeship
power but never went back and fundainentally considered the question of
what is the scope of commerce with the Indian tribes. That is the
fundamental question.

What 1 think that means is government-to-government dealings and
negotiations.

Now, notice in those government-to-government dealings and negotia-
tions, sometimes the sovereign has cards to play, whether that is Federal
monies for the judiciary, whether that is recognition of a tribe, whether
that is programs. And we do that with foreign nations. We do it and can do
it with tribes. But there is a vast difference, Commissioners, between
negotiating with the tribe and making a reco. .mendation, which is what
you heard from my colleague to my right today, to impose something on
the tribe. I have some problems with solutions that are impositions and not
the product of negotiations about that fundamental right that we
guaranteed to the tribes in the treaties.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Mr. Pevar, I thought Congress already decided
that.
MR. PEVAR. Congress did. I have a problem with imposing something
on tribes, t0o. I have a greater problem with denying free speech. And 1
simply come down on the side that there are basic values that this country
prides itself on, and we cannot deny some of our citizens those same rights.

So in other words, you ask your first question: what is the nature of an
Indian tribe? But then you must ask the second question: will we permit
that Indian tribe to deny free speech?

CoMMISSIONER DESTRO. Isn’t the subsidiary question, before you get to
that, that there is no other sovereign on the face of the earth whose citizens
are also citizens of the United States? And we granted every single one of
them citizenship. If you're going to draw an analogy—and it's not mine; I
wish I'd come up with it—but it’s a lot closer to what are the citizens of
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Puerto Rico than it is to what are the citizens of Louisiana. That's why I
say that I'm not so sure. I mean, it strikes me there has got to be a mediate
position between negotiating about our own citizens' rights, which we
usually do at the barrel of a gun with a foreign power, and as I recall from
the BIA affairs they were looking at it like this was a part of the War
Department. We had the troops, and Kit Carson moved them from one
place to another. These were subject people, and now we made them all
citizens so now they’re different from Bolivia or the Philippines or Chile.
And that may well be the genesis of Mr. Laurence’s comment.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Mr. Laurence, do you want to say something?

MR. LAURENCE. With all respect, I think you are a crit—[laughter]—and
as an anticrit I think such discussicns have almost nothing to do with
getting bread on Indian tables or free speech into their mouths. And the
whole idea of Congress taking on a debate as to where in the world the
plenary power comes just scares the bejabbers out of me, and I'd never
suggest they ought to do that.

CoMMISSIONER DESTRO. That is important, but politically speaking, it
seems to me that is implicit in cverything I've read. And one of the things I
find most amazing about people who say I'm a crit is I'm probably one of
the first conservative crits that most people have come across. It just seems
to me implicit in all of this are those kinds of arguments that you're never
going to be able to get down to brass tacks to find those mediate things
unless you say, “Look, let’s be honest about what it is we can expect for
American citizens out of Indian tribes.”

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. I'm not so sure we can decide what a tribe is. If
we have to ask that question, that’s good discussion at some point. But the
question is, as Mr. Pevar said, there are people who are suffering now, and
what is it that we can do to recommend relief? There’s a bill sitting up
there now about self-determination of education. If we can influence that,
it’s fine, because I don’t know when we might have a chance to influence
something again, and probably we won’t have a chance to do that. But the
record that is here certainly could impact and should impact upon the
kinds of decisions the Senate makes in the bill now before it.

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. Mr. Chairman, if 1 remember correctly, Mr.
Ickes said earlier that those make nice discussions, but they don’t solve
problems. But I'd like to remind you and everyone else that usually
problems come precisely from those kinds of discussions having taken
place carlier, at least implicitly, and decisions being founded on them. And
to resolve problems sometimes means being fundamental. It means
unlearning history we think we know when in fact we don’t. It means
changing concepts. That’s often what these things lead to.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Gentlemen, thank you very much.

We'll take all three people next—Ms. Smith, Mr. Colosimo, and Judge
Coochise.
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Mr. Colosimo is not here, so we will take Ms. Smith and Judge
Coochise.

[Jane Smith and Elbridge Coochise were sworn.]

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. | might add that those persons who wish to
make your 5-minute statements during the public section, we will ask you
to sign up with the clerk right off my right shoulder, and we'll be glad to
take your testimony for the record. Those who want to write us, feel free
to do so.

Ms. Smith, go right ahead.

.

TESTIMONY OF JANE SMITH, PRESIDENT, NATIONAL
AMERICAN INDIAN COURT CLERKS ASSOCIATION

Ms. SMITH. I am Jane Smith, president of the National American Indian
Court Clerks Association. To give you a slight background, I have been
with the Colville Tribal Court as a court administrator from Washington
State for the past 7 years. I have been president of this organization for
about the last year and a half.

I am somewhat representing our 287 members across the United States
which comprise 146 major tribes. So 1 feel that I kind of know what's
going nn. But I would like to clarify that, that what 1 have been nearing
today is a lot of substantive law, that type of thing. I'm from the trenches.
I'm the one that has to do the actual workings and do all of the paper
shuffling that goes along with affording people these tribal rights, so I hope
you guys will keep that in mind when you’re asking me questions.

One thing that I thought was kind of interesting, at least in the discussion
today, was about using money as a form of making sure that we do afford
people their rights. I'm not sure of some of the other tribes in the other
areas, but I know at least as far as we are concerned we do get 638 money
from the Bureau, and we have to do a lot of paper shuffling to make sure
that we are doing our jobs. We do quarterly reports; we do final reports.
We are evaluated quarterly by the Bureau to make sure that we arc
affording people their rights.

I do have the documentation that I brought to give to the commiittee. If I
had a little bit more time, I would have had copies for everybody. But in it
I kind of wanted to give you a general idea of at least what we are doing in
the Colville court, and I would like to say generally what most of the
clerks in Washington and the Pacific Northwest area are doing.

I have included scripts of our arraignment procedures where we explain
to the defendants what their rights are as far as under the Indian Civil
Rights Act and under our code.

I have included five sections of our tribal Law and Order Code so you
can see the duties of our judges, court clerks, court administrators, and
what rights the defendants have.
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I have included one copy of a criminal file which is a random file 1
picked up to show you exactly what a file Jooks like so you will know we
are a court of record. We do record all of our proceedings.

[ have a Federal court decision where one of our cases was sent up as far
as the Ninth Circuit, and it was held that we were doing our job, that there
were no civil rights violations. It was brought up on a writ of habeas
corpus.

I have brought copies of several of our criminal dispositions so you will
know what type of cases we are doing and the type of sentencings we are
providing to those defendants.

We do have a court reporter that we keep for the Colville tribal court,
and | have included about six or seven decisions that have been heard in
the tribal court.

I've got job descriptions for the chief judge, of which one of the
requirements for our court is that the chief judge be a law-trained attorney.
We have two associate judges on staff. One is law trained. Those two are
members of the Washington State Bar in addition to our tribal court bar.
And we do have one lay associate judge.

I have also included the judicial oath of conduct and our spokesman’s
oath. To become a spokesman in our tribal court there is a $25 fee, and
they do have to pass an oral examination on their knowledge of our tribal
Law and Order Code. It doesn’'t matter whether they live on the
reservation or off, and we do have a bar membership of about 25 members
with attorneys from as far as Seattle and Bellingham, which is on the coast.
We are farther inland.

The tribe—in fact today, possibly by now—is going to be taking the
issue of the Civil Rights Act and including it in our Law and Order Code.
When [ left Tuesday they had given me a copy where 9 of our 14
councilmen had signed it and approved it, so that today it was kind of just
the formality of passing it in full counci! session.

1 have included a copy of our quarterly reports and a profile, at least the
back page that was completed of what you had requested.

And I would kind of like to say that a feeling I am really getting from
this is that we the people, the ones that are really the ones that should be
concerned about it, really haven't been asked or included to find out what
we feel about this whole thing. I can probably say 1 don’t think any of you
are tribal members or probably even lived on a reservation.

My concern is, number one, I think this Commission should have, first of
all, asked the people living on the reservation if they feel their civil rights
have been violated. It kind of comes down to the fact that traditionally the
United States Government has always told Indian tribes, “This s what we
are going to do for you, and this is what you are going to do.” They
haven't really asked us. I don’t want to alienate you, but 1 kind of feel that
that’s what’s going on here.
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We have had some really good testimony for us and some good
testimony against us, but basically you haven't gone out and asked us how
do we feel about it. There are some civil rights violations, but I'm sure
you'll find there may be a lot more other people cut there that feel that the
Indian tribes are doing a good job for what they’ve got to work with. I feel
that should be your number one priority, a general mailing, if nothing else,
of a questionnaire to the people. This profile we got was not sent directly
to us. It was sent through BIA. I didn’t even receive a copy of it until last
week after I got back from being here. To me that is not going right to the
problem and finding out what’s going on.

I have also included a copy of our constitution too that has been passed,
and I would like to submit that for your review.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Thank you. Without objection, the documents
will be entered in the record.

[The documents were entered into the record as exhibit no. 15. The
length of this exhibit prohibited its inclusion here; it is on file at the
Commission.]

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. In all fairness, [ think it is important to say that
we have been to the field-—only a small portion of that, but we have been
to the field, and we do have some documentation. As a matter of fact, in
going to the field we heard from more than just one tribe, certainly in
South Dakota. Other tribes decided to come over and spend time with us
and discuss with us.

I share your concern that people who have to do the work need to be
considered in all this. I think probably, in comparison to some other
hearings, that we have included the people. Certainly, you are here today
as a representative. We have gone to people—I mentioned I did spend time
with the Tribal Court Clerks Association in Reno and answered questions.
Certainly, we'd like to do more of that.

It is also fair to say that the Congress itself has become an impediment to
that process. By “impediment” I mean—one of the factors, not the only
factor—if we had not had our budget cut as much as we have, we would
probably be able to do an awful lot more of what it is you're talking about.
And I also need to say I think this is clear indication to you and to others
that perhaps this Congress doesn’t want us to ask the questions that we’re
asking, restricting the universe in which we can operate to begin to get at
the facts we need to have to make a recommendation.

Your chastising us is not chastising at all. I think it is a reality that you
should be concerned about, and I can appreciate that. I think I am also
right in saying that we are concerned in this total hearing about what
happens to the rights of individuals on reservations. And a lot of what we
are hearing is that it is not good.

I think you have also heard the other side, where in some cases it is
good. And again, if Congress has decided in 20 years not to have
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oversight, and then they tell us we cannot have oversight, I think one has
to question the wisdom of Congress in dealing with people, like Mr.
Clinton says, in a sovereign-to-sovereign way. And is this any way to treat
a sovereign? 1 don’t happen to think so.

But your comments—I'm not trying to respond in a negative way. 1
hope you wi!l take what I'm saying in a positive way. We want to do even
more, but there are certain constraints, and whatever we recommend
would take into consideration those constraints.

Thank you.

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. May I add a word, Mr. Chairman. I think Ms.
Smith needs to know that we do have a statutory mandate. And, of course,
it does make us responsible to hear the complaints of individual citizens,
some of whom have played an instrumental role in generating this series of
hearings.

But our much more serious mandate imposed upon us by Congress is to
monitor enforcement of Federal civil rights laws by Federal agencies, and
this particular hearing today and the series of hearings we have had has
been focused on the BIA primarily because of its singular responsibility
with respect to the tribes. Qur job is to say to Congress and the President
whether the BIA does its job or not. And so we have been involved in this
in the way we have today in order to carry out our statutory responsibility.

Beyond that, I must add, too, as the Chairman said, that we have heard
from many individuals; we have sought them out. We wish we could go
everywhere, but of course we can’t. But I suppose what is at least worth as
much is the fact that our individual interest in the matter is most certainly
with the question of what the persons who live on the reservations think
about their own experience. And as the scholars just before you conceded
in their exchange, they are not going to establish for this Commission
whether violations of civil rights or successes in the guarantees of civil
rights are frequent or rare through their testimony. They can testify about
the law to us. Those who will establish the facts of the matter will be the
people who live on the reservations.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Judge Coochise, we are glad to have you here.
Do you have a statement you want to make to us, or should we just ask
questions? How do you want to go about it?

TESTIMONY OF ELBRIDGE COOCHISE, VICE PRESIDENT,
NORTHWEST TRIBAL COURT JUDGES ASSOCIATION

JUDGE COOCHISE. Well, basically an introduction and a viewpoint. My
name is Elbridge Coochise. I'm a member of the Hopi Tribe in Arizona. I
was a judge at the Hopi Tribal Court for 5 years before moving to the
Northwest where I have been a judge for 6; years now.

I am also the administrator for the Northwest Intertribal Court System,
which encompasses 14 tribes, a consortium. They are small tribes in
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western Washington, with two additional tribes under contract. So I work
with 16 tribes.

And one of the concerns that I “ave with the Commission is the
branding, you might say, or the remarks that 1 have read following the
start of your investigation that because of several tribal court problems,
Red Lake or Rapid City, all of us as tribal courts are denying civil rights. I
take exception to that very strongly. Because that same kind of connota-
tion is not made even in Seattle where they had last year problems with the
court in Pierce County. No one said all State courts are denying process to
their people or employees.

And that is the main focus I wanted to bring, that granted there are
problems. You have problems everywhere, and most of us are working at
it. I took the job because 1 thought I could sit and fairly dish out justice to
my people whether it was at home or elsewhere. And I sat for 11 years,
and I know there have been problems and that’s what we’ve been working
on at the national judges association, a constant turnover of judges because
of either decisions, or mostly I think they were because of a lack of
sufficient or adequate pay. Most of us in our society can’t live on $10,000 to
$15,000 a year and expect to not be enticed to go to other agencies to
work. The biggest focus of the National American Indian Court Judges
Association since I became a judge was training to upgrade those judges
within the tribal courts, as well as to assist in seeing if we can get our pay
scale up to where we could live and work comfortably, as well as stabilize
our tribal courts. So with that I—

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Judge, we respect and accept your admonition.
I would hope that you would not assume that we draw conclusions based
on the kinds of questions we asked, and I think Commissioner Allen’s
comments go well to how is this law being enforced. And we have heard
some good things. I would hope that you could rest assured that when a
report is written, recommendations will be balanced and give credit to
those tribes that are doing exactly what it is that’s supposed to be done.

I think what we are looking at, as I mentioned in my opening statement,
were those things that are particular and those things that are systemic, and
we are looking at all of that.

If this Congress passes a law as a civil rights law and they charge this
Commission with appraising those laws and seeing how they are working,
I think we have an obligation to do that. I can say to you that similar kinds
of criticism of this Commission did arise with respect to school desegrega-
tion matters, and this Commission had a range of positions with respect to
school desegregation.

What [ feel comfortable about in my tenure here is that in spite of all of
the criticism and the politicization of this Commission and the negative
comments by the press and by the special interest groups and by certain
Members of Congress, this Commission’s work is now being cited in court
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opinions, in op-ed pieces, in scholarly journals, and the like. And I think
that’s where the battle of ideas is perhaps won.

If anything, what we want to do is make sure that the record is clear and
complete. All we are doing is gathering facts. We do not leave here today
with any assessment, with any recommendations in our head. As I
mentioned earlier, there will be no report from this Commission in
tomorrow morning’s paper that this is the status of the ICRA enforcement
on Indian reservations in this country. That will not take place. It will be
some time before that is all put together, and those might not be the
recommendations at all. I have no idea what the recommendations will be.

JUDGE COoOCHISE. Well, if that’s the case, it’s fine, but from the time the
proceedings started with inquiries, my understanding was part of the role
the Commission was to play was to look at the violations within the border
towns from those areas in handling Indian people, their rights, and then
somehow in the middle it turned around to the tribal courts’ violations.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. That is not what I understand at all. That is not
a part of the proposal as we put it all together. We were only concerned
with studying the enforcement of the ICRA. This question came up earlier.

JUDGE CoOCHISE. That’s fine. Because my big concern is I have more
complaints coming in by non-Indians with State courts violating tribal
people of their rights than I do in our tribal courts in the 11 years I've sat
on the bench.

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. We'd like to receive those.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. We'd like to receive that. Nobody has yet
decided to give us any of that.

JUDGE COOCHISE. Unless people know I'm a judge, I get totally different
treatment. That is so flagrant once you go off the reservation. You go in a
restaurant where there is no service until they find out you're a judge, and
pretty soon three or four people come around.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. I understand that because I can walk past the
Lyndon LaRouche people in the airports these days and they would never
ask me if 1 supported something in terms of AIDS or Star Wars or
anything else, assuming that all blacks do not take these ideas into
consideration. So I understand what you're saying.

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. If you can give us some help—this is why I
asked the previous witnesses. Sometimes we just don’t even know exactly
which questions to ask.

JUDGE COOCHISE. Okay. With that, why are you waiting until now to
say that?

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. We have always said that.

JUDGE COOCHISE. W= haven't heard anything from you.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Well, I don’t know how to answer that
question.
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JUDGE COOCHISE. We work in the courts and you're talking about have
these problems come up. Now you're saying give us that information. You
could have given us that questionnaire 2 years ago.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. I think what you're doing now is you're taking
this hearing as the hearing. We have had two other hearings. And as
Commissioner Allen very carefully pointed out, this section of the hearing
was really focusing in on the BIA. Why did we focus in on the BIA?
Because of the voluminous complaints on reservations by Indians of the
treatment of them by the BIA. So what we decided to do was to have the
BIA come and other people come and tell us what that situation really is.

So it is not a matter that we believe the BIA. I think you have seen today
where we have not said, “We believe.” A lot of us are a bit astonished by
that. But it was Commissioner Destro’s idea, as I can recall, saying, “Wait
a minute, of all we heard at Rapid City and all that we heard at FlagstafY,
we have to get the BIA at the table and get some things on the record with
respect to how they are enforcing the Indian Civil Rights Act.”

Now, in terms of how extensive this becomes, we have always been
open to factfinding. I must say very frankly to you, sir, that there are those
Indians and non-Indians who don’t want us to find facts.

JUDGE COOCHISE. That’s true.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. And what I think I'm saying to you—and my
colleagues may speak for themselves, and so may staff—but the universal
feeling is whatever you’ve got, give it to us. We need to be able to look at
that and assess that in such a way that we do have the most extensive
record we can have before going into some kind of deliberations about a
report and recommendations to the administration and to Congress as is
provided and required in our statute.

So this door is not closed. This door is wide open.

CoMMISSIONER DESTRO. If I can add to that, I think that I can honestly
say that we have asked at every hearing, “Would you please share
whatever you have with us.” I have gone to the Association of American
Law Schools, Native Indian Section, and said, “Would you send us
whatever information you have.”

I'm sure you know this is true from-reading reports of what you do
sometimes in the newspapers—you say, “Gee, I'm not sure that was the
same case we were involved with.” And what I've read about these
hearings, 1 wasn't completely sure they were exactly the same hearings
that I sat through.

But suffice it to say that we do need help and we don’t live on the
reservation. We are not experts in this. I know more about this subject now
than I ever thought I would ever know in my whole life, azd I'm sure I'm
going to learn a lot more about it.

But I kept looking at the document that you put together, and this is the
first that I knew that you did quarterly reports, and that in point of fact the
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BIA does have the information. And unless you had come here and told
us—because we sent a questionnaire to the BIA, and like any other
bureaucracy you have to fight like crazy. You have to tell them exactly
what you're looking for before they’ll admit whether or not they have it.

So any kind of smoking gun memo or anything else, if you think or if
you go home and talk to whoever and say, “If there is anything that you
know of that might be relevant, send it in.” We talked this morning about
keeping the record open longer than 30 days. This record is open a lot
longer than anybody ever dreamed it would be because, as the Chairman
quite accurately pointed out, I left Rapid City, South Dakota, seeing that
the hot little hands of the BIA are all over this thing. I mean you can’t turn
around without running—you cannot say anything without running into
the BIA somewhere. And our primary responsibility, as other Commis-
sioners have pointed out, is that if we don’t have authority over the tribes,
which has been the big issue in the media, we certainly have oversight
responsibility over the BIA.

I don’t know whether they're the source of the problem or the problem
or what, but we certainly need everybody’s help in trying to figure it out.
We don’t have any preconceived notions. If we started with them, we
certainly don’t have them now.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. I think you can rest assured—and we are being
exhaustive and extensive about this—it does none of us any good, this
Commission, collectively or as individuals, or the BIA, or the tribes or
nations themselves, to not put all this up on the table and to sift through it
in an appropriate manner where we can make those recommendations.

Again, 1 want to reinforce that the reason the BIA was here—this very
transcript of Rapid City, when you go through this, as Commissioner
Destro says, BIA’s hands are all over this document. We needed to know
some more about that.

Right over here [indicating]—I'm not trying to play state of the Union—
[laughter) is the transcript from Flagstaff; and when you go through this
transcript you see an awful lot of things in it.

These aren’t the only things we are concerned about or going to deal
with, but certainly these are matters on the record and under oath in both
of these documents. And whatever we take is going to be, for that matter,
under oath. We need to have everything we possibly can.

But I'm going to tell you, when Mr. Pevar read from part of my
dislogue with Chairman Morgan Garreau in Rapid City, that was
frightening testimony. And we have to continue to raise the question—as
my colleague has raised—this is the issue about those who have power and
those who don’t have power. And there is a big question about how those
who don’t have the power are treated by those who do.

I am going to say, frankly, that maybe those that do have the power in
some cases do treat people well. But the record that we got at this point
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indicates, while we’re here today, that we need to look even further. Even
in Rapid City, when we left there—the intimidation of witnesses is a cause
for concern. We even had the U.S. attorney look into some matters at
Rapid City.

So if there is something really good about this, it is important that that be
up on the record.

JUDGE CoOCHISE. If you can get a U.S. attorney to act, you're doing
better than we have in the past years.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. It was not easy to get the U.S. attorney to act.

JUDGE COOCHISE. In the questionnaire that you sent out, a lot of the
questions were geared towards the courts, and I'd really like to respond to
that. Especially in the Northwest area where we have 41 tribes in the
Portland area, we do have both trial and appellate courts, and we do have
jury trials. Most of the appellate panels are three-judge panels. There is one
tribe that has more than three judges. I think they sit five or seven on the
panels. And most of our judges have been through training, even though
they were not legally trained by your terms as far as a lawyer, with our
own association and also the American Indian Lawyer Training Program,
and now the National Indian Justice Program. And many of us tribal
judges attended—at least I know in the first 4 years I was on the bench,
three times a year I went to the National Judicial College in Reno.

Your questions—a lot were dealing with training. Yes, we do receive it
when we can, and it has been slowing down lately because of the funding
aspects.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Would you be amenable to allowing some of
our staff people to come out and observe?

JUDGE COOCHISE. Yes. In fact, we made that request. I think you have it
in your records. We sent a resolution to Flagstaff with one of our board of
directors from the Northwest Judges Association.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Yes, you did.

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. I remember it very well

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. And I'll say again that this record is not closed.
Again, we have the same constraints you have, and the constraints are with
respect to where the dollar is going to come from to do that. We might be
able to find a way to do it, but I think to help with that is to say to us
exactly what goes on. We are not basing this on all that we heard at
Flagstaff or all that we heard at Rapid City. There’s got to be a little bit
more to this, and we want to work it all out. That's all I can really say.

CommissioNER DESTRO. If you can help us with other questions—we
don’t know what it’s like in the trenches. You know what the questions
are; we really don’t. It is really true in government, as in anything else, that
if you ask the wrong questions, you're going to get the wrong answers. So
if you can help our staff with other questions that might be asked of people
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that you think there ought to be answers to, we'd certainly love to have
your assistance.

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. Let me just say a word before we leave this
subject. Twice now I've heard a mistake that I would like to correct.
There seems to be an impression among some that this entire hearing is
devoted to an inspection of tribal court systems. I want you to understand
that that is not what this series of hearings or this study is about. It is, of
course, true that once you begin to look into the Indian Civil Rights Act,
its enforcement, its guarantees, you will necessarily run into the court
system, and you will deal with the question of the court system as the
likeliest avenue for recourse for persons with complaints. And you will ask
questions about how it does its job, and you will note the cases where it
does 30 well and the cases where it does not do so well.

But denials of civil rights are hardly to be confined to persons operating
judicial systems. Indeed, I think it is commonly the case that they originate
outside the judicial systems, and the problems subsequently emerge that
the judicial system may have difficulty dealing with them. They may not
even be allowed to.

So, of course, we have to look at courts. But this is not a review of tribal
court systems simply put.

The questionnaire to the BIA raises that because of the BIA's intimate
connections with 638 contracts and otherwise with tribal court systems.
We are here because we are interested in knowing what the status of civil
rights happens to be for American Indians, each and every one of them, as
American citizens. That is our mandate. That is what we shall carry out.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Bill, do you have a question?

MR. HowaRrb. No.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Let me say I think Commissioner Allen has put
that well. We turned down other kinds of testimony that dealt outside of
our realm, that dealt with other matters than 638 contracts. And we
confined ourselves pretty much to where we are right here. I think it is
clear that it is not just the court system but other things that we have to be
concerned about at the same time.

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. Could I ask them one question before they
leave?

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Sure.

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. I would like to hear what they have to say about
the question we put, above sll, to the BIA today, and whether they think
the Indian Civil Rights Act, ICRA, requires some modification in order to
bring its fruits to the reservation. Or do you think the BIA ought to be
subject to some modification?

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Or should there be an ICRA?

ComMMISSIONER ALLEN. Yes. Remember I spoke of repeal earlier. What
about that?
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JUDGE COOCHISE. I can only speak for the tribes I work with. Every
tribe that I work with, the 16, is abiding by the Indian Civil Rights Actasa
Federal mandate they have to comply with. So whether I think it or not,
the tribal governments have already accepted it, and my role as a judicial
officer has to go with those that are mandated by the tribe.

I think if the Constitution doesn’t apply, yes, I think it needs to be there
for the rights of the individual members of the tribes—if that’s what you're
asking.

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. That's it, yes, and also the question of what the
BIA’s role in that whole process is.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Excuse me, before you answer. Are you
satisfied with the BIA’s role in this process? And if you can't tell us today,
you might want to recommend to us in writing what you think that role
should be with respect to ICRA.

JUDGE COOCHISE. As far as the role of the BIA, I don't think any of the
tribes are ever satisfied with their role. Because like you heard today, they
really don’t take a stand one way or another most of the time. They are
supposed to be advocates for the tribes, but when they are here on the Hill,
I've been here the last 2 months at different hearings, and they pointblank
asked the Bureau, especially on funding, and they won't give a response.

We need the services out in Indian country. We need funding for it, but
they won’t take a role, or they won’t advocate for the tribes what's going
to improve the system, whether it’s social service or the judiciary or
whatever.

MR. HOWARD. Could you explain that a bit more, Judge? You said the
BIA has not taken a position on funding.

JUDGE COOCHISE. Dealing with alcohol training—in fact, last week
when they were pointblank asked, “You asked for $9 million for judicial
services. Is that sufficient, or should you be asking for more?”” There was
no response to the positive or the negative. It’s just like they didn’t take a
stand onm it either way.

CoMMISSIONER DESTRO. Do you think they'd take a stand—because I
remember reading the articles in the paper—if it were suggested that rather
than passing the money through the BIA, the money just be put in the line
and given directly to the tribal court systems?

JUDGE COOCHISE. Oh, I'm sure they would then, because any buresu-
cracy, whether it’s BIA or otherwise, always looks out for itself first.

MRr. HowARD. With regard to the testimony last week, I was there also.
Are you referring to the testimony before the Select Committee?

JUDGE COOCHISE. Right.

Mr. HOwARD. I suspect the reason Mr. Little did not respond to that
question—the question was diverted to Joe Myers—was because Mr. Little
didn’t have the authority to offer an opinion on that. I suspect he was
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limited to the four corners of his written testimony and couldn’t speak
outside of that.

Mr. Myers had responded to Senator Inouye that BIA was developing a
formula to provide direct funding to tribal courts. And we didn’t get to
that today, but we do want to explore that with the BIA.

JUDGE COOCHISE. Yes, that is an area that the judges association, since
I’'ve been on the bench, has been pushing with the Bureau, is to set aside
funds specifically for tribal courts where they don’t have to compete with
programs like social services or education.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. You mean a line item appropriation for tribal
courts?

JUDGE COOCHISE. Yes. Anytime you have to be put in that light, how do
you expect the government to look at the judiciary as a separate
component of the government other thar the program? We have been
pushing, and Mr. Little is probably one of the first ones—

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. May I ask you to clarify who the “we” are who
has been pushing?

JUDGE CoOcHISE. Tribal court judges.

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. The association?

JUDGE COOCHISE. Right. But most of our judges don’t feel like they
should be in a political role, so it is hard to get them other than at our
meetings, and they don’t want to take that role because they don’t want to
start being politicians.

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. [ understood. I wanted to know if you meant by
that that the association was pushing in an avenue to free the courts from
relationships with their respective councils. Is that why the interest in the
funding?

JubpGE CoocHISE. Right, so we are not competing for the same dollars
that social service is applying for in the priority system.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Let me ask you this question. If you're pushing
for—1 think that’s your word—independent funding, an independent line
item—let me try this one and see what happens to it. Does your
Association of Northwest Tribal Court Judges or any other association
you know of—is there some kind of a petition for separation of powers?

JUuDGE CoOCHISE. No, not in a document form. We have discussed it. It
has been discussed quite a bit as far as whether it’s a separation, actual
black and white, or whether it’s a real separation in reality. But there is no
per se document itself saying we’re pushing for separation of power.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Let me ask another question, then. Have you
ever discussed the question among fellow judges about the summary
dismissal of judges because councils have decided that they have rendered
the wrong decision?

We have testimony on record that in the middle of the night judges have
been summoned and dismissed and decisions have been reversed. Trudell
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Guerue at Rapid City, who was a former chief judge at Rosebud. raied
this question. He said the ICRA is not worth the paper it's written on. We
heard that from several other people in that area.

I would take it that we need to address this question of whether or not
judges have discussed the matter of summary dismissal and summary
overturn by the council of their decisions.

I read carefully the development of the Supreme Judicial Council of the
Navajo Nation and found that a fascinating way to have but not have a
supreme court or supreme sense of review, not only from its makeup in
terms of the language of that council, but also from the composition of the
members on it, and most of whom were tribal council members.

But it does seem to me that in this connection we'd like to know how
tribal judges feel about their tenuous relationship with tribal councils. The
literature and the material has extensive recollection or notations of these
kinds of things. But how do you feel about that? Maybe my colleagues
might want to do something else with my question. I hope I'm asking the
right one. I think that I am.

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. Do they talk about it?

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Do you talk about it?

JUDGE COOCHISE. Yes, we do. And I think in reality it is happening
places. I wouldn’t be sitting here 11 years on the bench if that weren't the
case.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. How did you survive?

JUDGE CoocHiISE. The councils, after any decision we made, would
come in and sometimes talk to us, but they won’t summarily dismiss us. As
1 say, I haven’t been approached too many times because the way I make
my judgments is spelled out, why I rule the way I do.

MR. HowaARrD. Excuse me. You haven't been what too many times?

JUDGE COOCHISE. I haven’t been asked too many times or even
considered for removal that I can recall at all. I think in our system in the
Northwest it’s better that way because they have someone outside sitting
in their courts, and in practicality they basically did the separation in
reality because there are no family ties or immediate ties to that
reservation.

But we do talk about it in the association, the pros and the cons with it.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. We're going to stop just a minute. We need to
take a break. But I think we need to pursue this line of questioning a little
bit more, but we need to give our reporter a break. We'll take a break until
6 o'clock.

[Recess.]

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. We want to reconvene.

Judge Coochise and Ms. Smith, the questions you raise are extremely
important to us in developing a comprehensive record with respect to
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ICRA enforcement. So what we are going to do is this. We are going to
have an onsite visitation, and you and counsel can work that out.

More importantly, we want to know the names of other tribal judges,
irrespective of their level of experience or their education, and their levels
within the court hierarchy. And what we want to do is keep this record
open and reconvene some of you at a subsequent session, maybe the day
before a Commission meeting, and take testimony on the record hased
upon the things you have mentioned to us and based upon the things we
have heard in other visitations.

This will certainly begin to complete a record, Ms. Smith, if you will, at
the grassroots level. I think certainly we would not exclude members from
the court clerks association in these proceedings, however we can design
that. This is not going to have to be so extensive.

Let me put one other thing on the record. You mentioned the
questionnaire. There was no way we could have developed this question-
naire had we not had previous testimony. So the questionnaire, whereas it
might appear later in the game, would never have been designed. Now, if
that elicits some other attention, we want to deal with that.

So with that, we will not take a lot more of your time today, but I think
what you can feel comfortable about, maybe comfortable about, is the kind
of thing I said we are going to do, and we need that’kind of response.

JUDGE COOCHISE. A clarification on your question of the list of judges.
Irregardless of the position, education—

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. I'm saying irrespective of their training. If
there are tribal court judges and associations, we need to know who the
associations are, and maybe we can have some representatives come, if
they will come and testify under oath before this Commission and be able
to respond to some of the kinds of questions we might put in advance.

There are no tricks to this. I think you can see in the record here from
Rapid City the kinds of questions we asked there, and we need to ask those
questions of other court judges. I think that begins to not only expand the
record but allow us what Ms. Smith has talked about, about the people
who actually have to do the work. That is a lot better than what we know
has happened in other places with respect to taking testimony.

JUDGE COOCHISE. I have a list of our Northwest Judgesmembers if
you'd like that.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. We'd like to have it, no question about it.

JuDGE COOCHISE. It includes not only appellate judges but trial judges.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Thank you. That will be part of the record,
without objection.

[The document referred to was entered into the record as exhibit no. 16.]

JuDGE CooOCHISE. Also the judicial officers who are limited orally, once
or the few times they sit in.
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CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Thank you very much for spending some time
with us. I hope you can help us with the next part of this.

JubGE COOCHISE. One other question with regard to the visitation. How
long—

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. You can get together with counsel and work
that all out.

JUDGE COOCHISE. Because 1 have a meeting tomorrow with our
association.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. We won’t be out there tomorrow.

JUDGE COOCHISE. I know the first question asked will be when it is.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. We don’t know when. We've got to get
together with counsel to decide within our framework what we have to
do. We have some other hearings coming up and a whole plateful of
things, and we're going to work this in in such a way that we can do what
we have to do to get the material we need to have.

Mr. Howarb. I will give you a call.

JupGE COOCHISE. Are you going to be submitting a questionnaire, then,
for us?

MR. HOwARD. I need to talk to the subcommittee a bit more about this,
and you and I need to talk; I will talk to you no later than sometime next
week.

JupGe CoocHISE. Fine.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Really, the questionnaire has to do with BIA
more than anything else, but we understand where you are.

CoMMISSIONER DESTRO. If I can just add, we don’t know yet. If you
think. it would be a good idea, we'd certainly like to hear. Because you're
going to know what questions more than we will.

.'UDGE COOCHISE. | think at least from our association we wanted you to
come out there and talk about some of these problems because we were
Leing branded without even having any input. And I think that’s what we
wanted.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. I can assure you that subcommittee members
will take under consideration the fact that they should also come and make
those observations and ask some of those questions.

JUDGE COOCHISE. In our resolution we did ask if you would.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Right. We have been 3o reminded again, and
your request before this tribunal, for lack of some other word, is granted.

We will now move to the open session.

Ms. SMITH. I just need to make one quick comment. Before we broke
you talked about separation of powers, and I would like to let you know
that our tribe, the council, has been considering separating the tribal court
from the tribal government, putting it on as a constitutional amendment.
They have done that probably because of things like this that have been
coming up, problems that they don’t want to have to deal with because it
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looks bad. So we’d like you to know that at least we are cognizant of the
problems inherent with having a tribal court directly under them, and they
are seriously considering doing something about it.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Okay. Thank you very much.

We will now move to one of our prospective witnesses. We will call this
the free speech section.

We will first take Chief Judge Thomas Maulson from Lac du Flambeau
Tribal Court in Wisconsin.

[Thomas Maulson was sworn.}

TESTIMONY OF THOMAS MAULSON, CHIEF JUDGE, LAC DU
FLAMBEAU TRIBAL COURT, WISCONSIN

JUDGE MAULSON. First of all, I'd like to make one comment that I am
one of the Chippewas that do speak up in northern Wisconsin within the
Chippewa Nation.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Thank you. We need more people to speak up.

JUDGE MAULSON. [ want to thank Mr. Miller for offering an invitation
for me to come out here. 1 was out here not too long ago, and I received
the Federal Register indicating, “You are invited to listen.” Well, as
funding is short all over, I made an effort to make sure 1 was out here for
this particular meeting here today.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Thank you.

JUDGE MAULSON. And it did bother me, first of all, just being an
observer as the letter indicated. It bothered me as a tribal judge on my
reservation, and my court and my system being a very infant court; and
how we have a lot of non-Indian people putting us, once again, under the
microscope and picking us apart and saying that we are not following rules
and regulations under the Indian Civil Rights Act; and people not
understanding that our court system, an Indian court, is very new, even
though the CFR courts have been in existence for some time, and not have
that opportunity for some courts to fail; and organizations like this, instead
of what I call witch-huntiag out there or looking for problems, maybe
male solutions and try to pick these people up. Because like I say, my
court is very new. I've been a judge going on 5 years now. I'm a
nonlswyer judge, and I probably don’t have the ability to talk like our
eloquent Robert Clinton who I applaud on his pro-Indian speech that he
made here.

And I have to deal in northern Wisconsin and Wisconsin where I come
from, with all the tribes that we have, and dealing with racism, civil rights.
As an Indian person, as an Indian judge, we are being scrutinized by the
whites because they say that Indian courts are not adequate. Because of the
fact of educating the non-Indian out there—or the white, as people call us
Indians—to the fact that our courts are just as good as the white courts.
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We are starting to mend some of our problems, but yet our treaty rights
are being violated. Our people are being discriminated against as Indian
people. Civil rights are being violated by those people, and our people are
saying, “What is happening to the court system? Why are the white people
doing that to us?”

And they come to people like myself, judges, prosecutors, governmental
officials, saying, “What's happening?”’ And, once again, I have to deal with
them by saying that we have laws that affect them.

My court has to deal with Public Law 280. We work on a very limited
budget. We don’t get a lot of dollars from the Bureau of Indian Affairs. We
have to almost beg for these dollars. And tribes shouldn’t have to beg for
those dollars. If white courts and organizations like yourselves want us to
be, as you call it, equal, there shouldn’t be that space. But you have to be
an Indian to understand that.

You know, you people ask for—you don’t know the answers, and maybe
there should be a couple of Indians on this board, and you will definitely
get that.

I was a police officer once. It took an Indian to deal with an Indian.
Then you got those answers. It takes a black to deal with a black in the
ghetto areas to get those things that you people want. And maybe we
should have Indians on this Commission also. That bothers me because we
don’t have them. ’

You've had a big education in the last couple of years, and we, too, have
got an education from it because of the Commission, because people think
that the Indian courts are doing something wrong, that Indian people are
not given due process. And it appalls me to hear about some of these, and I
think you people should jump on these Indian courts that are not having
free speech on their reservations. We do have freedom of speech on our
reservation.

But like I say, it’s very hard as a tribal judge to try to fill the shoes of a
court that has been in existence for years and years and to try to have our
people, when they come before me, and white non-Indian people out there
saying, “Well, they’re fine. If they kill that deer off the reservation, that
deer would cost $2,000 for that violation,” because he was a sportsman not
understanding Indian ways, and Indian people are not sportsmen; they
have to exist on what they get out there. And if they did it out of the
context of an agreement, which the tribes in Wisconsin are doing with the
State of Wisconsin in their treaty rights, then that particular fine isn’t so
big.

I have to look at all that stuff as a judge.

So, yes, we are different. You can’t be an Indian. I can’t be a black or a
white or whatever race that we have out there. I can’t be them and you
can’t be what I am. But yet we have to educate our people, and that’s the
tune to what’s happening here. People don’t understand what’s going on in
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Indian country. You people are just digging and trying to find out. And
when you get in on a really gory one, boy, you really dig in on that one.

But let’s dig in on some of those good ones because we're trying. Hey,
we're in the Pampers stage, and we’ve got to keep changing those Pampers
all the time for us. Because we do follow the Indian Civil Rights Act. I
make sure that our people, even though we don’t have dollars for a
defendant that comes before my court—I'll postpone a particular initial
hearing until he gets an attorney someplace, or gets a lay advocate to
represent him. But yet, the first guy that runs to Judicare it's called in
Wisconsin, where they give dollars to represent a client—the first person
that goes there gets represented there, but the other guy is left out in the
cold. And we run into those situations in my court.

I guess they say there’s a pro bono or there’s supposed to be a law that
deals with lawyers saying you should give so many hours free. Hell, 1
haven't seen a lawyer do that yet, you know.

[Laughter.]

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Thank you. I didn’t meant to cut you off, but
we have to cut you off because we have to try to get two other people in
between now and what we hope is our 6:30 deadline. Do you want to wrap
up for us?

JUDGE MAULSON. I'd just like to say everybody is sort of sighing in
relief. This is a big question, and I hope you people leave this open a long
time, because there are a lot of other people out there. I represent the
Great Lakes Judges Association also with all our other judges that are
very new because of the void in the treaty issue that played that part in
northern Wisconsin.

So, yes, some courts are going to make mistakes, but I don’t think we
should be beat up for them, either. I think this organization should try and
implement and put a law in there that’s going to help us, too.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Thank you very much.

JUDGE MAULSON. Thank you.

CoMMISSIONER DESTRO. If 1 can add for the record—well, why don’t
you call the other people.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Susan Harjo, who is the executive director for
the National Congress of American Indians, has asked us to give her §
minutes of free speech time.

CoMMISSIONER. DESTRO. If I can just add with reference to northern
Wisconsin, having lived in Milwaukee for a number of years, the degree to
which I think people who don’t live anywhere close to Indian country are
not appreciative of the issues. I went up to northern Wisconsin to Wausau
for the release of the State Advisory Committee’s report on treaty
violations, and I was appalled at the comments of the Mayor of Wausau
who, if he had made the same comments about blacks, would have been
run out of town on a rail.
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The notion that why don’t we just marry an Indian and get ourselves a
slice of these nice treaty rights? The notion of what a reservation is—it
doesn’t belong to the State of Wisconsin; it was kept by the Indians, has not
even entered the consciousness of the people who run that State. And
Wisconsin is considered one of the more progressive States in the country.

And when you get here. Not all of my colleagues felt the same way, but
when | said, “I'm going to go up to Wisconsin,” they said, “Well, you
came from there; why don’t you go ahead and go.” Hate crimes and
bumper stickers that say, “Save a deer; shoot an Indian” are so appalling,
but they never made the national news. It was a local story.

And why? Because I think in Washington people don’t give a damn
about Indians.

JUuDGE MAULSON. That’'s why I'm trying to identify it. It’s very
confusing for Indians when you have to deal with a whole group of laws,
not only State law, tribal ordinances, but cultural. So like I say, it does
confuse the issue, and we as judges and people that work within the
judiciary try to educate our people the best we can. Like I say, granted
there are problems out there in Indian country, but we should deal with
those particular problems.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Thank you very much, sir.

Ms. Harjo, you have been here a long time today.

TESTIMONY OF SUZAN SHOWN HARJO, EXECUTIVE
DIRECTOR, NATIONAL CONGRESS OF AMERICAN INDIANS

Ms. HArjo. Yes, I hadn’t planned to stay as long as this, but it was so
fascinating 1 had to stay until this point to find out that no one knows—

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. I'm sorry, let me swear you in.

Ms. HArjo. One of our Cheyenne Nation laws and the tenet of our
religion is th'.t we do not lie. I don’t swear, but I would certainly agree
with your premise that I not tell a lie here, cither.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. I'm going to respect your rights.

Ms. HAnjo. Thank you.

I have communicated with the Commission on the scope and vagaries of
what many of us in Indian country feel is a fishing expedition and not in the
interests of the Indian people. I won't reiterate those problems. I would
just like to continue in the tone that was begun a short while ago and look
at this as a dislogue for a few more minutes.

It is not just in Wisconsin where we see this problem. We first saw the
“Spear an Indian; save a salmon” bumper stickers in the State of
Washington. We have seen the spread of an increasingly vigorous anti-
Indian organized hate group network that is in virtually every State in this
country where there are Indian people. We know that these hate groups
are tied to the Aryan Nation, to the Order, to the Klan. We suspect that
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these hate groups have the same kind of organized crime underpinnings
and financing.

We suggest you look into this. This is a problem for us. This is a problem
that is creating more scars for Indian country. Even as we speak, the
spearing season is going to begin very soon in Wisconsin, and we are going
to have even greater problems.

Some of the people who are organized under the name of PARR,
Protect America’s Rights and Resources—fine-sounding names these hate
groups have—are excluding the Indian children from Little League games
and not letting the white kids play ball against the Indian kids because they
are Indians, and because their parents are fishing and hunting in their
traditional ways as their treaty says they can, as the United States agrees,
as the courts have said they can.

We have emotional scarring that is taking place. As we sit here, there
have been numerous jokes about the upcoming Super Bowl, and certainly I
support the Washington Redskins. I love them. I'm going to root for them.
I don't think it would be tolerated if there were in the Nation’s capital or in
any city in America a team called the Blackskins, if I got out on a football
field and dressed up in an Aunt Jemima outfit, and this good gentleman got
out in blackface in a Steppin Fetchit outfit for the Blackskins.

There would be a race riot in this city and in this country if we had a
team called the Jew Boys, if we had a team called the Black Chicks. If we
had anything that was derogatory to women or any other racial or
religious minority in this country, it would not be tolerated. It is tolerated.

Why is it tolerated? Because that is the era we are in. Everyone has that
same old movie running through their heads, and Indians are identified as
an era, not as a people. We are not an era like cowboys. We are a people.
We are many people. We are diverse. We have a richness of cultural
underpinnings without which we would not be able to survive today’s
conditions of outrageously high unemployment, staggering alcoholism, the
highest rate of teenage suicide of any population in this country, which
comes from low self-esteem, which comes from having those kids’ elders—
myself, this good gentleman, our elders, too—mocked, dehumanized,
cartooned, stereotyped. That is what is causing the deaths of many of our
children.

We can't be polite about these problems anymore. The only way that
this Commission could have made itself look any better would have been
to do exactly what you did, to drag the BIA up here, the worst agency in
the Federal Government, and say, “Hit on tribal courts,” one thing that
many people don’t understand about Indian country, to raise the specter of
a lack of democracy in Indian country, which I daresay is the only place
where you will find true living democracy in this day and age.
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By saying that we have to have separation of powers, you do arrogantly
try to interject yourselves between ourselves and our history, ourselves
and our tradition, ourselves and what we are passing on to our children.

We are guaranteed the right to be Indian people in perpetuity. There are
certain things that we allow. I allow you to refer to me as Cheyenne. 1
allow you to refer to me as Indian when my name is Jista, the people, or
my father, Widulgee Muskogee, the first people of the Wind clan, so we
can communicate with each other.

And as you have heard here, many tribes are willing to adopt foreign
influences and to allow themselves to make accommodations to the kinds
of models for governance that other peoples have. Sometimes they do that
if only to be able to survive. Some of us do not wish to do that, and I think
you will see that many of us will not oftentimes in the future.

We take ourselves very seriously, so seriously that we laugh at almost
everything. That is our way of reacting to these kinds of situations. And by
“these kinds of situations™ I mean where the Commission has put together
a hearing somewhat on tribal courts, somewhat on separation of powers,
somewhat on tribal sovereignty—what is it; what is the nature of it?—
somewhat on the power of the councils. And to talk about the power of
the haves and the have-nots in a situation where Indian country is in a
survival mode is really stretching a point, to talk abcut power of tribal
councils. I think that is a really odd thing to think about.

You sat here this morning with a BIA that you could see didn’t even
know how to tell you what a CFR court was, reported on by reporters
who had to say, “What is CFR?” and an editorial writer who will write
some opinion based on total lack of knowledge. And we have a hearing
record, I think, that is of no use to anyone.

Now, I don’t know if you didn’t send the questionnaire to the tribal
courts because it wasn't cleared by OMB and you have to have all
questionnaires cleared by OMB, or if you didn’t respect the tribes enough
and the tribal courts to not send it to them directly and you just wanted to
find out information about them from the BIA, which would sort of be in
keeping if the BIA is the overall Federal Government's agent for Indians,
or if there is another explanation.

Both those explanations are the ones that we object to, because you have
taken an easy way out and you've seen what's happened. You haven’t
gotten any information. You didn't get it from the hearing this morning
because these folks from the BIA don’t even know what a CFR court is.
So you don’t know now.

Now, when you go out and talk with the good judges from the Pacific
Northwest, you will get a better idea. I think it was stunning that you
didn’t realize certain things like quarterly reports. I am so glad you
admitted that, sir, for the record, that you had no idea that they made
reports, that they had any sort of communication.

123

M3



I think there is a lot for this body to look into that it hasn't, and it is
trying to focus, or at least there is the perception in Indian country that
yo. are trying to focus on the problems that we have. We are under a
colonialized system. We are not, as Mr. Swimmer said earlier, a conquered
people. One of the last battles my relatives were in was the Battle of the
Little Big Horn, and as I recall we did not lose.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Ms. Harjo, could you wrap up for us. I know
you are emotional about this, and I can understand it, and we need to hear
this. But I think we have to bring this to a close when we can.

Ms. Hanjo. | think because of the years of colonial overseeing of the
development of business council governance forms and not the people—
most of our tribes and nations are general council tribes and nations; that
means all the people participate—and if you’d been in Indian country and
gone to-some of those meetings, you'd see that it is democracy plus. It is
the thing that Franklin and others fell in love with when they visited the
Iroquois Confederacy because they had never seen that kind of piece of
work in governance. There was no model in their experience. That’s why
they adopted it for the United States.

Our tribes still carry that out, for the most part. And that is something
that this Commission needs to understand, needs to understand the history
and the development, and why it is you hear some inconsistencies. It is
because we have had to do certain things to survive, and because we have
had to bend to the BIA.

You hear Indian people, BIA people, talk about us as members of Indian
tribes. That’s one of the evidences of the job that colonialism has done on
us. We are citizens of our Indian nations first. We have dual citizenry, if we
wish it, because of an act of June 2, 1924. Saying that Indians could also be
citizens doesa’t make me a citizen of the United States unless I so choose. I
have so chosen. There are entire nations of Indian peoples that have not
chosen that and who, in fact, travel on their own passports in and out of
the borders of the United States.

This is the kind of testimony I think would be valuable here. I wonder
what the purpose of this forum is, and I will certainly try to submit
something for your record once we can determine as an organization what
it is you are trying to do. If there is a way we can help you focus, we
would be happy to do so.

I don’t know where the free speech closures are. 1 have never had my
civil rights violated in any part of Indian country, ever. I have had them
violated in almost every part of non-Indian country where I have been.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Me, too.

Ms. HAanjo. [ think that’s what you need to look at. And with the
background that some of the people on this Commission obviously have
and the love for the law and the love for civil rights, I think you ought to
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join with us and take care of some of the rascals who are trying to do us in
and not try to do us in yourselves.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Mr. Allen. We usually don't make comments
sbout this.

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. I just wanted to make a request. I would really
like to have from whatever her resources are s list of those Indian nations
that live on their own passports and have not accepted American
citizenship, if she has access to it.

Ms. HArjO. Onondaga Nation is the most notable example, and you can
read about them in the most recent National Geographic. There's 8 whole
spread on them and about their passports and which countries have
accepted them and which ones haven’t.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. New York?

Ms. HAnJo. Their territory borders New York.

CoMMISSIONER ALLEN. I'd like some background on that, if I may, as to
what the U.S. Government considers their status and what the relationship
is. I'm unfamiliar with that.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. You and I are familiar with one another, and I
have accepted your wrath on more than one occasion—you as well as the
organization—and I will continue to accept that wrath. What I do reject
out of hand is that this Commission is sitting to do anybody in. We have no
mandate to do anyone in, and we don’t intend to do anyone in.

And you made some comment about us having to have clearance from
OMB and elsewhere. Let me just reassure you that OMB has cleared
nothing and clears nothing that we do in terms of how we respond.

And the matter about BIA, I get from your testimony the implication
that we are in bed with BIA. Far be it. If we were in bed with the BIA, we
wouldn’t have hauled them up here today. I think for you to make some
assumptions about our process without knowing that process—and I've
heard you criticize us on other occasions without knowing what it is we
are trying to do, and you raised a question about what we were doing. I
think to raise that question is legitimate, but at some point down the line I
think we are doing what we are statutorily mandated to do.

Had the Congress not passed an ICRA, we wouldn’t be sitting here
today talking about it. And it falls clearly within our mandate, and we see
some problems with it on both sides of the ledger. So the point is: how do
you get at those issues?

And to prejudge us is just not fair to us. We are going to do the best we
can in groping to find out. True, none of us will ever be Indians.

Ms. HArJo. Mr. Chairman, I am well rebuked. I would like to say,
though, that you can well understand how we feel when we feel we are
equally prejudged by this body because we have statutory mandates that
predate the existence of the United States.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. We have prejudged no one.
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COMMISSIONER ALLEN. Mr. Chairman, I just wanted to say with regard
to your remarks that any number of people now have raised the question
about the various forms of discrimination and possibly violence against
Indians, which one would think would be well within our mandate. But it
would not, I'm quite certain, come into our mandate from the ICRA.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. No.

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. If it were within our mandate, it would come
through the other existing civil rights laws, and that raises a paradox, of
course, whether indeed we are to consider the other civil rights laws as
extending to Indians as individuals, and if extending to them as individuals,
how far, whether into the reservations or not.

I would very much like to see that question also on our agends before
we are done. I think we have been well admonished not to overlook the
possibility that all the other civil rights laws of the United States apply to
the Indians not only outside but on the reservation.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Let me be clear, just to set the record straight.
This Commission is going to grapple with something that might be of
interest to all of you. At last count there are 130 Federal civil rights
statutes on the books—statutes, Executive Orders, and regulations—130.
And what started out as four groups to be protected by the act of ‘64, we
find out there are many, many more groups. And the allocation for that is
over a half-billion dollars, and 15,000 Federal employees. And we are
trying to identify that and fin.d out why is there still a problem. I mean the
resource base is there. The public policy base is there, and we still have
problems.

But finally, this Commission has spoken out on violence, before my time
here, before anybody’s time at this table. This Commission has the largest
body of material it has put out on hate crimes and hate violence.

I can only say to you that whatever laws we have on these books are not
going to change probably the most destructive force in this world, and
that’s man’s inhumanity to man or woman’s inhumanity to woman, if you
want to take it to that, and I think that is a serious problem we have to look
at, and no law is going to change that. I do think laws cannot tolerate that.

COMMISSIONER ALLEN. Mr. Chairman, I have to tell you when you
phrase it that way, you raise the question of whether men are ever
inhumane to women and vice versa.

(Laughter.]

JUDGE MAULSON. Mr. Chairman, I'd just like to ask one thing. You seem
to ask all the professors and all these other bigwigs that were sitting up
here that had papers sitting in front of them if they wanted to change the
Indian Civil Rights Act, and I haven't had that opportunity to show the
judge’s perspective, for the simple reason I think it should stay the way it
is. But if any mandate is going to be made, if they want Indian courts to
fulfill the obligations out there in Indian country and meet the needs of the
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problem- on some reservations, then we need those green dollars to do
that. And that’s through the Bureau of Indian Affairs, which they are not
doing today.

CHAIRMAN PENDLZTON. I don’t know if you have followed our process,
but we have been in dislogue in open session which we don’t normally do.
We usually hear people and then we say nothing. But I think this matter is
of such importance that we have felt free, as they say in some churches, to
testify.

Ms. Harjo, 1 want to say to you that I would hope that your initial
comments about dialogue would not end with this exchange here. I think
we need to move on and find out how we continue the dialogue so that we
don’t tell lies and we aren’t perceived as telling lies.

But if I can borrow from Commissioner Destro, if we don’t open up this
process, which we have been able to do and other Federal agencies have
not been able to do, then we have no process at all. I still contend we are
that independent body through which this debate has to take place.

Mr. Sampson.

[Roy Sampson was sworn.]

TESTIMONY OF ROY SAMPSON, PORTLAND, OREGON

MR. SampsoN. 1 appreciate the opportunity to be here, and I also
appreciate the lateness of the day and the time and attention you have
spent in this hearing process.

A brief background. I have been active in Indian affairs for the last 20
years or so, primarily in the Northwest, and had a lot of activity associated
with the Indian fishing cases that you may now be familiar with, the Indian
fishing rights cases that were developed in Oregon and Washington.

I also had the opportunity to serve in the Department of the Interior.
Rogers Morton was Secretary. I was the special assistant to him for about
S years. I have spent a brief tenure in the BIA, and came back as a Deputy
Assistant Secretary for Indian Policy in the first part of this administration
in 1981.

I flew in this morning, red-eying it in last night after hearing of this
hearing, because what you are doing here is something that I am
particularly interested in. You can’t work in the resource fields and you
can’t be associated with tribes as I have been, you can’t be an Indian
transplant from Oklahoma living in Oregon, which I am, without being
deeply concerned about the types of issues that are being raised, as it
relates to individual Indians, as it relates to what is happening within the
systems that are in place in reservations, and some concern about what
happens to those rights of Indians which do not reside on the reservation
but which have a continuing relationship with those independent and
sovereign nations. Roughly half of the Indian population of this nation
resides in urban centers and not on reservations.
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1 don’t want to get into a lot of dialogue except to suggest to you that
my interest, having been sparked and realizing that the hearing was here,
and hearing the testimony of the Bureau of Indian Affairs this morning,
prompted me to stay and offer some assistance to the Commission.

I don't think as of today you're getting the type of record that you need
in terms of process about what the Bureau has been doing. I would suggest
that there is a whole sequence of documents associated with what has been
happening that are not necessarily directly related to the testimony that
you got on the Indian Civil Rights Act.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. Let me say to you that we have reams of
documents, 30 do not take what we heard at the table as the record. There
are other documents that support what it is you say. It all didn’t come out
on the record today. I just want you to know that.

MR. SAMPSON. | appreciate that. Particularly the process that has taken
place at individual reservations with the development of individual courts
and court systems. I am particularly sensitive to the fact that you have
testimony from certain places. I have had a chance to look at and read
today and the testimony that was made from the Northwest judges

I think the process that went through for the development of those
individual court systems is one that I would hope this Commission would
spend some time analyzing. They are not the same. They do differ. The
funding was not adequate, nor was it balanced and fair. Has it been
distributed in a way that you can track? Perhaps not something that you
will like to see, but I think you're going to see 20 years of very sporadic
funding activity which leads you to a whole series of implementation of
policy decisions which were on the record but never followed through on.

I share what Suzan (Harjo] was saying—a lot of us were sitting in the
back of the room this moming shaking our heads, seeing five of our friends
sitting up at the front table who we’ve known off and on for a number of
years unable to answer some very basic questions of this committee. That
disturbs me.

1 would like to offer to prepare for the committee my recollection of
what I have observed over the last few years in this subject area, and will
do 30 as now I understand the record will be open.

One other closing comment. There is a general mistrust of these types of
activities, not just of this Commission, in Indian country and for perhaps
good reason. The studies and the reviews of those things that have
impacted individual Indian tribes and individual Indian people—there are a
lot of them.

What has happened with those studies has not necessarily benefited
Indian people. There is a lot of distrust of studies and reviews. That is not a
critique of this Commission, as least as far as I am concerned, but I think it

128

|13



does explain some of the things you are hearing and the feedback that
you're getting.

It would be most constructive, I think, for both myself and for others
that want to see the work of the Commission end up with a product that
both you and the Indian people will be proud of, to have some idea of
agenda, time frame, and process that you will go through so that we know
the amount of time and effort we might have and the opportunity to
continue to suggest additional information.

I haven’t seen that. I am out of the mainstream now. I'm working with
the Yakima Tribe building a wonderful fish hatchery, which we are very
proud of, and that doesn’t keep you close to this type of politics. But there
are a lot of us who have been around who want the opportunity to help
you in your deliberations to solve these types of issues.

Thank you for the opportunity to say that today, and I hope to be able to
carry on a continuing dialogue with this committee as you move forward.

CHAIRMAN PENDLETON. I think you should feel comfortable that you
can maintain dialogue with counsel’s office and others you see appropriate.
We don’t have a time frame. What you are hearing from us today is that
there is more to get, and there is no specific time frame.

Let me share with you or support your observation that we, too, want a
record established of which Indians and this Commission can be proud.
And we understand the suspicion of committees that are politically
constituted, if you will, through the public policy process. We are not
persuaded that we dont fit that mold. We are probably persuaded that we
do f: that mold and are anxious to prove where we are in this process.

In the end, I think the chips have to fall where they are going to fall. As
Ms. Harjo said, we have 10 tell the truth. And the truth might not always
be comfortable, but we want to be able to tell the truth as best we can
formulate it from the facts that we obtain.

This is not a policymaking body in that respect. It is a research and, if
you will, recommending body to the administration and to the Congress.
And we will conduct ourselves just that way, and we might have other
things to do in the process of putting this full record together. If we see fit
to do that and it has to be done, we will do it. It does us no good to be on a
fishing expedition and not catch the right kind of fish that everybody can
feed on. We want to be able to catch something that everybody can eat,
rather than to say, “I don’t want that kind of fish.”

So feel free to share with us what you want to share with us.

And with that, I can say that this session has recessed.

[At 6:45 p.m. the hearing was recessed.]
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Desender 9, 1987 BAND-DELIVERED

Honoradle Donald P. Hodel

Secretary of the Interior

United States Department of the Interior
13th & C Street, N.W,, Roonm 6117
was-ington, D.C. 20240

/
Dea: Sezretary Holel: ’DO’A
/

Tne U.S. Comnission on Civil Rights, pursuant to its
responsidbility to monitdor enforcenent of Pederal civil rights
lass, is exaqining enforcement of the Indian Civil Rights Act
of 1963 (ICRA). As part of this evaluation, a Comamission
Sudpconnittee has held hearings in South Dakota and Arizona on
ICR: enforcerent by several tribes, focusing primarily on the
Nava)o Trioe, tne Zuni Puedblo Tribe, and the Cheyenne River,
Rosedud, an3d ?ine Ridge Sioux Tribes. When its examination is
complete, the Commission will report its findings and make
teconnendations to the President and the Congress.

Tne Sioconnittee's monitoring of ICRA enforcement would be
1nco~plete Jere it not to include consideration of the role of
the 3.reay of Indian Affairs. While this matter received
attention at th2 Sudbcommittee’s field heacings, that attention
Wwa3 n2cessarily incomplete., For this reason, the Subcommittee
will convene a hearing here in Washington to give thorough
consiieration to the Deparinent's ICRA policy. We invite your
Degdazirmen: to testify at the hearinj, which will take place a:
tae Com~13s519n'3 offices on Januazy 28, 1968, at 10:00 a.m.

de have enclosed a list of questions which we would like
ansJsz2zed b,y your Jeparitent. Certain of the questions pertain
to your pdlicy with rejard to ICRA enforcement. Others ask for
daza on ICRA enforcement, 638 contracts with tribes, tribal
constitutions, and training provided for tridbal judges and
personnel, We wdil3 be grateful if you would forward these
ques:-ions to the appropriate offices for response and, in
ajdizion, if yo. would designate officials to represent the
Department of Intecior at the Comaission’s heazing.
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In ocdec to expedite the collection of the iafecmation we ace
reguesting as well as other information Commission steff mey
Jant to odtain priosr to the heacring, I have asked that
Comaission 82aff visit your Depactsent en or befere December 18
023 speak vwith persons vho are fasiliac with the availadility
of the dats ve have gequested. Commission eteff will thecefore
eon:::t yoit office later this week to ideatify vith wvhoa they
should meet.

Sinserely,

- Qaar A
SLARENSE 4. PENILENDLN, JR.
Cnaicran

Inclosace
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guestions

PART 1: GENZRAL OVERSIGHT

In April 1986, Associate Solicitor for Indian Affairs Tim
Vvollr~ann desczibed the role of the Department with respect to
the ICRA in an outline prepared and distributed to a meeting of
the Indian Las Section of the Pederal Bar Association. The
aitline points out that in Martinez the Supreme Court rejected
ta+ ideas tha: the Secretary of Interior had enforcement or
revi2e aathority over tribal actions, except when a tribal
cons=itizion 9t Federal statute requires Secretarial approval
of trioal ardinances. When that exception applies, the
oJtlines further states, the Department must ®be cognizant of a
trioe's compliance wizh the Indian Civil Rights Act and other
fedaral la4s before it acts to recognize certain governmental
actions,*®

4i3 ostline alsd states:

A. The pdlicy of tribal self-determination
anl practical considerations create an
iastitutional reluctance to become routinely
invalved in allegations of ICRA violations.

1. 82aA has prograns to enhance tribal
institacions and encoirage ICRA
conpliance.

2. Zven the mos: peripheral involvenent
in tribal processes nakes the Department
A targe:t of lassuics by dissident
chilleng2rs of tridbal action,

8. Violations of ICRA may be a basis for
BIA declinazion to contract projrams with a
trioe under P.L. 93-6138.

C. Violations of ICRA may affect ho« the
Secretary exercises his trust cresponsibility
with regard to tribal trust assets, both
funds and natiral resources.

D. A gross violation of the ICRA (e.g.,
violation of due process through disregard
of the tridbal constitation or lavws governing
triba®l elections) may affect the federal
goveranent's recognition of tribal
cepresentatives,
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N0 the statenents cited above represent the curceant policy
of the Department of Interior with respect to ICRA
enfotcenenz? 1If not, what is the cuccent policy? 1Is
isssance of a nev policy under consideration? 1If so, ia
what office? When will it be issued?

dnat are tae ®practical considecations® cited in Nr.
Vollmana's outline that contribute to "an institutional
r2iustans2 to become routinely involved in allegations of
ICRA vinlations?® Please give examples.

qu9ting from the Vollaann outline, what programs does BIA
~a72 iy place °to enhance tribal institutions and encourage
ICR3 co-nliance?®

J0es 313 monitdr ICRA violations? 1If so, please describe
n24 and praside the Commission with information on the ICRA
vislations ta2at have taken place since 1978,

Vallnana's outline asserts that ICRA violations may be &
oasis for 3IA declination to contract programs with a tribe
Jnder P.L. 93-638. 1Is this current policy? Since
Martinez, has 3IA ever Jdeclined to contract such programs
n2zaise of ICRA viola:ions? 1If so, when and on what basis?

Since Yactinez, again citing the outline, how often has the
Daparthénz's exercise of its trust reponsibility been
affeczad by ICRA violations? In hovw many cases was ICRA
nonco~pliance the stated reason for agency action or
iract.0n?

S11ce 4ariinez, again citing the outline, how often has the
Departhnent refused recognition of tribal representatives
b221132 of *gross ICRA violations?® What is a gross ICRA
vi2lation and where is it defined? How many gross ICRA
vioiazions have taken place since 19782 Does the
D2part7ent have information in its files on these
7.21ations?

4sa: Joffices of tne Departaent of the Interior have
responsinilities or collect data in relation to the Indian
Si1vil Rijnts Act?

A letter of August 3, 1987, from the Judicial Services
3ranch td> the Comnission states that °The mission of the
Branch of Judicial Services within the Bureau of Indian
Affairs is to help tribal governnents establish and
naidtain a strong and viable Indian Judicial System capadle
of dispensing equal justice.® What are the stated criteria
of ti12 Judicial Services Branch for determining whether
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tridbal goveznments have ®strong and viable Indian Judicial
Systea(s capable of dispensing equal justice?® Are the
criteria pudblished? 3If the Judicial Services Branch does
not have stated criteria, hov does the BIA measute the
progress of tribal judicial systems? 1Is ICRA enforcement
one of the measurenents used? What other factors sre
relavant? Please provide the Commission with a directory
of the Judicial Services Branch.

wWaat are sone of the recent accomplishments of the BIA in
assissing trioal judicial systems?

~ac ar2 Jz2ainesses of the BIA in adainistecring tribal
judicial systens under 638 contracts?

Weat duties or responsidilities does the Bureau have with
cespect to violatjons of a tribal code or constitution? 1In
carcying out these responsibilities, vhat procedure is
toliow24 and what offices carcy out the responsibilities?

25 C.F.R, Section 81.5(a) aathorizses a Secretarial election
01ly ®upon a request from the tribal government.® 1In light
0f tie Tuni Suedlo succession election dispute about which
tae racen:ly Commnissior received testimony, will the
ragaiations de changed to allow direct petitions to the
Secr2tary €con a substantial percentage of enrolled
eligiola voters? Are any otner regulatoty changes
co1tenplazeld as a resilt of the Zuni experience? How many
012z 34¢% iastances hava there been since 19782

Pleas2 lis: th2 types of contracts between the BIA and a
srioal joveznnent under P.L. 93-638 and provide a printout
3¢ all 635 contracts carcently in force., Ho# many are for
tr1oal sourts? Trioal police? Appeals courts? Tribal
sounzils? Puslic D2fender services? Judicial training?

Jnder 25 U.S.C. §450f(c), which, if any, of the Pub. L. No.
93-6§33 coniract categories are routinely required to
contaia insirance clauses requiring liability insurance
¢ovaraj2 ani Jaiver 9f sovereign imnunity by tribal
govern-eats?

Pleas2 stat2 the reason why some of the Pub, L. No. 93-638
contract categories arze not toutinely requiced to contain
liaoility insurance covarage clauses.

Please sta:e what SIA personnel, by job classification, are

tesponsidle for negotiating, reviesing, approving, and
signing the Pud. L. No. 93-638 contracts in each category.
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In 1973, the BIA proposed a task force to study enforcemest
of the ICRA and to prepare interpretative guidelines and &
model code of criminal procedure. Was this {ia response to
section 301 of Title 111 of the Civil Rights Act of 198872
Was the proposal adopted and the task force assembled?
Were the guidelines prepared? 3If 80, please provide the
Commnission with a copy. Was the model code drafted? If
s0, please provide the Commission with a copy. If neither
was prepared, please explain why not.

In an October 27, 1987, statement to the Subcommittee on
Intezior and Related Agencies of the Comajttee on
Appropriations for the House of Representatives, the
Assistant Secretary for Indian Affairs proposed to give
crioes greiter control over self-determination funds, Be
stated that among other things, “this would be necessary to
establish . . . certain minimum standards vith respect to
protec:ion of individual rights and public safety.®

(a) Please describe vhat the *minimum
stan3ards® woild be. Would these standards
be conpliance with the ICRA and/or other
rales or regulations? Which ones?

(o) Wauld tribes have to deaonsitate
cospliance with mininum standards before
beiag eligible to exercise greater control
over redaral funds? What would constitute
sa-isfactory evidence of compliance?

{2) Woulad there be a procedure for
terninating funds if it were determined that
a tzibe did ndot meet these standards?
Pl2ase des:cribe what process. Would a tribe
no: in compliance be allowed to receive
finds under a contract?

(3) W10 woild nake the determinations of
conyliance, an adninistcative lav judge? A
s232ral judge? A contract compliance
ofticer?

(2) Does the 3IA currently have the
capanility to enforce mininum standards for
the protection of individual rights? If it
does n>%, what additional resources woild be
rejuized?
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PART T40: DATA OW TRISAL COURTS AWD [CRA CASES

Tae following questions ask for data to be brokea dowa by tride
and area office, and are .ccocC£ugl‘.’htaood as if ditected o
each BIA area office. Please provide as much iaformation as is
cirrently available in Washington, D.C., and ask area directors
to respond to those questions which cannot be ansvered by
Wasaington personnel.

Traiaing

1. Please indicate what training is provided to judges and
coirt prrsonnel for the tribes in your area. wWhat specific
training is given with respect to implementation of the
safeguards contained in the ICRA?

2. Wia: i3 the total nunber of tribal judges in your area? Of
this total, how many have lav degrees? HNov many have
received special training on the 1ICRA?

3. Do you baliave those subject to tridbal lav need to be better
inforned of their rights under the ICRA? What otogo has
your office taken to inform those subject to tribal lav in
yastr ares of their rights under the ICRA?

4. Wwha: is the total number of tribes in your acea? Of this
total, how many have written constitutions? Please provide
the Conmnission with copies of these constitutions.

S. Pleazs indjcate which of the tribes in your ares have, and
do no: have, each of the follosing ICRA righats included in
taeis conasitutions or lavws:

CIviy

a. Freedoa to practice religion
b. Freedom of speech
¢. Treedom of the press
4. TFreedom of asseably and/oc
redrass of grievances
e, Eainent dorain (taking of land
tor public purpose with just
coapensation)
t. Treedoa from bills of attaindec
and/or ex post facto lavs
g. Ejual protection of the lavs
h. Due process
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CRIMINAL

a. Unreasonable searches and
seizacres

b. DOouble jeopardy

¢. Self-incrimination

d. Right to speedy trial

®. Right to pudlic trial

{. Right to be informed of
natJure and cause of
accusation

3. Right to confront and
conp2l witnesses

h. Rigat to counsel

i. Limit on excessive bail

). Prohivition of cruel ani
Jnasual punishment

k, Sentencing limitation

1. Equal protection of the lauws

m. Dy process

n. 3ills of attainder and/or

ex post facto laws
o, Trial oy jury

6. Pleas2 Jdescrioe the nethdd by which judges for the tribal
COoirt3 1n yodr area are s2lected,

T. 20 all tae t-v10al courts in your area have laes clerks?
File clezxs? 1f nd>t, Y94 many do and hovw many do not?

5. dleas? list each trioe i1 yoir area and state whether it
N33 8 Pris<satdr Iz pudlic da2fender system or both or
neicves,

5. Af2 at:idrness pernitted to appear before the tribal courts
11 yodr area? If not, please identify which tribal courts
32 not pernit then td> appear, 1If so,

a., ace they permitted in civil cases?
b, ar2 tney pernitted in criminal cases?

c. pleas2r indicate the criteria for permit:ing their
appearance,

d. If tribal court bar admission is required, please
indicate the criteria for adnission.
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19, Which tribes in your area have courts of cecord, i.0., ia
vhich the proceedings ace transcribed or taped? Please
1ist eacn tribe indicating whether they have courts of
reco:d and how the record is kept for each court. Of
those tzibes with courts of record,

A. Are court reporters used in proceedings in the
tribal courts in your area? 1If mot, please
identify which courts do not use court cepocters.

5. are tapa recordings made and kept but not
transcribed? Please indicate what the practice is
i1 each of the tribal courts in your area.

2. Aar2 trioal sourt opinions published and how may
they be obtained?

3. ar2 trciba! ordinances published and how may they
be ootained?

11. To #3323 ~ay an appeal from the tribal courts in your area
oe takea, i.e., whether to appellate courts, Tridbal
co.nzils, or no appellate mechanism, If the system
diffess awng the tridbes in your area, please identify the
d:fferencas, by tribe.

12. »2iea32 list the trides in yoiur area that have judicial
app2llaze trinunals. 3In your list, please state:

a. how many judzes sit on each
2. th2 24a3: nane Oof the judicial appellate tribunal.
c. the standari for appellate review: de novo or on
the record.
13. 3o« nans jadges <4hd sit on tare tribal courts in your area
21185 hear appellate cases? Pleass list the judges by tribe.
14. Since Haztinez, have the tribal appellate courts in your
acea evar fornmally invoked the ICRA in reviewing cases

fron the loder courts? Please identify which appellate
coarts in responding to this question.

14D7A4 CIVIL RIGATS AST

15. 90 you kerp records oi the number of cases in the tribal
cosrts in yoar azea in which the pleadings allege a
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violation of the ICRA? 1If not, plesse identify who does.
1€ s0, please state by year the number of cases tried in
the tribal coucrts in your area, post-Rartinez, in which
the pleadings allege 8 violation of the guarantees of the
ICRA,

1978 .. 1979 1900
1901 1932 1983
1984 1985 1986

In the cases identified in the preceding guestion, please
stat2 the nunder of cases in which nontribal members have
invokad the ICRA,

Pleas? state by ysar the nunber of cases for the period
1978-19565 in waich the ICRA or a s‘milar tridal ordinance
or constitition was foramally found to have been violated.

_ 1978 1979 1980
195: 1982 1983
1984 1988 1986

?leas? odriafly deacribe the types of problems affecting
ICRA eaforcanent in the tribal courts in your area. In
yosr vies, ate any of taese problexns serious? How should
they o2 ajiress2d?

In yo.r >pianion, doe3 Congress need to anend the ICRA? It
sn, please briefly outline what changes you think are
neci2d in tae ICRA. 1If not, why not?

in yoiur o02inion, how nuch do tridbal politics affect the
iadependence of tne tribal coucrts in your area?

In yoaur 2p{1i01, should there be any kind of limited
Federa. judicial revies of tribal court ICRA decisions,
other thsn in habeas corpus cases? Please explain the
ceasons for your ansvar,

Have tne triosl councils ever overruled tribal courts in
your area aince 19782 Please list by tribe the instances
of such overruling, identifying the case nane and year.
Also, please state whether the pleadings in any of these
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cases alleged 3 violation of any the guareatees protected
by the ICRA, or a similar tribal ocdinance or
constitazional provisioa.

In hov many ICRA cases has sovereign fimmunity been raised
33 a delense since 19767 1In how many of these cases has
tae defense been successful?
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United States Department of the Interior

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY
WASHINGTON, DC. 20240

JAN 27 1988

Clarence M. Pandleton, Jr., Crairman
United States Commission an Civil Rights
1121 vermont Averue, N.W.

Waghington, D.C. 2042%

Osar Mr. Pendleton:

In resporee o0 your letter of Decenber 9, 1987, to the Secretary of the
Interior, please find enclosed responess to your QuUestiIONNAIre concerning the
1968 Indwan Cwvil Rights Act. informed your staff, our response is
ncompliete at this time gsince informat ion had to be requested from
or twlve (12) area field offices, and the time constraints in receiving and
collating that nformation would not allow us to meet your Jaruary 28 deadline.

§
QL
gs

The responses to this Questionnaire are based on information from eight (8) of
the twelve (12) area officas. Further information from the remaining four (4)
area offices will be provided to you won our receipt of such materials.

Your staff was alsc wnformed that much of the information sought under Part II
of your questiomaire oould only be obtaned directly fram the tribal
governmants. Your questionnaire was forwarded to the tribes and their
responses should be forwarded to your office diwrectly.

Swncerely,

Assistant Secretary - Indian Affairs

Enclosure
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PART 1: GENERAL OVERSIGHT

o

The Statements cited are found in an autiine for a presentation given by &
Depa-ument of the Interior Solicitor at one of the arvwa) Federal Ber
Association meetngs and cannot be construsd as representing the awrrent
policy of the Departmant of the Interior with respect to Indian Civi)
Rights Act (ICRA) enforcement. It has been the Bureau of Indian Affairs
policy since January 16, 1981, to handle each alleged civil rignts
violatwon of provisions of tribal constitutions on & case by case basis.
Othe types oOf claymed ICRA violations have besn deferred to local tribal
resclution mechaniems n heeping with the U.S. Supreme Court ruling in
Santa Clara Puetlo v. Martinez.

Attacned s a position of the Bureau's Division of Tribal Goverrment
Se-vices concenirs tribal court campliance with the Indan Civil Rights
Act of 19.:. However, there 18 no “new” officia) Bureau policy with
rescest te JORA enforcement.

w. vollma- 1s no longer working at the Central Office, and 1t would be
presaptious to nfe- what his assessment of “practical considerations”
might be n restricting ongoing Bureau involvement in responding to ICRA
allegations.

Tre Bure@a., throug” a contract admnistered by the Branch of Judicial
Services. proviges tramning to tribal and CFR court personne)l that
incluges sessions Just on provisions of the ICRA, as well as courses that
nclude asoests O the 10RA as embodied 1n court procedural actions.

Tne Brea. aoes not monitor ICRA viclatons on a regular basis. The
Bure3. w1l loo 1Into cases brought to 1ts attantion, but only as a method
cf cla-1¢,:n. tre fasts surrounding the allegations.

Aceret’y M. volimann's assertion alludes to 25 CFR 271.74 which directs
that unde” t- 3€ction entitled Reassumption” of P.L. 93-638 contracts:

(a' A contrazt maje under this part may be terminated, and
conrol or operation of the program or function assumed by
the Commissiorer or Area Director as appropriate, in whole
o n  patt; wen the Commissioner or Area Director
gesermings that the tribal organization's performance under
the contract nvolves: (1) the violation of the rights of
ay persons can be dentified as a pattern or practice . . .

Since Martine:., as reported from the Bureau Area Offices, the Bureau has
not reassumed a contract on the basis of ICRA violations. Technically,
the reguilations call for “violations of rights” to be a basis for
reassumption of a contract, not for nitial entry into a contract.

Based on Area Office reports, there were at least five (5) instances where
the alleged violation of civil rights “has been an issue to the point

where the Bureau of Incan Affairs has hed to deviate from routine
Procedures \n carrying out i1ts trust responsibilities.”
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7. Since Martingz, in at least two Nstances “the Bureau did withhold
recognition of tribal council actions where questionsd (disputed) menbers
voted on enactrents that required Secretarial approvel.”
™Te Bureau doss not Wilize any official definition of “gross ICRA
violations."” The Bureau doss Nt maintain gpecific f1les denoting “gross
ICRA viclations.” Instances of alleged ICRA violations might be found
with ony maher of Bureau departments.

8. There 18 nc office within the Bureau with the responsibility to collect
data in relatior. to the JCRA.

9. There are no puwdlished criteria for determining whether or not tribal
govermments have ‘strong and viable Indran Juodicial Systems capadble of
dispeneIny eaual Justice.” Assesemants of trida) court systems are based
on a nuter of admnistrative criteria. For instance relevant criteria
would  Inciuok: funding levels for the court systam; extent of traning
receved bv court personnel; tribal constitutional autonamy of the court:
ang extant of court’s subject matter jurisdiction.

10. As taten fror the Branch of Judicial Services FY 87 report to the Division
cf Tribal Goverrment Services:

“In FY 81 the follcwing activities were accomplished by the Branch of
Judicral Se-vices:

-  Twenty-one (21) court systems were provided addrtional funds for
thelr COuwrt Systams &8 “needy courts.” The funds are used to
upgrade Coawrts Dy pro.1ding personnel, equipment, and training.

- Eignt (6' national tribal oourt training sessions, attended by an
averay- of 5. court pe~sonnel per §e6sIoNn.

- Contra:te? for ten (10) traning sessione an chilid abuse for benefit
of CUivision of Social Services, to Cover ten (10) out of the twelve
(12) BIA area offices.

- worked closely writh Division of Socral Services, Division of Law
Enforzement, Office of Indian Education, and Indian Health Service
o help proouce minymm guidelines for the establisiment of Chlg
Protection Teams (CPTs) at each area level. Provided training funds
o OPTs throud: P.L. 93-570, Anty Drug and Alcoho) Abuse funds.

- Brancr. was pert of Buresu’s Alcohol and Druj Abuse Task Force and

. administered funds tO provide antl drug and alcohol traning and
related activities. Helped develop policy for distribution of all
funds under P.L. 93-57C.

- Developed couwrt base funding criteria for providing additional
non~-benoed court funds.

- Developed concept for Judicial Services Trawmning Center, and
receved adm:strative approval to develop Center n FY 88. Also,
reviewed several sites and recammended final site selection.

2
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-  Reviewed tyree (3) triba) court systems.

The majr we3 ness N adninistering trwal Judicial systems under 638
contracts s that the f.as are "banded” monies within the Bureau’s Indian
Priority Syster. This means that funds for court systams are not stable
g can be sutict o funding iIncresses or decreases based on tribal
oriwority needs for that year. Unsure funding levels make it very
afficult to develor & cowrt system that can grow staadily to meet
commuriity needk .

Allegez vic'ations of triba’ codes Or constitutions are handled under the
aiIrectives 'n the Ma~tingz ruling and are deferred to local tribal forums
wrless ra'ss: unde- a hateus COrpus situation, N which nstance the 18sue
15 oc‘ere: Lo tne U.S. Attorney's of fice and the federal courts.

Tre Bure@a. gererally, becomes INvolved 10 alleged violations of tribal
Cst tutiy . wmer the alleged viclations may call into guestion the
leg'wmaly ¢ the e'eztion of & tribal governing body. In such situations
U Burei. ra- W assess whether Or not 1t 1S providing services or funds
tc a les.trutely recogrized tribal government as embodied 1n 1ts tribal
CONSLILUTIr ©OF Orzanic dgocuments. Te Division of Tribal Goverrment
Se v el wii: = responsitle for such assessments.

In the 2.t Fuetlo eletion dispute the Acting Deputy Assistant
Secreta”y -~ Ingia” Affairs derned a petition for @ secretarial-held
elet'y W vie O e tarporary suspension of the Zuni Constitution.
The oe'a’ wa: appealec tc the Interior Board of Indian Appeals which reld
tras

A e & "10r ca'led by the Secretary pursuant to 25 CFR P> °
' e 't approcriate for the purposes of temporaral,
re 33 a trbal constitution and recalling and reclacing

roLzl offritgTs,

wm

.o

Tr-e ae 10 rez. a0y, cranjes corterplated a8s a result of e Zum
epem rance.

Tr1s 2ata s $%11i beIng corclec based on the information provided from
fiels cffrze:. an? w1’ pe provide? to your office upon collation of the
rfo matior.,

14./15, uUngder the self-Jelerminalion regulations (25 CFR 271.45) the contract

officer 1= grantel (gisiretirary authority to determine wat liability
nerance ma.  be reduired. This regjulation provides that tribal
>rgaiilations shall ottain puwliic Tability Insurance under contracts
etered NS w'th the Bureaus uwnder P.L. 93-638., However, where the
wrtracting offices determines that the risk of death, perscral njury or
pronerty datwde under the contract s small and that the time and cost of
Pravuring the Insuante 1s great n relation to the risk, the contract may
be e-crritel frar th's rejuir@ment. However, any contract which requires
o a.Lthorice:. either expressly or by mpliwcation, the use of motor
vicles must cottain 8 provision requiring the tribal organization to
Lt ovige az1ity insurarce, re3ardless of how small the risk.
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Mgot 13t 10Ne
1 Prima-), resonsibility - contracting officer and staff (@-G8-1102).

2) SeconM-, rea00r8t1lity - program staff which could be any of
dozens of classifications depending On Drogram req.irements, 1.0.,
las an3 O- 38", finance, soC1al services, education, etc.

Re\ Yew g

Sax @c at..c plus Agency Superintandent (G-340) and Area PdYiC Law
9:-€3: Coord-~a°ors (GS-varous).

ADD” v ING
Arez Direct. + (£3-33D) or Assi1stant Secretary (ES-340).
S ¥yng

wirartel Ca"rzmg Off icers within the 1wmt of thewr signatory
a.shority (@» 32-1102).

we ha.e NnC TformaTion concerning a 1973 BIA proposal to establish & task
f>r e w s%..3, eforcorw: of the ICRA and to preoare interpretative
gu'de'ings a3 & mou2! cods of criminal procedwre. A task force ‘c
estadlighes v 1970 n the Solicitor’s Office to carry ot
ressonsittlities  mpused on the Dspartment Dy section 301 of Title 111 o'
the C°.': R->°: Azt of 1965. A mode) code of cr wingl procedsre was
oe.elopel by tat tass force and pudlished in the Federa) Register on
AD7IY 18, 'ETT &7 Fez. R2j. 16823, Ir adgition to the substantive
pro.1siong, te Fer-al Register publication also nciudes commentary on
R pri.ecI. Fz:'2’, that Ccomelaty 18 the nterprelative
Q1 Sl W oW T yOu refer.

Ir oroer o 3.:13 corfuzror, 1t should De noted that the self-
Scemiritir  ; a~te  referred WO In the QesStion are not the same as the
s.oret'y aLini-izes sectior 104 grants, which are also knowr as self-
b AL ILANEE T

I w2t resnw3mg to a8 h,DoWnelical Qestor posed by the subcammitiee
zravrmas 8 o the a:3.-3xes that wuuid or shoulo be required of tribes
1f the. were tc te g ver greate fleriDr111ty n the use of federal funds
pro.v 1083 Uro. .. U< Buress of Indian Affairs.

Tre Corriciiar’s Ir2iirves may be premture. Curent law doss not allow
e tyte Of fle-1L111T) tnat was DeIng 01Ss-ussed at the hear ing. Congress
provices $1,050.000 1in the FY 1985 budy:t for ten tribes to plan tridal
D.392%8 a7 1ntluIe? 8 nsrpe” of directives that the tribes and the Buresu
must me.t e ore a 0s-21810N W grant increased author 1ty 1s made.

The first me *'n3 w'th the ten triwbal chairman was held on January 22,

1962. Ove” U . nevt nine months the tribes and the Bureau will be working
w9ehe” to O:emine esactly what the paramaters should be. These
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findings will be submitted to Congress and legislative determination will
be made as to the sufficiency of the safequards and the determination of
enforcament actions.

PART 11: DATA ON TRIBAL COURTS AND ICRA CASES

1. Trne Central Office provides training through & Buresu contract with the
National Indwan Justice Center, Inc. Additional training has been
provided by various ndependent contrectors such as Indian Law Canter, the
University of Montana, and other contract groups as contracted for by the
tribes. area offices and agencies.

Under the oontract with the Indwan Justice Center, Inc., cou~ses in the
ICR: are provided while provisions of ICRA are addressed in Other COurses
sucr. a8 cryminal law, cv1) procedure, housing, etc.

2. As provides by Aress:

A€ doen

- Nter of Tribal Judges 40

= Nuber of Tribal Judges w/ Law Degres 10

- Specifically traned n ICRA 20
Sacrywnto

- Nroer of Trabal Judges 2

-~ Nbe- of Tribal Judges w/ Law Degree (]

- Specifically trained n ICRA UNkNowWN
11137 d

- Nsbe- of Tribal Judges 25

= Nt 0f Trapal Judae: w' Law Degree 9

- Spectitical:v tramd n JORA 25
Minneapo g

- Nrbe~ of Triba) Judges 32

= Npoer of Tridal Judges w/ Law Degree  unknown
- Spec'ficall)y trawned n ICRA 32
8111 ngs

- Nuter of Tridal Juadges 22
= Nurbe” of Tribal Juiges w/ Law Degree 3
- Specificall, traine)l n ICRA 20

Ana3zarko

- Nroer of Tribal uudges 37

= Nroe” Of Trizal Judges w/ La~ Degree 21

- Specifically traine? wn ICRA 37
Proen ix

= Nurbe” of Tribal Judges 3

= Nrper of Tribal Judges w/ Law Degree 10

- Sgecifically traned n ICRA unknown

3. There 15 a gex-a) consensus from the area off ices that those subject to
trval law need o be better informed of their rights under the ICRA,

b
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As provided by Areas:

Aber dgen
- Nurder of
- Nder of

Sacrymanto
- Nuber of
- Nuder of
Muskoges
- Nuter of
- Number of

- Nuoer of
- Nroer of

Minneapo 18
- Ngoer of
- Nuber of

B8 1ings
- Nurber of

Nava
- Number of
- Nuroer of

Tribes
Tribas with Constitutions

Tr ibes
Tribes with Constitut ions

Tribes
Trdes with Constitutions

Tr 1des
Tribes with Const ittt «ns

Tr 1bes
Tribes with Constitut ions

Tr 1bes
Tribes with Constitut ons

Tribes
Trbes with Constitutions

Tridbes
Trbes with Constitutions

Tr bes
Tr \des with Constitutions

Trbes
Tribes with Constitutions
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POSITION OF THE BURBAU OF INDIAN AFPAIRS ON
TRIBAL COURT COMPLIANCE WITH THE INDIAN CIVIL R GETS ACT OF 1968

The Indian Civil Rigbts Act of 1966, P.L. 90-284, wves psssed by Cougress 8s o
recognition of the unique ststus that tridal geverumests heve wader the U.S.
Constitution, end the responsibility that these goversmests bave te their
people. The civil rights that vere extesded eato Indien 1snds sre similar to
but not the ssme as *hose rights dessnded of the federsl govermment snd stete
goverrzents under the Bill of Rights. The federsl courts bave found thet by
evact:ng @ lav to require Indisn tribes to provide comstitutional rights to
Iodians o reservations:

...Congress wished to protect and preserve isdividusl rights of
Indisr peoples, with res:izetion thet gosl was best acbieved by
sa:rnteirng unique Indisn culture and wsecesssrily strengtbening
tribal governzents. O'Neal v, Cbeyenne River Sious Tribe, C.A. §.D.
1973, 480 F 2d 1140, 1144,

To this end, the Buresu continues to work closely with tribel court systeas,
providing furdity when pecessary, techpical support, snd ongoing treinimg for
tribal court persorsel, including bow to best sdbere to the provisioms of the
Indiaz Civil Righes Act of 1968. The Buresu sttespts to imsure that courts in
Indien country operate within the spirit and the letter of lev of tbe Indian
Civil Raghts Act through the contractusl framsework of P.L. 93-638. Any
sttez;ts by the Bures: to directly ioterpret tribsl court sctioms would be
courter to restrictions established by the U.S. Suprese Court in Sants Clsrs
Puet c v, Marziner, 43¢ U.f, 49, 56 L, Bd 24 106, The Bures: recognizes tribal
courts acd tribal governzents es evolving governsemtal entities. Therefore,
the Bures: vieer its roles as supportive end imstructive to tribsl court
systegs, but pot as uitizate interpreter of the unique cultursl epplicetions of
equal prctezticr and due process that are sometimes adeinistered by such court
sysiens. Tre Burest will cortinue to provide its support and isstructive role
in promcting the epplication of the gusractees found within the provisions of
the lIudiar Civil Rights Act, but will mot overstep the boundsries schnovledged
by the U.S. Su;rexe Court.

Indian tribes ere ‘'distinct, independent political comsunities,
retsirirg their original npetursl rights' is sastters of locsl
self-governmert, Worcester v. Georgis, 31 U.S. (6 Pet) 515, 559, 8
L Ed 483 (1832); see United States v. Meguire, 419 U.S. 544, 557, 42
L B4 2d 706, 95 S. Ct. 710 (1975); F. Coben, Wsndbook of Pedersl
Indian Lav 122-123 (1943). Altbough mo lopger ‘possessed of full
sttributes of sovereigoty,' they ressin 8 ‘seperate pecple, with
pover of regulsting their interval end socisl relations.' Sents Clars
Pueblo v. Martinez, supra, 113.
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» United States Department of the Interior

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY
WASHINGTON, DC. 20

MEMORANDUM JUN ;2 980
Tos _mdmwm
lnm%mimwy-mwﬂu

Subsect: interior Department/Bureau of Indian Affairs Policy Regarding Relationship
with Tribal Governments

The purpose of this memorandum is 20 establish Departmental policy guicance for
dealing with tribal governments in the wake of the Martinez decision.

L BACKGROUND

The need for establishing such policy arises from the May 13, 1978, Supreme Court
decision in Santa Clara Pusdblo v. Martinez. While the Martinez decision does not form
the entire basis for policy, it has given impetus to the need for & policy regarcing
the relationship between Indian tribes and the United States.

In the \Martinez decision, the me Court held that, except for habeas corpus, the
indian Civ:I Rights Act of 1968 (ICRA) does not provide access to the Federal courts
for individuals who feel their civil rights have been violated dy actions of their tridbal
govemnment. Rather, the Court determined that such matters are to be resolved
through the use of wibal forums.

In the Martinez decision, the Court also reviewed the legislative history of the Indian
Civil ts to show that the Congress rejected proposals to give the Department
of the interior administrative review of alieged violations by tribal governments of the
civil righs of individuals. Consequently, neither this Department nor the Federal
courts constitute a forum wherein individuals who allege violations of the Indian Civil
Rights Act by wibal governments may be heard.

Rather, the decision has clearly placed the responsibility and the authority
{or enforcement Indian Civil Rights Act on tribal governments. In its discussion
of the decision the Court said, "In addition to its objectives of strengthening the
position of individual wibal members vis-a-vis the wibe, Congress also intended to
promote the well established Federal policy of furthering indian seif-government.”
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Therefore, the Martinez decisien has ne! *™e nractical effect of reinforcing the
authority of Indian tribes to truly self-govern. By doing 90, it has provided them with
Soth the cppartunity and the responsidility to strengthen their tridal govern:ments and
create an atmesphere of respect for those wibal forums charged with protecting
individual rignts.

0. INDIAN CIVIL RIGHTS ACT

With thet background in mind, it is essential that actions of personnel of the Bureau of
Indian Affairs reflect and adhere to the following in respect to the Indian Civil Rights
Acts

. The Bureau is genuinely concerned that tribes adhere to the requirements of
the Indian Civil Rights Act which places serious responsidilities on tribal
governments to protect the civil rights of individuals under their jurisdiction.

2. The Bureau of Indian Affairs, however, can not and will not constitute a
forum wherein individual wibal members might seek redress for alfeged violation
of the !ndian Civil Rights Act Dy a tribal government.

3. Rather, recognizing the additional support for the concept of self-govemnment
that the Indian Civil Rights Act provides for tribes, the Bureau will actively
work to help tribal governments develop forums which will enable them to deal
fairly on issues relating to this Act. In s0 doing, the Bureau must respect the
sovereignty and uniquenems of esch wibal entity, while being prepared to
encourage and assist within available resources in the following:

(a) The development, amendmant or revision of tribal constitutions, law
and order codes, judicial procedures, and other governing documents as
appropriate,

() The provision of technical amistance for civil rights studies when
requested Dy wibes.

(c) Amurance of appropriate training programs for judges, law enforcement
personnel, and other tribal statf.

(@ Through the Solicitor's Office, provision of legal interpretations on civil
rights matters when requested.

(e} Establishment and strengthening of fair and objective rribal judicial
systems.

& The Bureau expects esch wibe to abide by the terms of the political
relationship it has,with the United States. A breach of the terms of the political
relationship may result in an alleged violation of the civil rights of an individual;
however, it is important to distinguish that the actiors 0 be taken as set our in
the following are not directed at the alleged violation, which will be handled in a
tridal forum, but rather at the breach of the terms of the political relationsiup.
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8l POLITICAL R%WE WITH TRIBAL GOVERNMENTS
P

This part of the policy staiement is made with full understanding and appreciation of
the fact thet hard and fast rules concerning a pelitical relationship cannot de drawn.
Political developments and reslities external % this Department will be present at a
particular time _with regard © a particular set of circumstances that will require
deviation from this general pelicy guidance. Any such deviation will be authorized or
made by the political appointess of the United States — the Commissioner, the
Assistant Secretary - Indian Affairs, or the Secretary of Interior.

This policy and implementing procedures do not apply to the day-to-day administrative
decisions by Bureau officials, dut are designed 10 apply in cases of extraordinary
deliberace breach of the terms of the political relationship detween Indian trides and
the United States, which may be brought to the attention of the Superintendent in
several ways.

At the Agency level, this would not affect the Superintendent’s responsibility to make
administrative decisions concerning actions by tridbal officials. In making such
oecCis10ns, 1t May de necessary for the Superintendent to determine whether there has
been compliance with the tribe’s constitution. Such administrative cecisions would be
subject to the administrative appeals procedures in 25 CFR 2. Those matters involving
an exwvaordinary and deliberate breach, however, would require political consid-
.C'F‘:? and decisions ovtside the administrative review procedures set Jorth in 23

In most instances, many of the terms of the political relationship between a wide and
the United States are specifically set forth in the tribal constitution. Where a tribal
constitytion provides for representative government, we consider such document as
evidence of a delegation of autharity from the Indian people to their elected
representatives for the purpose of governing the tribe. The governing body is,
therefore, responsibie to the people 10 serve them and conduct the tribe's affairs in
the manner set forth in the wibal constitution. The wibal constitution also defines

There are a number of widbes which have forms of government that have not been
embodied in written decuments, or whose documents have not been formally approved
by the Secretary or his representative. In those instances, the political relationship
may not be defined 9o clesrly. Mowever, the histerical terms of those specific
relationships are sufficiently well understood by consistent patterns of inter-rela-
tionship between the tribe and the United States, as reflected by both Fecderal and

the terms of the political relationship and to permit the

principles of this palicy 1 be applied in manner.

-
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c. What the impect of the sanctien will be on the Secretary's fiduciary

obligation on Departmental programs.

d. What the impect will be on future relations with the tribe or the particular

tridal government or leaders in Guestion.

. The impact on the policy of self-determination and recognition of wibal
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f. What impact the sanction, or failure 0 apply it, will have on relations with
other wibes.

g8 What the impact will’ Se on the Sureau, Department and Administration from
the Congress, the media, general public and world cpinion.

N The best interests of the United States.
Sanctions in arder of increasing severity are:

& Refusal ® recognize or approve a specific act of & widal government or any
consequence of it.

b. Refusal to recognize any otherwise legal act of the wibal government until
corrective action is taken.

¢ Withdrawal of recognition of an officer >t the ribe as legitimately seated
and whose actions the United States can recognize.

d. Yithdrawal of recognition of & governing body as legitimately seated and,
therefore, one with wnom the United States can do business.

e. Cut-off of all Bureau funding with recommendation 1o other agencies that
they take similar action and/or a refusal to deliver wust funds.

. Vithdrawal of recognition of all officials. Such officials could be recognized,
however, for the sole purpose of taking action to correct the breach. Once
corrections are mace, recognition to the proper officials could then be restered.

The Central Office vill monitor the crisis and decide when and if sanctions will be
withdrawn and normal working relations re-established.

This policy is intended as a means 10 ensure that the terms of the political relationship
are honored by both parties. This policy acknowledges the existing wibal quasi-
sovereign political Katus. But it acknowledges al] the implications of such status and
deals with them. This policy is consistent with that expressed by Congress in
P.L. 93638 0 maintain the Federal Government's unique and continuing relationship
with wibal governmenta. -
-, ~ ';"..o' .
o ’ (-’ ’-\. / 7 ¢ t/' —
[ o/../"'- 4

o
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United States Department of the Interior

OFFICEZ OF THE SECRETARY
WASHINGTQN, DC.  s80e0

Memor andum ‘
i

To: A1l Ares Directors

Aetrg Oe3aty Z4 AN 17 19
Through: Commissioner of Indisn Affairs
Fror: Assistant Secretary - Indten Affairs
Subject: Interior Department /Buresu of Indian Affairs Policy

Regarding Relationship with Tridbsl Government

Pending further instructions from this office, no action should be taken
to implevent the policies set forth in the memorandum of June 12, 1980,

subject: “Interior Department /Suresu of Indian Affairs Policy Regarding

Relationship with Trida) Goverment.®

In the event » situation develops where the Area Director believes that
there is 8 clear violation of provisions of the tridbal constitution, he

shou1d refer the ratter to the Office of the Comnissioner, with 3 full
report on the circumstances. CEach matter will De handled on a case by

case tasis. /42 » Z %
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Minneapolis Star and Tribune, January 5, 1986

INDIAN COURTS
ISLANDS OF INJUSTICE

Indians’ rights are
often deniedin

Firer of a series. sought Jagal belp. bocause she had
Zy Shares Sehmichle s
and Reger Busen
Staff Writers These cases come from isiands of
Nuuu:rldbdbl.h:: injustice.
sota on
e aiertee”  Taysnyim \meros s
ﬁ m“""‘"‘".':.'ﬂ'-w Indians live under courts thet oftes
away by tridel officials because she fail $0 haad out justice.
Aed “abasdoned™ . Os many reservations with Iadiea
s courts:
Cosale Chasing Hawk lost custody T iacTuging (be Tighes 1 law-
”kmn”“mw yers, bail aad jury trisls — and
W'Ms.“m”m" wumwam‘l»
whes bher childrea were

Reprinted with permission from the Star Tribune, Minneapolis-St. Paul.
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Evea lawyers paid by the govers-
barred.

ment have beea

grants moaney to a legal aid system
to help Indians who can’t afford
lawyers ia civil cases. But “nooe of
the attorneys in our office or the
paralegals have been eliowed to
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The tribe came under pressure to
soften its attorney rule in May 1985
U.S. District Court judge in

by specifying
those who want to assist defendants
in the court. The requirements in-
clude being 8 member of the Red
Lake tribe, a resident of the reser-
vation and having an understanding
of the Chippewa language.

But the new qualifications won't

bring any lawyers to Red Lake.

There isn't a lawyer who meets
1o Assistant U.S.



the tridbal council dossn't
allow lawyers in the Red Lake
court, it uses them for its legal af-
fairs. It paid law firms in Duluth
and W D.C., more than
::a.mn and expeases in

Jury trials, a right for Americans
living oa or off reservations, are
aimost as rare as lawyers at Red
Lake. Juries are rare oa other res-
ervations, as well.

But that isa't what the law intended.

The Indian Civii Rights Act, passed
by Congress in 1968, gives Indians
charged with crimes that could

iavolve a jail sentence the to
beMdbyaM.Mbo':::m
the case.

A 1976 survey of 100 indian courts,
the most recent compreheasive sur-
vey of tribal courts, found that 42
courts didn't have a jury trisl the
previous year. Oaly 10 courts had
more than five jury trials.

Red Lake’s court heard
criminal and civil cases for almost
100 years before it had its first jury
trial, which occurred in 1963. In
1982, a Bureau of Indian Affairs
(BIA) consuitant reported “the Red
Lake court has never had & jury
trial and juries were not beiag pro-
wmmwunﬁ

Red Lake’s court rules discourags
defeadants from asserting their
right to jury trials. One rule, for
example, requires a defeadant con-
victed in & jury trial to pay the cost

ot Red Lake two years ago that the
Indian court’s rule oa jury-trial
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justice in the United States
in recont the probleme of indien courts heve been
olled by experts and documented in Below ere

*‘Although many tribal courts are functioning admirably on
fimited resources, lack of support and vaciliating policies over
ronortone. . o1 cversiingeds of stagoering

mmmm
*‘The tribal courts do not work well, and
would require much time and invoive many

system
rights and criminal problams in the regular county and state
oourt systems.”’
American Bor Foundation study in 1078

*Compilaints of politicel iterference abound. There have been
repeated instances of tribel lsaders putting preasure upon an
indian court judge 10 rule a certain wey, under an implied threat
that the judge must comply or iose his/her job. . . .

“(A likely) reason for the disposition of virtually el cases in
Indian courts by gullty pisas is the fact that they are not well
equipped %o conduct adversary procesdings. . . .

*Litle recourse remains for one convicted by an indian court.
Whills moet tribes have structures providing for appeals, they

often are inoperative.”
Nationel American indian Oourt
Judges Assceiation repert In 1978

/6]

161



3EST COPY AVAILARLF

Exhibit No. 4 (cont.)

*‘Today ‘his minority group is in & position comparabie to that
of other minorities in the late 1950s or early 1900s. There is
really no indian civil rizhts movement comparabie to that which
blacks forged in the 1960s. Most indian interest groups are
primarily concerned with establishing political and economic
camowmavlﬁonm."

nﬂvl Johl.
MMM .onua
*In the field of criminal law, tribel justice leaves much to be
deeired. . . . Tribal judges poseses and exercise an enormous
mammummmmwm

checks."’
Vine Deleria Jr. and Clifferd M. Lytie in
“American indians, American Justice’ (1083)

. (Flailure to establish a clear separation of powers
mumwmmmmgmm
in political interference with tribal courts, weakening their
:'ud':pum , and raising doubts about fairness and the rule

w. ...

deters investment.’

Prescidontial Commission on indian
Reservation Roonomies report in 1084

M

About the writers/

This series was reported by Sharon  Buoen, 34, an assistant city editor,
Schmickle and Roger Buoen, under  joined the newspaper in 1978. He is
the direction of ?ﬂmux:t Managing alawyer.
Editor/Projects John Ulimann.

! Researcher Nita Martin contributed

Schmickle, 43, has worked at the to the series. It was copy edited by
newspeper for five years and is 8 Jim Landberg.
general assignment reporter.
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Minneapolis Star and Tribune, January 5, 1986

Woman flees tribal
justice to keep sons

Bismarck, N.D. Chasing Hawk had left the childrea

Connie Chasing Hawk's sons were with their grandparents, who live

finishing their bedtime baths when on the reservation, because she had

police appeared at the door with a lost her house and couldan’t provide

court order demanding that she an adequate home for the children.

turn over her two boys. Without She tried to get them back several

notifying Chasing Hawk or hearing times over the next few years, twice

evidence or giving his reasons, & through legal action. But the

judge had awarded custody of the grandmother refused, saying

boys to a relative. Chasing Hawk was neglecting the
children. Court officials told

When the Sioux Indian woman Chasing Hawk that she should get a

refused, tribal police threatened to job and a home before she resumed
get & warrant to search for the boys custody, she said, but she was

in the house. unablie to find permanest work.
Chasing Hawk, 30, and ber sons, A tribal court judge heard evidence
ages 8 and 10, fled to the nearby and decided in December 1984 that
home of her sister, also on the the boys belonged with their
Cheyeane River Sioux Reservation mother.
in Eagle Butte, S.D. But escape But their grandmother, Pear!
seemed jess. s

hope Hollow Horn, called Chief Tribal
I saw all those cop cars out there. Judgs Melvin Garreau on Jan. 9,
We were really scared,” Chasing 1985, and begped him to return the
Hawk recalled. “We just walked boys to her because she was
back.” worried their mother wasa't

watching them that night.
Police took the children on that
Jan. 9, 1985, night and arrested Garreau, who was tribal chairman
Chasing Hawk for resisting the until 1960, said that on the basis of
court order — an order made by a Hollow Horn's call be didn’t think
judge without following tribal or there was time for a hearing.
federal rules that protect peopie’s
rights. At the jail, Chesing Hawk said, she
mmmmww::“

Chasing Hawk and the boys’ together 0a a bench outside a
peternal grandmotber had bees block uatil around 11 p.m., when
fighting over the children since police led the boys away to drive
1979, after the boys’ father was them to the Hollow Horn home.
killed.
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that the boys be returned to her
immediately.

Instead, the grandmother drove
down the street to tribal council
headquarters.

Chasing Hawk said she saw the car
and feared that Hollow Horn had

Meaawhile, Chasing Hawk and her
childrea share a modern three-
bedroom
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Drug arrests leave

jury
possessing

nuun.um.unu.
ttlll.m euvlanoc

Pescmah, Misa.

Darreil Geshick and Margo Loud

live with their four children ia 8 25
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{56 nortbeast

family out of home,
out of work, out of luck
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to anybody? Do I just come in here
and get hung?' ”

Through letters and calls to her
sister ia Aadover, Mian., she
contacted Andrew Dawkias, a St
Paul stiorney.

“After 1 had bosa sentenced 0 six
Mhh'll‘lhnl”ld s-id.
“.... Everybody eiss just took
their seatence and thet was it. Evea
Darrell, he dida’t want me o do it

N
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dependency. She did not
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Minneapolis Star and Tribune, January 5, 1986

Tribal court workers get

little or no training, no
job security

Eagle Butss, S.D.
Carmelita Eagle Chasing woat 10 oy e s trala
the tribal court oa the Cheyonne tridbal courts ia 1976 and found thet
n¢:;:1::::=:=::“‘;‘r=:r‘ 0 percent of those respondiag —
two positions, tribal prosecetor sad 4 courts — had judges with 2
secretary, boping to lead the secre-
tartal job. “A lot of Gue precess rights (are
She was hired ¢-. the proseculor. :::!:::::2:::!::{:::;.
Desplte 8 lack of legal tralaing 884 etumie of the Cheyonns River
.m'mnu-u M.mmm
M“Mﬁhwm
But her stint as & prosscutor dida’t T e s e

replaced. “just 8 circus.”
Eagle Chasing is like many others as been court admisistrs-
TNt o inll egaens
and o professionalise its op-
aa reservations. They had little erations. her efforts, the
their jobs long sacugh 0 become among the Indias courts struggling
competent. with untrained and inexperienced
A 1878 study by an ndien judgnt workers.
Judgs True Viaceat Clowa Sr., for
ik e e sned e e
trides bave no fixed quaiifications,
and choose judges based simply
upon political contacts or pepulari-

o\
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coagressional ia- m": Mm-.“o“" mem-
hearings into this.” .,..,.,'"h" 'm““:
et whoisa
and other court workers at many made a plea for her
reservations makes it 80C0s- cutor ”‘“-u,
skilled.
m"fm“ said she
Thirty percent of the courts re- had worked as a court clerk, a jail-
Tiny percea sur- um.mlmn,": whes Spot-
sondin ll:”‘ who had beea C ot
chief than & year. b
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Though powers often
unclear, number of tribal

courts grows

On a June night in 1964, Phillip
Brown was ridiag his bicycie oa the
Salt River Pima-Maricopa Indiaa
Reservation in Arizsoaa.

nation — that govern themselves
within limits set by Congress.

On reservations without Indian
courts, state and county police and

170

courts handle criminal and civil
disputes. But many tribes have
been unhappy with that arrange-
ment.

The result has been an increase in
the number of tribes with their
own courts. In 1976, there were 98
tribes with Indian courts, including
one at the Red Lake Reservation in
Minnesota. Today, there are anoth-
er 49, including an additional Indi-
an court in Minnesota, on the Nett
Lake Reservation.

Twenty reservation courts are ad-
ministered by the federal govern-
ment and are called Courts of Indi-
ans Offenses. They are staffed
mostly by tribal members.

There is little practical difference
between Courts of Indian Offenses
and the other Indian courts, except
workers with Courts of Indian Of-
fenses are federal employees and
the other courts’ personnel are em-
ployed by tribes.

Both types of Indian courts receive
funding from the federal govern-
ment, last year at a cost of aimost
$8.3 million.

But as the number of tribes with
their own courts grows, so does con-
fusion over the legal powers of trib-
al courts.

/70
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When a crime is committed on a
reservation, for example, three dif-
ferent courts — each applying dif-
ferent laws — potentially bave au-
thority over the case. Determining
which court is the proper body in-
volves several factors, including the
race of the person charged, race of
tl:vedvlcﬂm and type of crime in-

v X

If it is a major crime — such as
murder or rape — the case is heard
in federal court. And crimes com-
mitted by noa-Indians are prosecut-
ed in federal or state courts.

Indian courts are limited to lesser
crimes and tribal judges cannot im-
pose a fine of more than $500 or a
jail term longer than six months,
although they can convict a defen-
dant of muitiple charges for a single
incident and add up the penaities.

Tribal and federal courts some-
times can hear the same case.
When that happens, an Indian can
be legally punished twice for the
same incident.

Figuring out an Indian court’s pow-
er in civil cases also can be compli-
cated, especially in cases in which
tribes assert authority over non-In-
dians. And there are important
questions still up in the air regard-
ing tribal court powers — all of
which make law enforcement on
reservations a difficuit task.

For instance, can a tribal court
force an Indian who is not a mem-
ber of the court's tribe to stand trial
in a criminal case? That is the issue
in the case of Duro, who was indict-
ed by a federal grand jury for kill-
ing Phillip Brown. Duro was ac-
cused of firing a rifie during an
argument with another man and hit-
ting the boy, who happened to be
bicycling nearby.

] 7/

But the indictment was later dis-
missed, according to Assistant U.S.
Attorney Roger Dokken, after it was
learned that at ieast one witness
had lied to the grand jury.

The murder case is still open and
new indictments are possible, said
Dokken.

The dismissal prompted tribal offi-
cials on the Salt River Reservation
to bring Duro to trial in their court.

“I felt an obligation to the parenis
of the boy that a judicial system
work,” said Faithe Seota, the tribe’s
prosecutor.

Since tribal courts have oo author-
ity over major crimes such as mur-
der, Seota decided to charge Duro
with unlawful discharge of a fire-
arm, a crime the Indian court has
power to decide.

In triba! court, Duro’s lawyers ar-
gued the Indian court had no au-
thority to try him because Duro, a
Mission Indian, was not a member
of the Salit River tribe. The tribal
judge disagreed, 0 Duro’s lawyers
went to a federal judge and made
the same argument.

The federal judge ordered Duro
freed, ruling the tribal court lacked
legal power to force Duro to stand
trial. That decision bas been ap-
pealed to the Ninth Circuit Court of
Appeals, which is expected to make
its decision soon.

171



172

Exhibit No. 4 (coat.)

Minneapolis Star and Tribune, January 5, 1986

-

Well-run courts have troubles, too

The tribel and juvenile courts on the San Carfoe Apeche
WhM“MW‘mm
“meansged by diligent, dediceted staffs,” consultants
hired by the Mh. 1983 report.

Yot the consultants found problems thet liusirate the

needs of the indian court system. Some two
doasn clted by the American indian Lawyer
Training Program

lmmsm“mmmudmpm
entangied’’ and his office should be investigated 0
ummmwmwmmnnnm
maintained. (At the time the report was issued, Brazie
Goseyun was both a prosecutor and a member of the
governing tribal councl.)

8 The tribe’s criminal and civil code, which includes laws of
the reservation and court procedures, is outdated and needs
%0 redrafted.

1 The tribe has no public defender system and should
eatabiish one.

5 The tribe’s law brary lacks basic materials.
18 Court records are poorly organized and inadequately

5 The courts have no formal writien schedule providing the
publiic with notice of court proceedings.

18 Court workers need more training.

18 There is *‘much misinformation and friction’’ between the
courts, police and prosecutor’s office.

S, nmmunmamm
nsncumm ‘appeer 10 be effectively ocperated
court systems.”’

JT2
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INDIAN COURTS

ISLANDS OF INJUSTICE

Tribal politicians
often meddie in

courts

Seocnd of & series.

/73

¢il raa for office, tryiag to wia sests

on the council that had overruled
the court. LeBeau and three others
woa primery elections.

The Buresu of Indiaa Affairs (BIA)
said thet the (ribe’s action viclated
s constitution, but the BIA's find-
iag bad no effect.

For four years LeDeau and other
Indiaas ot the Cheyenne River Res-
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“Complaiats of political interfer- overtura decisions and award jobs
eace abound. Thers have besa re- to relatives.
peated instances of tribal leaders
puttiag pressure upoa an Indian Garresu blames a tridbal coastitu-
court judge to rule s certaia way, ton that was patterned after docu-
under aa implied threat thet the ments designed by the BIA: “That
judgs must comply or lose his/ber document that has been given to us
job. Impeachments and recalls of was specifically designed to tear us
judges are froquest.” apart.”
The rapid turnover thwarts at- Criminal court judges oa the reser-
tompts to improve Indian courts. vation have resigned or been fired
Those tryiag to traia judges and ot the rate of about one every four
other court personael admit that moaths in recent years.
much of their work is uadons whea
judges are fired for tryiag to follow Before he was fired last fall, for-
judicial rules. mer Judge True Viacent Clown Sr
said politics should bave no place in
“As loag 88 you have a judicial resesrvation courts. But he also said
system that is subject to the whims be plans to run for tribal council in
of whoever is in office, thea you the aext election. The day after he
have a0 guarantecs that training sald he would be a candidate,
will cure a problem that Centers Clowa presided over a dispute
arouad beiag fired for unpopuler about fllling & vacant seat in the
decisions,” said Lawreace Ducs, & district where he would run.
Pawaee Iadian and imn\'ediate past
presidest of the Americas Indian The details of Joan LeBeau's case
Bar Association. show how difficult it can be to sepe-
rate politics from the Cheyennc
The Cheyenne River Reservation River courts.
Ulustrates what happens when poli-
ticians twist courts to serve their LeBeau, a softspoken woman with
owa purposes. ::r said
reform in 1981 when she .
-:‘:gmwsm ’uomh:::” w. to aric
, 8 the Cheyenae River Ressrvation.
the tribe who beiped fouad a com- R
nlooehlmtochuq_mul‘ The reservation, 1.4 mtilion acres
ment oa the regervatios. of South Dakota's butte country
judges are coatrolied by the coun- west of the Missouri River, is divid-
cil, the elected officials. Every- ed into six tridbal council districts.
body's doiag a favor for each other. Indians in issiated villages must
They've forgotien the maia purpose drive as far as 100 miles round-trip
they are there for, which is for law to attead district meetings. Many,
and order.” iacluding LeBeau, think that’s too
far. S0 a majority voted to create 13
The tribe’s chief judge, Melvin Gar- election districts in 108).
reay, has beld office for four years
since he replaced the judge who Facing elections, tribal council

was fired ia the election dispute. He members refused to redistrict the
acknowiedges that politicians reech reservation.

inlo the reservation’s court system

0 fire judges for their decisions,
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S.D. case shows how
tribal leaders can

Minneapolis Star and Tribume, January 6, 1986
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Tribal Chairmea which at

aseded for me to preseat is
accomptish the tasks of this

office . . ." he told the tribal councll
ia his lotier. Measwhtle, the
lavestigation iato the arrest of the
chairmena's soa contiaved.

il
iilt
1 %3

ilg“‘ §
{

:
:
14
I}

3
?
i
{
k

|

oaid
operations of the tridbe’s
criminal justice system and said
things haven't improved. “It's
kind of & farce, really,” she said.

David Roberts, the police officer
who arrested the soa, left the police
department in 1084. He works for

the reservetion's ssaitary landfill

Pormer Judgs Wakter Woods, who
signed documents ordering the
arvest of the police chlef and
chairmean as well a8 the dlsmissal of

Eat

/ 8/
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Minneapolis Star and Tribune, January 7, 1986

INDIAN COURTS
ISLANDS OF INJUSTICE

U.S. reluctant to

curb tribal court
abuses Crrre

penses asnually for tribal govern-
Last of & series. ents.
Yet civil rights abuses are occur-
By Sharea Schmickie virtually unchecked ca maay
3‘«‘6"’....."‘" %m&mmu
dhlulﬂlhlﬂﬁlﬂ&n::rﬂl
live on those reservations could
Indians on reservations have almost themseives ia courts without
are abused by tribal officials and and decisions ustaiated by politics.
federal governmeat,
Foderal judges refuse to hear most e ovends more thaa $4 miltica
of these cases. a year to finaace courts for about
150 reservations, doiag somethiag
The answer lies partly ia the loag
U.S. Justice Department lawyers white exploitation
routinely reply that their hands are . of Indians. Nua::;um
tied. officials are rejuctast
And the Buress of Indien Affairs to demand changes ia the way
(B0 b bose ettectivs pocrs. o cpem S S
Congress Indians most of the
ministrator. .1:¢E;$¢(mq:2=“
the 1968 Indian Rights
The BIA lacks procedures dor loves 10 yeurs iner the US. Supreme
‘“’Mn m”“““""“"| gty Court sharply limited the impact
sometimes looks the other way this legisiation.
when abuses are occurring.
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In its decision — Sants Clara Pueb-
1o vs. Julia Martinez, written by
Justice Thurgood Marshall — the
court ruled Indians usuaily cann
sssert those rights ia federal court

Julia Martinez had turned to feder
&l courss in 1975 when ber tribe, the
Santa Clara Pueblo ia New
Mbm"‘“m"wl ool
marriags with 3 mea 200-MON
tribe. Mea who married 9dren
bers were allowed to briag ck

into the tribe, but aot women. Ka-
rolimest ia 8 tribe entities an Ings-
an to basic citisenship, incleding the
right to vote in tribal elections.

After the tribe refused to change s
Mp“"-wd.u
the tribe violated her civil rights by
not giving equal treatment o all
members.

to reservation courts is that Indiea
courts are ofiea the source of the
abuses.

mmﬁ“‘""“”m""
his dissent in the Martines

that enforcement of Indiaas’ civil
tribel antherities alleged 10 have
violated them.”

“It’s uafortusate that Justice Mer-
shall can't come out here 10 see the

1a the tribe. They can fess the con-
:'.'_""“..M.“M
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ment lawyer, “becauss the Indian

community ralsed sech an uprsar” SN el
civil precedure ia an sttempt to

The BIA has aot issued aew guide- briag the court into compliance

lines. “We are still laboring, trylng with the Iadina Civil Rights Act.

to define what that role is. ... All I

can tell you is there isn’t anybody The was completed

else out there who's got (he answer, in 1976 but was rejected by the

Until a recent change in leadership, Siace thea the couacil has asbed its
key officials ia the BIA were saying lawys = t0 undertake ansther revi-
there were ao probiems wih Indiaa slos, . 2 cont of $230,000.

civil rights on reservations.

Aa Iaterior Department lawyer ia
1f probiems existed, violations the Twia Cities learaed of Red
would come to the BIA's atteation Lake’s no-attorasy pelicy more thes
“through one way or the other,” two years ago and waraed the BA
Shapard sald in November ot 8 not (0 recogaias the policy. Despite
meeting attended dy the agency’s the fact thet the BIA techaically
then acting director of Indiaa ser- ruas the court, it bas besa uasbie to
vices. reverse the ao-lawyer pelicy.

But when Ross Swimmer took over Last May, US. Sea. Rudy Deschwits
in December as the BIA's chief and Rep. Ariea Stangeland, beth
admiaistrator, be told Misaesota Republicens, asked the
Star and Tribune reporters that be U.S. Comptroller Geaeral for “sa
is concerned enough about prod- investigation and sudit of the Red
lems in Indiaa courts to make the Lake court systom and low eaforce-
issue a priority in his admiaistra- ment program. Of particuler con-
tioa. cern is the aliogation made by ae-
merous tribel members that the
‘“The BIA has a0t been very in- manaer of operatioa ia meay ways
volved that | can see in moviag the viclate their civil rights.” .
justice system oa the reservations,
and it might be that we lack the Accordiag (0 a Boschwits aide, the
talent . . . ,” Swimmer sald. “I doa't respoase 10 the request was thet
Mm“”l’:d “mnlﬂn:ltm
things were brought to the attentioa ticas — particularty in South Dake-
of the buresu.” ta — that federal officials havea't
head time to get to Red Lake.
The BIA has kaown for more thaa &
decade about abuses ia a ceurt it Also last May, Red Lake’s lawyer
runs on Minnesota'’s Red Lake Res- baa, ia part, prompted & US. Dis-
ervasios o mem restoed from the resarve.
two mea reserve-
In 1977 the Justice Department tioa's jall. After that ruliag, BIA
sued the Red Lake tribe for civil officials said the tribe’s pelicy e
rights violations, includiag s bas oa lawyers had changed 1o permit of-
:emwammu:u toraeys te practice there.
Supreme Court had erased iis an- Dut lawyers who have tried o rep-
thority to pursue the case. reseat Red Lake clients contiane o
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Federal policy shifts over 100
years are blamed for court chaos

indien justice has undergone major changes in the
10010..:%%«&!:‘.&%
the U.8. government impoeed on tribes 8 o]

I 1883/Reservation courts were established by the Buresu
of indian Affairs, dieplacing traditiona! indian methods of
dispensing justice.

[ ] 1.8/mmhd|rdmm”w
crimes on reservations.

[ | 1m/mmmwm.pn
reservations by

@ 1896/ The U.8. Supreme Court nied the U.S. Constitution
does not apply 10 inckan tribes.

@ 1934/Congress reversed keslf and 100k steps — in the
Indian foward reservations.

B 1963 /Congress agein reversed itesif and took steps
toward integrating indians into the larger society under a
conoept called termination. Public Law 260 gave five states
authority over court functions on reservations and gave other
states an option to assume such authority.

um/c«wwummmw offering
reservation indiane mamwhuuam
But there was no substantial increase in funding for indian
tribes 10 implement the act or defend themesives in appeals
that began 1o be Med in federal courts.

@ 1978/Congress agein reversed itesif and 100k steps
towerd

required, however, toeouﬂymmhw including civi
rights reguistions.

@ 1978/ The U.S. Supreme Court decided that the indian Civil
Rights Act did not give individual indiane the right 10 appeal civil
rights violations to federal courts except when they had been
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ideas to improve tribal justice

mmmm.muumu
there along oxperts offering an aseortment
dm&bmm“hondm'o
reservations. Here's a sampiing of the mejor proposaels:

B Abolieh tribel courts/ Samusl Brakel, who wrote a report
on tribal courts for the American Bar Foundation, favors
mmmmmmmmm
o handie criminal and civil cases arieing from reservations.

@ Review by federal courts/Ross Swimmer, assistant

@ Separation of powers/Swimmer and the commission aleo

propose separating the powers of tribal courts and tribal
counclls.

8 indian Supreme Court/Larry Bace, immediate past
of the American indien Bar Aseociation, and Tom
90, Chief justice of the Navajo nation, have a
nationwide indian Supreme Court, removed the pressures
of local reservation politics, 0 review tribal court decisions.

IMVMM,M/Wum
director of the National indian Justice , s calling for the
federal government and tribes 10 make stronger commitments
10 indian courts, including increasing court budgets, expanding
judges’ training and giving the system more time to develop.

1 Expend juriediction to non-indians/Kevin Gover, 8
lawyer who represents tribes, and Robert Laurence, a
mammwm.mmm

allowing for review of indian court decisions by federal courts.

I Federal magistrates on reservations/U.S. Sen. John
Meicher, D-Mont., is sponeoring a bill that would set up federal

mmamm«.-mmm
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Minneapolis Star and Tribune, Januarv 7, 1986

BIA’s new administrator
says his agency wants

better courts

Courts on American Indian
reservations are inadequate, and
improving them wiil be a priority
for the Bureau of Indian Affairs
(BIA), according to the agency’s
new chief administrator.

“We definitely will be developing
strategies and will be working with
the tribal chairmen to see what we
can do” to strengthen Indian courts,
said Ross Swimmer, who was
coafirmed in December by the U.S.
Senate as assistant interior
secretary for Indian affairs.

Swimmer's criticism of Indian
courts goes beyond the views of
other key BIA officials. In
November, two weeks before
Swimmer took over, BIA officials
sald there were no major problems
with civil rights in Indian courts.

Swimmer said last month that the
problems are 30 serious Congress
should enabie federal courts to
review Indian court decisions to

. better protect people’s civil and

_ property rights.

But as a politcial matter, Swimmer
said, he won't propose such
legisiation unless “the tribes are
willing to get together and back it.”

" “It bas to be a tribal initiative,” he
said. “[ think for me to try to
propose that would cause

" any kind of review of tribal courts, 1
wouldn't get anywhere uniess the
tribes are going to support it.”

Under current law, the only appeals
from tribal court a federal judge
can decide are claims that Indians
have been jailed unfairly.

Tribal leaders have given mixed
reviews to the changes Swimmer
advocates.

Swimmer, a lawyer and president
of a bank in Tahlequah, Okla., was
co-chairman of the Presidential
Commission on Indian Reservation
Economies, whose report last year
criticized Indian courts and
advocated more review by federal
courts.

Commission members, who held
hearings on reservations, found
tribal courts suffering from a lack
of training, interference by tribal
leaders and violations of the rights
of those who appear in the courts.

“Drawing a picture of it, we found
in cases that they needed to have a
stronger judiciary, needed to have
it separated from the
administration, needed more
qualified judges, needed more
training.” said Swimmer, who was
principal chief of the Cherckee
Nation of Okiahoma until taking
over as head of the BIA.

Concerning civil rights violations by
tribal courts, he said: "I don't know
how widespread it is, but I think it
is common enough that we need to
encourage tribes to deal with it and
try to get a stronger judiciary.”
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Some tribal leaders, fearing erosion
of tribal sovereignty, balk at that

limit a tribe’s political
, noting that states
i ot ok con b opei
court cases can be appealed to
federal judges.

*“I don’t think that has caused a
great loss of state power,” he said.
“I don't think it will to the tribes if
they have certain cases that are
subject to review.”

Inadequate tribal courts also hurt
reservation economies, Swimmer
said, because businesses refuse to
£0 on reservations, fearing unfair
treatment iu tribal courts.

Business people complain there’s

too much interference dy tribal
council members in tribal courts,
he said, and “they felt that they
could not be assured of a fair
hearing because the court seemed
politicized.”

Tribes must “make sure people do
get a fair hearing, especially in
those instances were non-Indians
are coming on to the reservation
and hiring Indian people,” he said.

It's in a tribe’s best interest to have
better courts, Swimmer said. Tribes
that don’t “are going to fall behind
in terms of economic deve

1 doa't think there will be jobs
coming oa the regervation. So
there's plenty of incentive for tribes
to improve.”

Swimmer has not developed
to improve tribal

specific proposals
courts. “It's t00 #5rly ia the
administraticn. I've beea inuadated

with problems that are certaialy a0
ummn"uu

But, he said, “the court systems and
the total economic develepment
area are goiag 1o be priority

1o addition 10 supporting legisiation
allowing federal court review, the
effective courts to assist tribes with

struggliag courts.
“Other than that it's just kind of

Instead, be said, “We have to
continue working with trides to
bring an enlightened judiciary to
their reservations.”

Vay/A
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Minneapolis Star and Tribune, January 7, 1986

Most leaders say they

want tokeep
separate legal system
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1970-71, said tribal leaders wse In-
dien sovereignty as a defease.
Those same leaders, he said, mud-
dy the soversigaty lssue by de-
maading massive finaacial assis-
tance from state and federal gov-
ernments.

“There is a misbetief and a serious

are not. Most tribes are run by the
federal government. Lingering no-
tions of sovereigaty are largely
myths ...,"” Cook said.

Another poiat made frequeatly by
defendery of the system is that
tribes haven't been given a real
chance (o correct the flaws ia their
courts. Even though maay tribal
courts are a ceatury old, it's oaly
within the past decade that tribes
have been able to make meoaing
ful steps toward court reforms.

They aiso say the federal govern-
ment has been inconsistent in its
policy toward Indians, keeping
tribes confused about their stand-
ing with respect to self-government

Myers scknowiedges that there are
serious flaws in Indian courts. But
there have been recent improve-
meants, be seid, and with more time
and moaey, Indians caa overcome
these problems. “This is a bullding
process,” Myers sald. “And we're
not near enough to compietion, in
my estimation.”

But the amount of time Indians
should wait troudies Baca and oth-
ers.

“It’s difficult to look at anyoae be-

“If tribes do not start granting peo-
pie the rights granted under the
Indian Civil Rights Act, we think
the problems are serious encugh
that Congress Is going to go back at
it,” Baca said.
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Paper gets OK to syée court
files, but Red Lake officials
withhold them

The case of the disappearing rec-
By Daa Oberderfer ords exempiifies problems the BIA
Staft Writer lumw'medln its unique rela-
Four moaths ago, the Red Lak¢ w“m.mw;nomm The
Indian tribe seized the records of Mmmm’,mm,m
acly Seearvation court casee after including Red Lake, and gives
agreed to allow the Minneapolis money to about 130 others. The
Star and Tribuse 10 se¢ them. judges, however, are chosen by In-

dian tribes and can have fierce
Although the court is run aad paid loyalty to them, Sometimes the in-
for by the federal terests of the tribes and the feder-
federal officials aad others have al government conflict and the
beea access since Au- judges issue orders that clash with
gust to the files of about 2,000 Red the principles of government es-
Lake cases, some of which govera- poused by the BIA.
ment lawyers say are needed o
defend three lawsuits. James Moore, an official at the

National Archives, wrote to the
The court files were removed Justice Department that the case

of the Red Lake court records “ap-

pears o represent a blatant at-
tempt to subvert pubdlic policy and

was chief judge of the Red Lake the laws of the United States.” He
court. Basing his order on a newly said the “removal of records . . .
pessed resolution of the tribal cannot be countenanced.” Moore
council, Sumner, a tribal member, became invoived with the case be-
claimed the files were tribal cause the court records are to be
erty. He made hls order after his turned over to the National Ar-
superiors at the BIA iaformed a chives after 20 years.
Star and Tribuae reporter she
could review the files. The dispute last August
when Star and reporier
Governmest officials have ac- Sharon Schmickie asked to see the
cused Sumner of iassbordiastion court records. After initially being
for the records removed. refused access, Schmickie filed a
Federal officials have said they Freedom of Information Act re-
are consideriag criminel charges quest. Two weeks later, when the
ia the case. Assistant U S. Attorasy records were aot turned over, the
Lysn Zeataer said the goverament newspaper filed suit in U.S. Dis-
will sue the tribe (o gt the records trict Court ia Minneapolis.
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il MW ' UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
¢ DISTRICT OF MINNFSOTA
u.t . SIXTH DIVISION

e PR I
fBward Dean Cook, Gregory Good,
and Douglas Neadeau,

Plaintiffs,
v.

Robert C. Moran, in his official
capacity as Chief Law Enforcement
Officer of the Red Lake Law
Enforcement Services and

custodian of all incarcerated
persons in Red Lake Jail, Donald
Hodel, Secretary of the Interior,

and Bruce Graves, Chief Magistrate
of Red Lake Court of Indian Offenses,

Defendants,

Civil Pile No. 6-85-1513

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

Richard Meshbesher, Esq., Meshbesher, Meshhesher ¢
Baver, 4601 Excelsior Boulevard, Suite 411, Minncapolis,
minnesota 55416, appeared on behalf of plaintiffs Fdward
Dean Cook, Gregory Good, and Douglas Neadeau.

Lynn A. Zentner, Esq., Assistant United States Attorney,
234 United States Courthouse, 110 South Fourth Street,
Minneapolis, Minnesota 55401, appeared on behalf of
defendants Robert C. Moran, Donald Rodel, and Nruce
Graves.

B R R L L T R L R e e L T T

The matter before the court is the Motion to NDismiss

of

defendants Donald Hodel, Secretary of the Interior, Rruce Graves,

Chief Magistrate of the Red Lake Court of Indiasn Offenses, and

Robert

c.

Moran,

Chief Law Enforcemcnt Officer of the Red lLuke

bed D146 _
A f Nt U
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Lav Enforcement Services. 1In crder to address adequately this
motL - v, an understanding of the procedural backqround of this
case is necessary.

2 September 11, 1985, plaintiffs Fdward Desn Cook, Gregory
Good, and Douglas Neadeau filed their Original} Complaint alleging
that this case arose under the Indian Civil Rights Act (the Act),
25 U.S.C. §§ 1301-1312. 1In their Complaint, plaintiffs stated
that they were residents of the Red Lake Indian Reservation and
were within the jurisdiction of the Red Lake Court of Indian
Offenses which has co-victed and sentenced each of thea in
derogation of their rights under the Act. Plaint1ffs also stated
that § 1311 of the Act directed the Secretary of the Interior to
recommend to Congress, on or before July 1, 1968, a model code to
govern the administration of justice by courts of Indian offenses
on Indian reservations, but the Secretary of the Interior has yet
to recomrend this model code. Plaintiffs alleged ‘that the
failure of the Secretary of the Interior to recommend the model
code 8enied them rights guaranteed under the Act. Plaintiffs
souaht relief in the nature of an injunction enjoining the
Secretary ¢f the Interior from providing funds for the operation
snd administration of the Red Lake Court of Indian Offenses,
enjoining the Chief Magistrate and other officials and employees
of the Red Lake Court of Indian Offenses from acting on any civil
or criminal matter within the jurisdiction of that court, and

enjoining the Secretary of the Interior from entering into any
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contract with the Red@ Lake Band of Chippewa Indians for the
establishment of a Tribal Court for the Red Lake Indian Reserva-
tion.

@ On November 8, 1983, defendanta Donald Rodel, Bruce CGraves,
and Robert C. Moran filed their Answer and Motion to Dismiss.
pefendants contended that plaintiffs failed to state a claim upon
which relief could be granted under the Act because the Act
provided only one express remedy -- habeas corpus. Defendants
further cortended that plaintiffs.had no implied riqht of action
for declaratory or injunctive relief under the Act even if tribal
officials proved deficient in enforcing the substantive
provisions of the Act. Defendants concluded that the failure of
the Secretary of the Interior to recommend a model code was not
sctionable under the Act. A hearing of this motion was postponed
pending the disposition of plaintiffs’' Motion to Amend Complaint
vhich was granted on December 18, 1985,

Plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint, which was filed on Decem-
ber 20, 1985, alleges that this case arises under the Fifeh
Amendment of the United States Constitution. Plaintiffs again
state that they are residents of the Red Lake Indian Reservation
and are within the jurisdiction of the Red lLake Court of Indian
Offenses which convicted and sentenced them in deroqation of
their rights under the Act. Plaintiffs allege that the denial of
their rights under the Act is the direct result of the failure of
the & cretary of the Interior to recommend to the Congress o

model code to govern the administration of justice pv courts of
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Indian offenses on Indian reservations pursuant to § 1311 of the
Act. Plaintiffs allege that this failure of the Recretary ol the
Interior violates their Pifth Amendment right to due process of
lav. Plaintiffs, as in the Original Complaint, seek injunctive
relief in the nature of enjoining the Secretary of the Interior
from providing funds for the operation and administration of the
Red Lake Court of Indian Offenses, enjoining the Chief Magistrate
and other officials and employees of th